FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Miami, Florida

BUSINESS PROCESS PERFORMANCE: BREAKING SILOS THROUGH STRATEGIC ORGANIZATIONAL CONVERSATION

A dissertation submitted in fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

by

Hope Euginia Greene

To: Dean William G. Hardin College of Business

This dissertation, written by Hope Euginia Greene, and entitled Business Process Performance: Breaking Silos through Strategic Organizational Conversation, having been approved in respect to style and intellectual content, is referred to you for judgment.

We have read this dissertation and recommend that it be approved.

Alfred Castillo

Mido Chang

Amin Shoja

Manjul Gupta, Major Professor

Date of Defense: June 28, 2024

The dissertation of Hope Euginia Greene is approved.

Dean William G. Hardin College of Business

Andrés G. Gil Senior Vice President for Research and Economic Development and Dean of the University Graduate School

Florida International University, 2024

© Copyright 2024 by Hope Euginia Greene

All rights reserved.

DEDICATION

This is for my two beautiful premature kids who have grown into adults, Kir-kia D. A. Davila (Love) and Brexton T. Belus (Brave) as well as my grandchildren Malachi McKale Lewis and Senai Hope Lewis. You are evidence that a teen parent could survive and thrive. Thank you for the love, support, and motivation your presence and voices provide. EVERYTHING I do and have done... was with you in mind. Love isn't a strong enough word for how much you mean to me. To my mother Eliza A. Scott Greene (widow and the original teen mom of ten), I did not understand the decisions you made and how much a mother would give up for her children until I had my own but know your life is a lesson well taught and received. To my father Richard "Shug" Green, everyone knows I'll always be Lil Shug. I cannot express enough... that God is strategic in how he gave you and me time together for the first 5 years of my life and the last five years of yours. Daddy, I miss you with EVERY FIBER of my being. To my brothers Roscoe, Percy, and Alphonzo Greene, don't give up because even your mistakes in life are lessons learned for those who come after you. To my sisters Gloria Greene Calloway, Roveania J. Greene, and Kawai I. Greene, thanks for sharing with me when you could and becoming women for whom your children can depend. Although gone, you are not forgotten, Lula A. Greene (sister), you taught me to stand up and speak up. Richardeen Greene (Sister), you gave me laughter. James A. Greene (brother), what can I say... you taught me strategy. Y'all this was a herculean effort to take on and complete, but our family can say, "We got one!". And lastly, I dedicate this research to the Almighty God, thank you for protection, guidance, strength, power of mind, and for giving and sparing my life. All of this I offer to you.

iv

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To all my Florida International University professors, thanks for leading me through this process. I am proud to say that this is my third degree from FIU and every time was the charm. God bless you all!

BUSINESS PROCESS PERFORMANCE: BREAKING SILOS THROUGH STRATEGIC ORGANIZATIONAL CONVERSATION

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

by

Hope Euginia Greene

Florida International University, 2024

Miami, Florida

Professor Manjul Gupta, Major Professor

This study investigated the factors that impact business process performance and whether or to what extent constructs like organizational agility, process modularity, knowledge absorptive capacity, top management mindfulness, and internal controls effect process performance. Despite the considerable importance of a comprehensive and holistic approach to business process performance, little is known regarding the state of the research on alternative performance indicators and their operationalization with respect to evaluating the performance of an organization's work routines. This research collected survey data from a sample of 339 US workers at small, medium, and large US companies. Results from partial least squares structural equation modeling show that the organizational agility, process modularity, knowledge absorptive capacity, top management mindfulness, and internal controls had a positive relationship with business process performance. Our findings have implications and point to directions for further research in this area. Based on this research, organizations will understand the need to exercise a high degree of attentiveness when exploring resolves for the affecting factors when establishing their baseline business process design and performance

measures. The paper contributes to the growing empirical literature on business processes, business process performance, modularity, and internal controls.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| CHAPTER | PAGE |
|---|------|
| CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| Setting & Problem | 1 |
| Significance of the Problem | 3 |
| Research Gap | 7 |
| Research Question | 8 |
| Research Objectives | 8 |
| Research Contribution | 9 |
| CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORY | 10 |
| Business Process Orientation (BPO) Framework | 10 |
| Resource-based View Theory | 13 |
| Business Process Management | 15 |
| Business Continuity Theory | 17 |
| Internal Controls (IC) Framework | 18 |
| CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY | 25 |
| 3.1 Conceptual Model & Hypothesis | 25 |
| Figure 1: Conceptual Model & Hypothesis | 25 |
| Figure 1 The Conceptual Research Model | 25 |
| 3.1.1 Internal Controls (IC) | 26 |
| 3.1.2 Top Management Mindfulness (TMM) | 28 |
| 3.1.3 Organizational Agility (OA) | 30 |
| 3.1.4 Business Process Modularity (MOD) | 32 |
| 3.1.5 Knowledge Absorptive Capacity (KAC) | 33 |
| 3.1.6 Construct's Definitions | 35 |
| 3.1.7 Controls | 37 |
| 3.2 RESEARCH DESIGN | 38 |
| 3.3 MEASUREMENTS OF VARIABLES & DATA COLLECTION | 39 |
| 3.3.1 (Dependent): Business Process Performance (BPP) | 41 |
| 3.3.2 (Independent): Internal Controls (IC) | 41 |
| 3.3.3 (Independent): Modularity (MOD) | 43 |
| 3.3.4 (Independents): Knowledge Absorptive Capacity (KAC), Organizational Agility (OA), & Top Management Mindfulness (TMM) | 44 |
| Company age, Function/Department, Function/Department Tenure & Employee Level | 45 |
| 3.4 INFORMED PILOT: PHASE I | 46 |

| 3.5 FIELD STUDY PILOT: PHASE II | 49 |
|--|-----|
| 3.5.1 Pilot Demographics | 50 |
| 3.5.2 Pilot Results | 53 |
| CHAPTER 4: MAIN STUDY ANALYSIS & RESULTS: PHASE III | 56 |
| 4.1 Demographics Overview | 57 |
| 4.1.1 Demographic Data Results | 62 |
| 4.2 Data Robustness | 66 |
| 4.2.1 Construct Reliability | 66 |
| 4.2.2 Discriminant Validity | 68 |
| 4.2.3 Collinearity - Variance Inflation Factor | 70 |
| Figure 2: Structural Equation Model | 72 |
| 4.3 Hypothesis Testing | 72 |
| 4.3.1 Total Effects - Confidence Interval, STDEV, T values, p values | 72 |
| 4.4 Main Study Explanatory Power & Effect Size | 75 |
| 4.4.1 R2, f2, & Path Coefficients | 75 |
| 4.5 Main Study Predictive Power | 77 |
| 4.5.1 Q2, RMSE, & MAE | 77 |
| CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION, IMPLICATIONS, & CONCLUSION | 80 |
| 5.1 Profile and Characteristics of Respondents | 80 |
| 5.2 Discussion | 82 |
| 5.3 Implications | 92 |
| 5.3.1 Theoretical | 92 |
| 5.3.2 Practical | 96 |
| 5.4 Limitations & Future Considerations | 100 |
| 5.5 Conclusion | 101 |
| REFERENCES | 104 |
| APPENDICES | 147 |
| VITA | 165 |

| L | IS | ГΟ |)F ' | TA | BL | ES |
|---|----|----|------|----|----|----|
| | | | | | | |

| TABLES | PAGE |
|--|------|
| Table 1: Construct Definitions | 35 |
| Table 2: Control Variables Definitions | 38 |
| Table 3: Validation & Reliability Phases | 47 |
| Table 4: Sample Size Formula | 51 |
| Table 5: Pilot Descriptive Statistics & Reliability | 55 |
| Table 6: Main Study Demographics | 57 |
| Table 7: Main Study Descriptive Statistics & Reliability | 67 |
| Table 8: Main Study Discriminant Validity | 69 |
| Table 9: Main Study Collinearity | 71 |
| Table 10: Main Study Total Effects | 73 |
| Table 11: Main Study Summary of Hypothesis Testing | 74 |
| Table 12: Main Study R ² and f ² Results | 76 |
| Table 13: Main Study Predictive Power | 79 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| FIGURES | PAGE |
|-------------------------------------|------|
| Figure 1: The Conceptual Model | 25 |
| Figure 2: Structural Equation Model | 72 |

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Setting & Problem

The business processes of the Covid-19 period that occurred in early 2020 experienced a collapse (Widarti et al., 2020). As a consequence, business processes and its performance has reemerged as one of the most important topics since the Covid-19 disruption. Much of this disruption was due to process stalling and/or the inability of human resources to execute and manage processes under a mandate to be remote. Chan (2003) states that the success of a business process in a company is the employee who will carry out the business process (Widarti et al., 2020). Due to this fact, no matter the size, industry, or country, all businesses can fail when processes are disrupted for an extended amount of time hindering successful process performance.

Because of organizational processes freezing or not being accessible for execution, businesses began taking a strategic deep dive into the fundamental elements of business processes and potential framework that could support or increase process performance. Because of large interest in business processes, there is a great deal of variety concerning the definitions of processes and process redesign (Tinnila, M. (1995); Davenport, (1993); Davenport & Short, n.d.; Hammer & Champy, (2009); Johansson et al., (1993); Pall, (1987); Scherr, (1993). This interest can create an opportunity for stabilized processes and increased process performance if company principals have a process-oriented mindset. Process orientation is fundamental to the identification of core processes and looking at their end-to-end as well as cross-departmental functionality in a strategic manner. A process lifecycle is usually integrated to provide structure and as a strategic tool to support process identification, defining, designing and modularizing, and configuring of business processes. Leaders without a process-oriented mindset and those who do not implement process lifecycle responsibilities may see performance suffer as well as company goal achievement of effectiveness and efficiency of operations. The business process lifecycle activities roles and responsibilities support process orientation including the strategic initiative to define, design, configure, and deploy modularized processes to increase process performance. Process modularization is a form of organizational design that creates a high degree of independence or "loose coupling" among business processes (Sanchez and Mahoney 1996). If businesses desire continuity, business process lifecycle documentation of every phase is imperative to the attainment of consistent business process performance. Good and thorough process documentation is the basis for process performance measurement, analysis and improvement (Willaert et al., 2007).

Micro, small and medium enterprises were the sectors most vulnerable to the impact of the corona virus pandemic (Widarti et al., 2020). According to Hertati and Safkaur (2020) these sectors can no longer be a buffer for the economy like during the 1998 and 2008 economic and financial crises. Thus, all organizations had to sure-up their processes, innerworkings (internal controls), and address process performance for achievement of objectives in effectiveness and efficiency of operations prior to the next crises. To ensure that all stakeholders' interests are protected, various mechanisms are put in place by corporate executives one of which is the internal control system (Tetteh et al., 2022). Companies find it a responsibility to prepare, inform and sensitize their workers on how to use internal control mechanisms as their success relies on the expertise and efficiency of the individuals who use them (Abiodun, 2020). These human resources are the part of companies lifeline to stabilized processes and continuous performance during market disruptions, environmental uncertainty, pandemics, picketing, walk-outs, etc.

Disruption pushed company senior management to reassess the value and agility of its resources and two of the most important ingredients in their competitive advantage recipe, its workforce, and operational processes continuously performing. If either of these ingredients fails or disbands during disruption due to lack of agility, company performance (financial, organizational, operational processes, etc.) dissipates. An agile competitive environment is where the people skills, knowledge and experience are the main differentiators between companies (Goldman, 1995). Therefore, the skillset and flexibility of tangible and intangible resources can make the difference during difficult times. Before the next phenomenon, management will need to evaluate and consider knowledge acquisition and absorption. What human resources understand internally and externally and how they assimilate information is critical to process performance steadiness and analysis. According to Ferraris (2018) and Scuotto, Del Giudice, Bresciani, & Meissner (2017), organizations may need to invest in knowledge acquisition from sources internal or external to the firm to lead to an improvement in innovation performance and the way in which value is created and captured.

Significance of the Problem

In the world of environmental uncertainty, there are outer lying efforts (protests, pandemics, market crash, etc.) that interrupt operational processes and process performance throughout the US and beyond. So, it is inherent that business process performance is affected due to disruption (Alfaadhel et al., 2023). Business process performance is operational efficiency of inter- and intra- organizational processes which can measure the financial and non-financial flexibility, reliability, responsiveness, and costs/assets of organizational and operational capabilities (Aydiner et al. (2019); Kim, Gimun, Bongski Shin, and Varun Grover (2010); (Bernhard, Peter, Zoltan, & Maria-Luise (2006). When most operational processes either cannot be executed, nor managed, or have limited management leaving demand for the majority of services and goods unanswerable and unable to be provided, process performance deficiency is the result. Processes are at the center of today's and tomorrow's competition (Willaert et al., 2007). According to Porter (1985, 1966), business processes are the transformation processes that an organization uses to create value, and strategy rests on these unique and coordinated activities (Porter, 1985, 1996). They are a set of interrelated resources and activities which transform inputs into outputs with the objective of adding value (Melao & Pidd, 2000). Because there will always be a phenomena or crises to test an organization's agility and disrupt a business's communication channels and internal controls, value creating processes need to be identified and stabilized for better process performance and business continuity. Al-Matari, Al-Swidi, Faudziah and Al-Matari (2012) noted there was a noticeable lack of research into the direct integration of internal control systems and firm performance in both developed and developing countries.

In calm or chaos, when carrying out a good business process, reliable employees are needed so that the business processes can be carried out properly (Braz et al. (2011). According to Willaert et al. (2007), people are a company's most important asset and should be required to train and to think in terms of processes. The knowledge, experience, and skillset possessed and brought to work daily by resources who work in essential functions to keep daily operational processes continuous is immeasurable,

probably imperfectly imitable, and rare. Marr et al. (2003), defines: "Human Capital contains knowledge assets provided by employees in forms of skills, competence, commitment, motivation and loyalty as well as in form of advice or tips." The amount of agility and knowledge it takes for the workforce to manage organizational processes during turbulent times is insurmountable and vast. In preparation for future environmental disturbances that could disrupt process performance, organizations may need to consider alternative process workflows and accountable resources. Therefore, processes owned by various organizations or functional areas may need to be modularized to have the most operational effectiveness and efficiency. Process modularization is the extent to which the production process is separated into standardized modules that can be easily re-sequenced into new processes that fulfill the requirements of producing new product features (Feitzinger and Lee, 1997). This design technique can be crucial for organization survival during environmental uncertainty. A modular process can help a firm to increase flexibility through re-sequencing and postponement, and reduce costs through standardization (Feitzinger and Lee, 1997, Gualandris and Kalchschmidt, 2013; Van Hoek and Weken, 1998).

During turbulent times, process' operational efficiency and performance can be nil. According to (Kim et al., 2010), business process performance is the operational efficiency of inter- and intra- organizational processes. As witnessed in the last global disruption, executives in every industry became frantic looking for agile solutions to process management in the aftermath of disruption. Clearly, business process performance was not at top of mind. Mindful leaders and persons respond to changes in his/her environment and creates new or improved processes (Langer & Moldoveanu,

2000) to support operational efficiency. Good leaders understand and knows who (critical personnel) in the organization are essential and carries out business activities (i.e., accessing, reviewing, completing, or managing functional business processes); knows the essential processes that has to be completed by departments; and knows the critical, value-based processes automated and manual to be completed.

When there is a crises afront stemming from a local, national, or global disruption, many organizations lose access to processes (coordinated activities) and this means value cannot be added and operational strategy rests on these unique chains of events. These 'chains of events, activities and decisions' are called processes" (Dumas et al. (2013); Van Looy & Shafagatova (2016). Top management spearheads, discusses, and provides the leading business strategy and goals to be attained utilizing these coordinated activities that they cascade throughout the organization. Hence, organization leaders need to openly discuss, outline, and come to terms with worker activities, internal controls efforts, and agility, as well as internal and external knowledge sources so much so that they are able to establish and modularize chains of events whose performance may be diminished during disruption. Whether yesterday, tomorrow, or in this moment, leaders will need to realize that they need to holistically understand their inner workings and solidify internal control mechanisms in order to prepare before the next crisis. Internal controls can lend itself to manual executive supervision for small firms alone, but the more sophisticated the companies and the more personnel and procedures it has, the more features the system needs to provide that can allow management to ensure the internal controls are in place and operate as expected (Abiodun, 2020). The business' internal control system is an important mechanism for proper and responsible management in all

types of companies (Abiodun, 2020). Now more than ever, leaders need the ability to focus tightly on short-term issues while simultaneously envisioning their long-term strategy (*2023 AlixPartners Disruption Index* | *Growth Leaders*, n.d.). They need to develop a bi-focal mindset as it relates to disruption. A critical part of a bifocal (short-term vs long-term) capability is understanding what the major disruptive forces are, which will affect our company most, and what the effect on industry dynamics is likely to be in both the short and long run (*2023 AlixPartners Disruption Index* | *Growth Leaders*, n.d.)

Research Gap

While there has been reporting on business process performance measures, there is still a gap. Despite the considerable importance of a comprehensive and holistic approach to business process performance, little is known regarding the state of the research on alternative performance indicators and their operationalization with respect to evaluating the performance of an organization's work routines (Van Looy, Amy & Shafagatova, Aygun, 2016). This begins with the organization breaking the functional silos of daily operations by understanding human resource process involvement, roles, origination of processes, identifying, and defining all critical processes, and orientation and engineering of cross-functional operational processes so that process performance criteria can be established. Although the selection of appropriate performance indicators is challenging for practitioners due to the lack of best practices, it is also highly relevant for performance measurement (Van Looy, Amy & Shafagatova, Aygun, 2016).

From top management down to individual contributors, functional workshops must be conducted about the possible factors that could affect process performance at any time. Without management mindfully and intentionally supporting organizational and process restructuring, action will not take place. To begin the design of business processes, leaders must be mindful of the changing environment, internal control systems, absorptive capacity and organizational agility. Mindfulness plays a critical role in improving innovative performance through the recognition of organizational situations that demand an innovative response and the execution of the actual response (Swanson & Ramiller, 2004). Regardless of the recent attention from researchers, the links between mindfulness and performance have scarcely been studied (King & Haar, 2017). Even still today, organizations need to address the factors that may have hindered and/or is still hampering their business process performance prior to the next phenomena. This brings me to my research question.

Research Question

"What are the factors that affect business process performance for US enterprises during disruption?"

Research Objectives

This study aims to investigate how business process performance will be affected by internal controls, organizational agility, business process modularity, top management mindfulness, and knowledge absorptive capacity constructs respectively. Additionally, the paper's objectives are:

• To offer additional factors for organizations to consider when evaluating business process performance efficiency and effectiveness and their importance for continuous operations.

- To disclose how an internal controls framework can impact business process performance.
- To kickstart internal conversation between leaders and amongst departments and teams about the innerworkings of their functional areas, roles and responsibilities for process support, and important factors that may need to be addressed to maintain or increase business process performance.
- To initiate an understanding of organizational processes based on procedures, policies, laws etc. for strategic process initiatives for identification, design, and improvement.
- Determine resources who are a part of processes, their contribution, authority, and roles from strategy planning to execution and support.

This research paper is structured as follows with the research question, objectives and contributions completing this chapter. The next chapter has a discussion of theoretical frameworks and provides a review of literature to support the aforementioned constructs and their relationship to business process performance. In addition, chapter three of the study allows me to introduce the methodology, hypotheses, model, research design, informed pilot, and field study pilot. The final two chapter will house the main field study for this research followed immediately with discussion and implications, limitations, and conclusion. Lastly, the subsequent sections present references, and appendices and vita.

Research Contribution

It is my intent to offer practitioners and academics clear factors that affect business process performance based on literature and empirical evidence. It is my goal to provide organizational leaders, departments, and functional teams a way to discuss process stability, modularity, functional agility, internal control mechanisms, absorptive capacity, and preparedness for disruption as an opportunity to head off business process performance interruption. Ultimately, at the end of this study, my goal is to contribute a starting point for organizations to develop an effective business process lifecycle that includes strategic planning for process discovery, defining, and documentation that leads to establishing solid business process performance measures for their critical processes.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORY

Business Process Orientation (BPO) Framework

Processes are the core of organizations (Willaert et al., 2007). Business Process Management (BPM) argues organizations can gain competitive advantage by improving and innovating their processes through a holistic process-oriented view (Willaert et al., 2007). Business Process Orientation (BPO) of an organization is the level at which an organization pays attention to its relevant (core) processes (end-to-end view across the borders of departments, organizations, countries, etc.) (Willaert et al., 2007). Additionally, organizational focus on relevant processes end-to-end incorporates the design of process performance measures. The process-oriented view begins at the top of the company with management (chief executive officer, presidents, executive vice presidents, etc.) leading the way. It is the top management's responsibility to direct the organization towards process orientation (Willaert et al., 2007). Process-orientation examines internal organization processes as well as processes outside of organizational boundaries that support different external entities like regulatory bodies, partner organizations, suppliers, etc. Leaders must drive their workforce toward understanding

the business and who it serves to be able to adapt its internal processes to support downstream of the process. When process stakeholders understand expectations, they will seek process improvements in advance to help the business stay ahead of the competition. Business process orientation means supporting a cross-functional view of the organization; however, it can look within and beyond other departments. Through conversation and collaboration, senior management has an opportunity to expand the internal knowledge of the workforce by demonstrating how stakeholders can recognize the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply it to commercial ends (Cohen & Levinthal, 1990). Principals mindfully strengthening the absorptive capacity of the company so that everyone has a clear view and understanding of the companies objectives, priorities, and processes are important for process orientation, improvement, and management. Dialogue builds relationships amongst stakeholders and aids knowledge absorption and adaptation to organizational processes.

Through collaboration, top management can facilitate strategic initiatives for the implementation of a process-oriented structure that enforces process identification, process definitions, process design and measurement and when reevaluated, process improvements. It is critical that processes are well identified, defined and mapped in order to select and improve the right process (Willaert et al., 2007). The innovative process initiatives directed by leaders needs documentation for configuration, testing, posterity, lessons-learned, and analysis. According to Willaert et al. (2007), a process-oriented view requires the presence of sufficient process documentation and process modelling or visualization. Process documentation and visualizations can provide new knowledge and alternative views of complex processes, participant roles, key

performance indicators and people management. Process-oriented initiatives lead to aligned process performance measures and accountability for process outcome.

Process-oriented organizations break through vertical silos and departmental boundaries by integrating multidisciplinary or cross-functional horizontal matrixed teams with a process owner to oversee and take responsibility for process outcome and performance. The cross-functional teams could become a business process center of excellence or business process office who has the skills and knowledge to establish hierarchical structures, process architectures, set performance criteria, monitors process performance, addresses process performance issues, and manages process improvement initiatives. Process owners are responsible for processes whether it is a high-level parent process or subprocess of a high-level process. Processes needs to be continuously analyzed, measured, and managed by process managers for improvement. Key performance indicators (KPI) also known as metrics or measures must be defined and implemented to allow executives (process owners) to monitor processes. KPIs does not always align to processes because they are born out of the company's strategy and cascaded down vertically and horizontally only to be translated into department objectives for the KPIs they support. Process performance measurement can be a vital tool for strategy execution by signaling what is really important, providing ways to measure what is important, fixing accountability for behaviour and results, and helping to improve performance (Javadian (2020); (Willaert et al. 2007).

Process-oriented companies have a change supportive environment and buy-in from employees who are accountable for their roles, participates in workflows, and promotes and accepts performance improvements efforts. In a process-oriented

organization, people will be identified, evaluated and rewarded based on their competences in understanding and improving processes (Willaert et al., 2007). Process performance relies on the roles and responsibilities of 'human' resources owning and conducting process activities efficiently and effectively. Indicative measures for process performance effectiveness and efficiency cannot be established without leadership's clear understanding and formal/informal strategic discussions with resulting consensus on (1) company objectives; (2) the laws, policies, and procedures that processes stand on; (3) critical process identification and definitions; (4) intellectual capital (process owners and stakeholders knowledge); (5) scalability and agility of organizations; and (6) the orientation and modularization of processes. The formal conversations can be very lucrative professionally and relationally setting the scene to break the silos that organizations seem to work within.

Resource-based View Theory

Business process performance cannot be established nor measures created without company resources, human and organization capital. Company resources include all assets, capabilities, organizational processes, firm attributes, information, knowledge, etc. controlled by a company that enable the business to conceive of and implement strategies that improve its efficiency and effectiveness (Daft, 1983; Barney, 1991). The event of determining a strategy can be a process of informal or formal strategic planning. To the extent that these processes suggest valuable strategies for the company, processes can be thought of as company resources (Barney, J. 1991). Business processes and its performance is one of the best leadership tools and visual displays of organizational objectives and strategies at work and organizational resources of competitive advantage

as well as significant measures of internal efficiency and effectiveness. In the language of traditional strategic analysis, company resources are strengths that companies can use to conceive of and implement their strategies (Learned, Christensen, Andres, & Guth, 1969; Porter, 1981)

In order to implement streamlined processes using value-creating strategies, organizations must have the right human capital resources who have insights on policies, procedures, laws, etc. at the executive and manager level and include those individual contributors who execute those processes and implement strategic organizational objectives. Human capital resources include training, experience, judgment, intelligence, relationships, and insight of individual managers and workers in a firm. (Barney, 1991) Critical business process identification, definition, design, configuration, testing, deployment, execution, management, reporting and assessing of metrics on BP performance relies heavily on an organization's human resource knowledge. Establishing business processes and its performance indicators needs human resources' understanding of structure, strategic planning capability, and their ability to build, align, and strengthen relationships within the organization. For discovery and dialogue about processes and performance to ensue, there has to be collaboration between leaders and their teams. This is a top-down approach but BP performance strategy cannot survive without bottom-up support. Business processes and its performance measures will not have effective and efficient engineering and indicator formation without human and organizational capital resources. Organizational capital resources include a firm's formal reporting structure, its formal and informal planning, controlling, and coordinating systems, as well as informal

relations among groups within an organization and between an organization and those in its environment. (Barney, 1991)

Business Process Management

Equally important for measuring an organization's performance is business process management (BPM), which is about managing entire chains of events, activities and decisions that ultimately add value to the organization and its customers (Van Looy & Shafagatova, 2016). Business process management is dedicated to analyzing, designing, implementing, and continuously improving organizational processes (Brocke & Rosemann, 2015). For companies to establish true process measurement, they must increase their understanding of who they are and how they operate so a process management life cycle or process strategic initiative to determine processes has to commence. The company business process lifecycle is part of an important decisionmaking tool in most companies in the developed world (Price and Sun 2017).

BPM has evolved into a comprehensive management discipline focusing on organizational processes at the center of interest (Rosemann, Vom Brocke 2010). Research has shown that in order to successfully implement BPM in an organization it is necessary to incorporate capabilities like strategic alignment, methods, people, and culture (Brocke & Rosemann, 2015).

• Strategic Alignment: BPM needs to contribute to superordinate, strategic goals of the organization. Related capabilities include process improvement planning, strategy and process capability linkage, enterprise process architecture, process measures, process customers and stakeholders, the assessment of both processes

and process management initiatives according to their fit with the overall corporate strategy (Brocke & Rosemann, 2015).

- Methods: BPM needs to be supported by methods for process design, analysis, implementation, execution, and monitoring. Related capabilities include process design and modeling, process implementation and execution, process monitoring and control, process improvement and innovation, process program and project management, as well as adapting and combining them according to the specific requirements of the organization (Brocke & Rosemann, 2015).
- People: BPM needs to consider the employees' qualifications in the discipline of business process management as well as expertise with relevant business processes. Related capabilities include process skills & expertise, process management knowledge, process education, process collaboration and process management leaders as well as programs facilitating the development of process related skills throughout the organization (Brocke & Rosemann, 2015).
- Culture: BPM needs a common value system supportive of process improvement and innovation. Related capabilities include responsiveness to change (organizational agility), process values and beliefs (process-oriented thinking), process attitudes & behaviors, leadership attention to process, and process management social networks as well as the ability to derive measures to further develop these values accordingly (Brocke & Rosemann, 2015).

In the past and still today, business process management is perceived as a permanent responsibility providing capabilities needed in order to sustain competitiveness and performance in organizations (e. g. Harmon 2007, Spanyi 2008).

Business Continuity Theory

The theoretical framework of this study is based on the business continuity management (BCM) theory. Business Continuity emerged in response to the increased corporate realization that any disruption in the continuity of the business for an extended period of time will seriously affect the overall practicality of an organization (Foster & Dye 2005). Thus, business processes cannot cease nor sit idle during a crisis without seriously affecting the organization and its business process performance.

Business continuity management (BCM) is a framework that helps organizations prepare for and respond to disruptions or unexpected events that can impact their ability to conduct business as usual. BCM theory provides a framework for organizations to identify and assess risks to their critical business processes, business process performance, and develop strategies and plans to maintain or restore these processes in the event of a disruption (*Government Sector* | *Resilience Guard GmbH*, n.d.). Risks to critical processes will inherently effect business process performance. BCM theory principles can serve as a framework to conduct the organization's business process performance strategic conversations. The BCM theory is based on the following principles:

- Business impact analysis: Identify critical business processes and assess the potential impact of disruptions to these processes. This analysis helps organizations prioritize their response efforts and allocate resources accordingly.
- 2. **Risk assessment:** Identify and evaluate potential risks that could disrupt these processes and inherently their performance. This includes natural disasters, cyber-attacks, power outages, and other threats.

- 3. **Business continuity strategy development:** Develop a strategy that outlines the steps to be taken to maintain or quickly restore critical business processes in the event of a disruption.
- 4. **Plan development and testing:** Document and test regularly various scenarios to identify any gaps or weaknesses in process flows to ensure that the strategy is effective and up to date.
- Training and awareness: Employees should be trained and made aware of the business process plan, including their roles and responsibilities in executing the plan.
- 6. **Continuous improvement:** Continuous monitoring and improvement to ensure that the business process plan remains effective in the face of changing threats and business environments.

Organizations can consider enhancing their resilience and impact reduction of unexpected events on their operations when evaluating BCM process.

Internal Controls (IC) Framework

In the United States (US) there are three sectors of the economy private, public, and non-profit. US publicly traded companies are bound by the 'Sarbanes-Oxley" (SOX) Act a law addressing internal controls. The significance of upholding effective internal control system (ICS) in organizations have been persistently and immensely emphasized, due to its positive effects on financial performance (Eniola & Akinselure, (2016); Ibrahim, S., Diibuzie, G., & Abubakari, M. (2017). Organizations must adhere to SOX to be in compliance with government regulations as well as have a way to show evidence of its internal control system (ICSs) at any point in time. According to Tetteh et al. (2022), ICS refers to all the policies and procedures adopted by the directors and management of an entity to assist them in achieving their objectives of ensuring, as far as practicable, the orderly and efficient conduct of a business, including adherence to internal policies, the safeguarding of assets, the prevention and detection of fraud and error, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information (Wamukota, M. et al. (2022); Kotey & Ashelby, 2002; Mwindi, 2008; Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, 1992).

A number of empirical studies have been carried out in determining the impact of internal controls on performance variables. Tetteh et al., (2022), Muraleetharan (2010), and Amony (2016) in determining the impact of internal control on financial performance found a very significant relationship. Eko and Hariyanto (2011) found out that internal control system, internal audit, as well as organization commitment have positive significant relationship with good governance. Nilniyom and Chanthinok (2011) found that internal control effectiveness has a positive correlation with stakeholder acceptance. Feng, Li, and McVay (2009) also carried out a study on internal control and management guidance and concluded that internal control quality has an economically significant effect on the accuracy of management guidance (Tetteh et al., 2022).

The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) (1992) defines internal controls as a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations (Kurniawati, 2011). In order to avoid penalties for lack of SOX compliance, businesses incorporated internal controls into its infrastructure more specifically, their

business processes structure. The realization and effectiveness of the internal controls involves different areas of company structure: Management, internal auditing consultants and compliance experts, external regulation bodies, business process experts (including system developers and technical consultants) and employees (Namiri, 2008).

COSO92 and COSO13 designed a framework to assess internal controls (Tetteh et al., 2022; Eniola & Akinselure, 2016; Sahabi et al., 2017). COSO believes that this framework must be intermingled with an organizations infrastructure. Additionally, COSO has five components of internal control with 17 measures (see Appendix B survey instrument) to determine if organizations have a solid perception of their infrastructure and how they line up when considering how their internal controls meet their business objectives for efficiency and effectiveness. In this case, the objective is to identify and define business processes in their quest to establish efficient and effective process performance.

1. **Control Environment:** COSO (2013) defines control environment as a set of policies and procedures that must be followed in the implementation of internal controls within an institution. The control environment refers to the overall tone set by an organization's top management and the importance placed on internal control. Control environment is established and recognizable through leadership. According to COSO 2013, management will demonstrate commitment to integrity and ethical values; exercise oversight responsibilities; establish structure, authority, and responsibility; demonstrate commitment to competence; and enforce accountability. The control environment begins with directors and management who implement organizational policies, behaviors, and effective governance (Bruwer, Coetzee, & Meiring, 2018; Koutoupis & Pappa, 2018).

2. **Risk Assessment:** Organizations must assess the risks they face and determine how best to manage those risks through the implementation of appropriate controls. Internal control as such becomes an instrument and means of risk control, which helps the enterprise to achieve its goals and to perform its tasks. Identification, assessment, and supervision are embodiment of the risk assessment element of internal control (Tetteh et al., 2022). Proper process design including maintenance, management and process audits are important elements of internal controls. This ensures that organizations do not have the same worker initiating and approving their own workflows exposing the business to unnecessary and avoidable legal risk.

3. **Control Activities:** Control activities are the policies and procedures that organizations implement to mitigate risks and achieve their objectives. Visser and Erasmus (2002) posit that an ICS contains certain control activities, including policies and procedures with regard to approval, authorization, verification, reconciliation, review of operational activities, safeguarding of assets, and segregation of duties. Control activities are the actions defined by the policies and procedures to help ensure that management guidelines are followed to minimize risks for achieving goals (Tetteh et al., 2022). Control activities ensures leadership mandates and objectives are carried out. According to Tetteh et al. (2022), control activities basically comprise; performance reviews (comparing actual performance with budgets, forecasts, and prior period performance), information processing (necessary to check accuracy, completeness, and authorization of transactions), physical controls (necessary to provide security over both records and other assets), and segregation of duties (where no one person should handle all aspects of

a transaction from the beginning to the end).

4. **Information and Communication:** Information and communication systems must be in place to ensure that employees have the necessary information to carry out their responsibilities, generate compliance and operational reports to help manage processes and business activities, and guarantee that communication flows effectively throughout the organization. Furthermore, information can be used to analyze process performance metrics, financial performance, monitor performance, allocate resources, and decision-making. Communication is defined as "the continual, iterative process of providing, sharing and obtaining necessary information (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), 2014:105). The communication aspect of this component deals with providing an understanding of individual roles and responsibilities pertaining to internal controls. People should understand how their activities relate to the work of others and how exceptions should be reported to higher levels of management.

5. **Monitoring:** Internal control systems must be monitored to ensure they are operating effectively and to identify and address any weaknesses or deficiencies. Regular monitoring is imminent due to changing conditions, hence management seek to determine if current internal control mechanisms continue to be relevant and can address new risks (Adegboyegun, Ben-Caleb, Ademola, Oladutire, & Sodeinde, 2020; Wali & Masmoudi, 2020). Monitoring is the evaluation of an organizations events and transactions to gauge the quality of performance throughout the period and to decide whether controls are effective (Dowdell, Klamm, & Andersen, 2020; Gamage, Lock, & Fernando, 2014).

Deriving an IC strategy for identifying specific processes that support efficiency and effectiveness are critical for SOX compliance, reporting out to other external regulatory agencies, and competitive advantage. Management's grasp of internal controls, how to uphold laws, and embed checks and balances of operational activities into their fabric is paramount for compliance and proper process performance metrics creation. At the end of the day, to establish and analyze process performance, leaders must lead efforts by holding strategic planning conversations to answer an overabundance of questions around the resources needed for operational continuity through disruption; the stakeholders supporting critical activities and processes; the orientation of tasks that need to be executed and completed by cross-functional teams; and processes that originate from a regulating body, internal policy or procedure or mere practices, etc. Organization requires having in place the systems and practices that allow human resource characteristics to bear the fruit of their potential (Barney & Wright, 1998).

In this thesis, we focus on the relationship between internal controls for process effectiveness and efficiency and the business process lifecycle. As it relates to internal controls and business process performance, the relationship can be described as follows:

- **Process Planning:** Strategic planning that incorporates all significant transactions, accounts, laws, policies, procedures, etc. externally and internally for major functional areas or departments (i.e. finance, sales and marketing, human resources, purchasing, legal, information technology, and C-suite executive) that aligns to company objectives and supports operations.
- **Process Identification:** Identify critical business processes that affect those transactions, accounts, laws, policies, procedures, etc.

- **Process Definition:** Define new processes or redefine current processes documenting process control objectives. Performance measurement involves defining the concept, selecting components and deciding on how to measure them (Willaert et al., 2007).
- **Process Design:** Design process workflows based on laws, policies, procedures, etc. making certain to include who is a part, what roles are a part, and the vertical or horizontal departments that are a part of process flows as well as, who initiates, who reviews, who approves, etc. workflows that were established and set by managers. The process designs can be instituted at the company level or specific to a department.
- **Process Risk Controls:** Establish controls for risk detection, risk mitigation and continuous risk assessment criteria for each relevant business process.
- **Process Performance Metrics:** Set performance measures for each business process's completion.
- Process Configuration: building workflows based on design requirements
- **Process Test**: The business process design and configuration must be tested and proven to meet process performance measures and preestablished requirements that should support a policy, procedure, or law like SOX's internal controls.
- **Performance Analysis**: Ultimately, once deployed the process metrics will be used for statistical analysis and reporting out to leaders and regulators.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

3.1 Conceptual Model & Hypothesis

The conceptual framework (Figure 1) pinpoints factors that contribute to the foundation of business process performance at the organizational level. Business process performance is the dependent variable being measured by five independent variables that will impact its proper preliminary measurement design (1) internal controls, (2) top management mindfulness, (3) organizational agility, (4) business process modularity, and (5) knowledge absorptive capacity. There are six variables being controlled for that impacts both dependent and independent variables which includes company age, company US location, business process involvement (life cycle participation), functional department, functional department tenure, and employee level.




3.1.1 Internal Controls (IC)

In the public, private and non-profit sectors, the market is constantly changing, and this requires changing the attitude towards internal controls from only increasing financial performance to examining its effect on process performance. Many companies no longer develop an internal control structure as a regulatory requirement, as it helps to ensure that all administrative operations are carried out properly (Abiodun, 2020). Companies incorporate an internal control system to uncover, define, assess risk, communicate, monitor, and report out on processes to management, regulatory institutions, and stakeholders which can be beneficial in a changing our dynamic environments. Various problematic situations can be caused by changes in an organization and its environment and can lead to non-compliance with organizational goals and expectations of users and/or stakeholders, as well as with the requirements of standards or legal obligations (Vasović et al., 2022). Stakeholders are the driving force in the business process ethos (i.e., lifecycle, orientation, management, performance analysis and so on) and championing internal control system adoption. Ibrahim et al. (2017) and Nilniyom and Chanthinok (2011) found that internal control effectiveness has a positive correlation with stakeholder acceptance. A stakeholder approach can help managers analyzing how the company fits into their larger environment, how its standard operating procedures affect stakeholders (employees, management, shareholders) in the company and immediately beyond the company (customers, suppliers, financiers) from an analytical standpoint (Abiodun, 2020). It is also a general belief that properly instituted systems of internal control improve the reporting process and also give rise to reliable

reports which enhances the accountability function of management of an entity (Kaplan, 2008).

With an internal controls infrastructure, companies can identify processes where improvements can have the greatest effect and increase process performance, meet compliance, enhance services, improve financials, and other productivities. Businesses with internal controls in place understand their workers roles and responsibilities within value-add workflows or processes and where there might be deficiencies. It is understood that an organization can do more with its current resources by boosting the effectiveness and efficiency of its way of working (i.e., its business processes) (Sullivan 2001). Internal controls allow for exposure of limitations in the human resource and process pipeline. Boudreau and Ramstad (2002, 2003) have used the metaphor of limitations in a pipeline, to help organizations locate and define key process points. Due to possible limitations, we must identify and analyze key processes along with analyzing functional area accountability and roles involved in business process transactions and process management. In process analysis, it is important to balance what people say they do (espoused behaviour) against what they actually do (observed behaviour) (McNulty and Ferlie, 2004). As it relates to process performance, organizations must understand the skills required to conduct effectiveness evaluations and relevance using the guidance provided by regulatory bodies such as the Committee of the Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) (1992 & 2013) Internal Control Framework (Hayes, 2013).

Good internal control of company quality includes a frequent examination of the accuracy and credibility of financial and administrative records, a review of the measures

used (in this case processes), an evaluation of employee adherence with management practices, protocols and related laws and regulations, and an assessment of the efficiency and efficacy of leadership (Abiodun, 2020). COSO's internal controls framework (1992/2013) will assist in determining what constitutes "key controls" and identification of the appropriate amount of related documentation and testing to conclude on the effectiveness of internal controls, determination of "material weaknesses" and related remediation plans, and other contentious areas of regulations. According to Walsh & Seward (1990) and Chung, Chong, & Jung (1997), internal control involves the supreme enterprise control apparatus and enterprise shareholders (Lakis & Giriunas, 2012). It is also a general belief that properly instituted systems of internal control improve the reporting process and also give rise to reliable reports which enhances the accountability function of management of an entity (Kaplan, 2008). This study is examining whether internal controls lead to an increase in business process performance. Only an effective ICS in the enterprise is able to help objectively assess the potential development and tendencies of enterprise performance (Lakis & Giriunas, 2012). With this in mind I posit the following hypothesis.

H1: As internal controls increase, business process performance will increase.3.1.2 Top Management Mindfulness (TMM)

Mindfulness pertains to the cognitive abilities of an individual (Langer & Moldoveanu, 2000). It has been perceived as a state of mind (Brown & Ryan, 2003; Langer, 1989), as a trait (Sternberg, 2000), as a cognitive skill, and, last but not least, as a cognitive style (Sternberg, 2000; Bhatti et al., 2021). Because of past global crises and a lingering pandemic, top management teams (executives and senior management) had to be mindful of factors that could impact performance (process, financial, market, resource, etc.) and how they will maintain performance steadiness. Management's strategic, process-oriented leadership is required when taking on innovative process initiatives such as establishing process performance indicators. According to Langer, (1989) and Sternberg (2000), a mindful person is a person who is open to innovation and vigilant but at the same time thoughtful and alert to his/her surroundings.

The skills of the work force are all common across firms but highly skilled individual managers or top management teams are more rare (Wright et al., 1994). According to the upper echelons' theory, the cognitive structure of an organization's top management team determines the organizational outcomes (Christofi, Vrontis, Thrassou, & Shan1s, 2019). Businesses who are led by principals who naturally adjusts to uncertainty, can mindfully carry their organization through challenging predicaments where business performance is not or hardly affected. Good leaders mindfully recognize situations that demand an innovative response and the execution of the actual response (Swanson & Ramiller, 2004). Principals manage the company for its stakeholders to ensure their rights and participation in decision-making. Leaders facilitate talks with stakeholders at different levels whom they supervise to push the organization towards a process-oriented frame of mind. Stimulating interdepartmental and proactive behaviour is key to introducing process orientation (Willaert et al., 2007). Thus, process-oriented management will gain buy-in and support for implementing new or revised performance measures when process performance meetings are led and directed by them. Top management's active management of the environment and gravitation toward innovation in certain and uncertain times is how management should lead. According to Langer &

Moldoveanu, (2000), such a mindful person responds to changes in his/her environment and creates new or improved processes. Afterall, it is managers that are able to understand and describe the efficient performance potential of a company's capabilities (Barney, 1991). In light of the above argumentation, we propose that mindfulness has a positive relationship with business performance.

H2: As top management mindfulness increases, business process performance will increase.

3.1.3 Organizational Agility (OA)

According to Campanelli and Parreiras (2015), agility includes flexibility, learning, and responding efficiently and quickly to changes in the environment. Changes in the environment or disruptions tend to unveil areas of opportunity for organizations amongst their workforce whether its low quality of work, lack of agility that creates a lapse in process performance, or knowledge gaps. Agile organizations must strive to create an equilibrium between the apparently conflicting processes of stability and flexibility to survive and grow in response to environmental uncertainty because flexibility without stability can result in chaos (Lu & Ramanmrthy, 2011; Volberda, 1996). The effect of such flexibility would increase the likelihood that processes and procedures will perform as expected and the hazard will be retained at tolerable levels (Abiodun, 2020). The organizational perspective focuses on the core processes and critical processes of the company (Tinnila, M. (1995). Nonconformities lead to numerous negative consequences in the functioning of an organization (Vasovic et al., (2022).

The capacity of an organization to keep its human resources aligned with business needs by transitioning quickly and easily from one HR formation to another and another,

ad infinitum' (again and again in the same way; forever) is organizational agility. (Dyer & Ericksen, 2005) Agile organizations have a scalable workforce that will be able to sustain performance criterion during normal operations or disruption. The "value-based" theory of the organization suggests that sustainable competitive advantage is created through resources that are valuable, rare, difficult to imitate, and supported by organizational structures that allow them to be exploited effectively (Barney & Wright, 1997). The organization's scalability capability could be a performance measure for agile organizations. Workers can be shifted dynamically to where they are needed when they are needed. Hence, cross-trained workers should be able to achieve a higher performance (or the same performance with a smaller workforce) than specialized workers. Businesses who are not able to use their knowledge and organizational resources to respond effectively to environmental changes lacks organizational agility. Due to the changing nature of organizational environmental factors, organizational agility is essential for organizations (Shams, Vrontis, Belyaeva, Ferraris, & Czinkota, 2020). Organizations need to assess their agility periodically even in good times. When organizations lack agility it will not be able to adapt their activities and processes in response to fluctuations in their surroundings (Cegarra-Navarro, Soto-Acosta, & Wensley, 2016). Business must understand how the environment and catastrophes impact its ability to execute business processes to maintain compliance, meet organization goals, and expectations of users and/or stakeholders. Agility must have a performance measure to validate that the organization can adjust to crises.

Since agility is associated with superior organizational performance, an agile organization can survive and even prosper in the face of complexities (Rialti, Zollo,

Ferraris, & Alon, 2019). The literature has found evidence of an impact of organizational agility on firm performance (Tallon & Pinsonneault, 2011). Organizational agility can enable organizations to manage their knowledge resources while responding effectively to a wide variety of organizational and environmental changes (Bhatti et al., 2021). We aim to study the impact of organizational agility on business process performance and advance the following hypothesis.

H3: As organizational agility increases, business process performance will increase.

3.1.4 Business Process Modularity (MOD)

Modularity was initially used to control variety and increase interchangeability in a turbulent environment (Starr, 1965). Organizations has to be able to identify processes and define the actions and steps and all sub processes involved. The challenge of coordination and transaction challenges according to the Modular systems theory, can be partially addressed through the use of modular organization design such as loose coupling among processes, information hiding (or encapsulation) within processes, and compliance with standardized interface and performance specifications (Baldwin and Clark 2006; Langlois 2006). Process modularity is the extent to which the production processes is separated into standardized modules that can be easily re-sequenced into new processes that fulfill the requirements of producing new product features (Feitzinger and Lee, 1997). As workers identify critical processes and record the ordering of actions, they have the ability to reorder into new process flows or sub processes. The return on process transformation, for instance, is a financial measure that can be used in order to evaluate alternative process designs based on their return on investment (Vom Brocke et al. 2009). Business and IT managers can add value to their firms by developing an enterprise architecture that contains well-defined modules and interfaces among business processes and between business processes and IT (Tanriverdi et al., 2007).

BP performance measures can be thought through and how the application of those measures is to apply for each process. Modular organization design enables participating firm to maintain the integrity and autonomy of their internal operations while coordinating process interdependencies (Hagel and Brown 2005). Research shows that firms and functional units within firms are at different levels of maturity in terms of their modular design capabilities (Ross et al. 2006). Therefore, a collaboration of the different experience levels will help to devise a solid strategy for realizing factors that impact performance measures.

H4: As business process modularity increases, business process performance will increase.

3.1.5 Knowledge Absorptive Capacity (KAC)

Knowledge absorptive capacity (KAC) has been recognized as a key factor of different kinds of innovation like process, product, and marketing (Santoro, Quaglia, Pellicelli, & De Bernardi, 2020). Business process identification relies on stakeholder's past and present organizational and functional knowledge of traditions, laws, policies, procedures, etc. The knowledge of a firm's policies and procedures provide value to that firm but usually would not be valuable to other firms (Barney & Wright, 1998). In the process of knowledge reuse, new knowledge may be created through knowledge combination (Nonaka, 1994). Workers with specific knowledge and skillsets for business process engineering, reengineering, or optimization could provide value if those

processes' logic, configurations, and measures are hard to imitate for a particular business in a particular industry. One can accomplish firm-specific skills through investing in constant training and development of employees to perform work on processes and procedures that are specific to the company (Barney & Wright, 1998). Departments with specific processes can increase its process performance by investing in their worker's knowledge through Education. Knowledge from different departments also needs to be interpreted, combined, or shared by the whole organization (Slater and Narver, 1995). Gathering workers who are a part of a business process in any capacity within the organization has much to contribute to business process outlining and performance criteria. The core tenet of organizational learning theory is to develop skills and capabilities through both intra-organizational and inter-organizational learning (Ignatius et al., 2012, Lin et al., 2012). Organizational learning is "the development of insights, knowledge and association between past actions, the effectiveness of those actions, and future actions" (Sisson, P., & Ryan, J. (2016); Fiol and Lyles, 1985). The literature on organizational knowledge creation points out that "coordination" plays an important role in combining knowledge (Nonaka, 1994).

Cohen and Levinthal (1990) defined organizational absorptive capacity as the ability of a firm to recognize the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply it to commercial ends. It is also an important process necessary for organizations to identify opportunities and use new knowledge to realize innovation such as new processes or process performance measurement instruments. Executives, managers, and individual contributors are the correct participants during process discovery and performance metrics establishment because of their past and present knowledge.

Organizational learning is "the development of insights, knowledge and association between past actions, the effectiveness of those actions, and future actions" (Fiol and Lyles, 1985). By reusing the knowledge from past orders, this tacit knowledge is transformed into explicit ideas (Zhiqiang Wang, et. al. (2014). Such a transformation is called "externalization" (Nonaka, 1994). Apart from data that is internally generated and utilized, information concerning external events, activities, and conditions are essential to informing business decision-making (Burke, Polimeni, & Basile, 2020; Frazer, 2020; Sawyer, Dittenhofer, & Scheiner, 2003), specifically business process decisions. Successful knowledge transformation speeds up the assimilation of new knowledge and results in better innovation performance as well as superior firm performance (Xie et al., 2018). Since many researchers have concluded that knowledge absorptive capacity is significantly related to performance outcomes (Bhatti et al. (2021); Ferraris, Santoro, Bresciani, & Carayannis, 2018; Tseng, Chang Pai, & Hung, 2011), we also posit that knowledge absorptive capacity is related to business performance.

H5: As knowledge absorptive capacity increases, business process performance will increase.

3.1.6 Construct's Definitions

A summary of construct definition utilized in this research effort is provided in Table 1.

Table 1: Constructs Definitions

CONSTRUCTS

REFERENCES

| (Feitzinger and Lee, 1997) |
|----------------------------|
| |
| |
| |
| |

| processes that fulfill the requirements of producing new product features (Feitzinger and Lee, 1997). | |
|---|---|
| Business Process Performance (BPP) - Operational efficiency of inter- and intra- organizational processes which can measure the financial and non-financial flexibility, reliability, responsiveness, and costs/assets of organizational and operational capabilities Kim, Gimun, Bongski Shin, and Varun Grover (2010); (Bernhard, Peter, Zoltan, & Maria-Luise (2006). | Kim, Gimun, Bongski Shin, and Varun Grover (2010); (Bernhard, Peter, Zoltan, & Maria-Luise (2006) |
| Knowledge Absorptive Capacity (KAC) - the ability of a firm to recognize the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply the knowledge for commercial ends Cohen and Levinthal (1989). | Cohen and Levinthal (1989) |
| Organizational Agility (OA) - An agile competitive environment is where the capability of a business to develop and utilize its knowledge base to gain a competitive advantage in a complex and volatile digital market according to Van Oosterhout et. al., 2006, which includes flexibility, learning, and responding efficiently and quickly to changes in the environment (Campanelli & Parreiras, 2015) wherein the people skills, knowledge and experience are the main differentiators between the companies (Goldman et. al., 1995). | Van Oosterhout, Waarts, & Van Hillegersberg, 2006); (Campanelli & Parreiras, 2015); (Goldman et al.,1995) |
| The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO 1992) Internal Control (IC) – internal controls is a process, effected by an entity's board of directors, management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the following three categories: Effectiveness and efficiency of operations; Reliability of financial reporting; and Compliance with applicable laws and regulations. | The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO 1992 & 2013) |
| | ~ |

Top Management Mindfulness (TMM) – According to Sternberg (2000), leadership being open to innovation and vigilant but at the same time thoughtful and alert to his/her surroundings and evaluating all the factors of how they will maintain business continuity (Langer (1989). *Sternberg (2000); Langer (1989)*

3.1.7 Controls

In this study, we controlled for several variables (see table 2). We controlled for company age, company US location, business process lifecycle involvement, functional department, functional department tenure, and employee level. Functional department *tenure* with a minimum of one year as a control variable accounted for time in a department to gain process knowledge and variation of process knowledge. Controlling for *functional departments* that typically have high process usage account for knowledge of the process lifecycle phases process modularity, management, and process performance. Holding employee levels constant brings about understanding of roles and responsibilities around processes. Further, we controlled for *company age* of at least 3 years affirmed that businesses would have a solid process foundation internally and within their industry understanding policy, procedures, and laws like GAAP, OSHA, and accountability for internal controls mechanisms and SOX reporting. The *company location* control allowed concentration on a targeted country and understanding of laws, regulations and processes. Lastly, we controlled for business process lifecycle involvement that accounted for experience with phases of business process deployment and the lifecycle participation duties, roles and responsibilities, such as strategic

planning, defining, designing, configuration, testing, implementation, and process management.

| CONTROLS | DEFINITIONS |
|---|--|
| Company Location | <i>Company must be located in the United</i> <i>State</i> |
| Company Age | <i>Company must be in business at least three years</i> |
| Functional Department | Participant must work in one of six functions-departments (i.e. C-Suite Leaders, Human Resources, Finance, Information Technology, Procurement, Sales and Marketing or Legal). |
| Functional Department Tenure | Participant must have at least 1 year of experience in function-department |
| Employee Level | Participant must belong to one of the employee levels (i.e. executive, senior manager, Middle manager, manager, individual contributor) for their role. |
| Business Process Lifecycle Participation | Participant must have experience in one of the BP lifecycle phasesstrategy, definition, design, configuration, testing, implementation, or management. |

Table 2: Controls Definitions

3.2 RESEARCH DESIGN

This study was an experimental design that included a quantitative survey instrument that was assembled in a software solution called Qualtrics Core XM. The survey was disseminated online for data collection via Connect by Cloud Research (Connect), a commercial website that specializes in survey administration in a costeffective and efficient manner. Connect was used as well to recruit participants for survey administration. The unit of analysis and observation for this research is at the organizational level. In relation, data was collected from organizations operating in the United States.

This research endeavor attends to the research question and hypotheses proposed over three phases (1) an informed pilot, (2) statistical field study pilot, and (3) the main field study. The informed pilot was an effective way to establish content and face validity in addition to obtaining additional insight on procedures to perform the research instrument. The field study pilot was used to confirm the approach for the main field study and it was a precursor to assess internal reliability as hypothesized in the research model. Problems identified in the field study pilot results were addressed before conducting the main field study.

3.3 MEASUREMENTS OF VARIABLES & DATA COLLECTION

The following are brief descriptions of the main constructs and control variables. According to A.N. Oppenheim (1992), "Questionnaires do not emerge fully fledged; they have to be created or adapted, fashioned, and developed to maturity after many abortive test flights. The aim of the online survey instrument was to collect data for analysis and testing of the research model and hypotheses. The goal of the survey is derived from literature reviews, an identified need, and based on experiences of experts in the field. (Fink, 2003) The survey was constructed using a seven-point Likert Scale ranging from 1 -7 where 1 is "strongly disagree", 2 is "agree", 3 is "somewhat agree", 4 is "neither agree nor disagree", 5 is "somewhat disagree", 6 is "disagree", and is 7 is "strongly agree" to measure all constructs. It has been claimed that the ideal number of item alternatives appeared to be centered on seven with some situations calling for as few as five or as many as nine (Cox, 1980) Some literature suggests that a five-point scale

appears to be less confusing and to increase response rate and response quality along with reducing respondents' "frustration level" (Babakus & Mangold, 1992; Devlin, Dong, & Brown, 1993). As for this study, the seven-point scale was used to capture the gray areas of choice between 'agree' and neither agree nor disagree' and 'disagree'. Participants may not fully 'agree' or 'disagree' when a choice is given or their reasoning conflicts with a statement where they can partly agree with a statement as well as have an alternative reaction or opposite view both with a single statement on either side of 'neither agree nor disagree'. Hence, the measures of 'somewhat agree' and 'somewhat disagree'. The scale was used to determine the time it will take to administer the instrument. The completion time for the survey was approximately 30-45 minutes from beginning to end. Each construct being assessed provided a definition of the construct based on literature and research for better understanding of the construct being measured. For the survey item formation, prior research, literature, and regulatory guidance with evidence of internal consistency were reviewed to develop the assessment measures for each construct: business process performance, internal controls, business process modularity, knowledge absorptive capacity, organizational agility, and top management mindfulness) The survey consisted of 59 adopted items in total (excluding five qualifying and 11 demographic questions) to size up all main constructs. The design, the development of the measurement items, and the questionnaire were constructed in line with the guidelines that have commonly been mentioned in prior research (Aydiner et. Al., 2019; Dillman, 2007; Hinkin, 1998).

3.3.1 (Dependent): Business Process Performance (BPP)

Business process performance has many measures. Relying on the existing literature (Bayraktar, Demirbag, Koh, Tatoglu, & Zaim, 2009; Elbashir et al., 2008; Luo et al., 2012; Mahmood & Soon, 1991; Mclaren et al., 2011; Mithas et al., 2011; Aydiner et al., 2019), the dependent variable, business process performance (BPP) was measured by ten items based on a subjective approach of the literature and operationalized using the seven-point Likert scale. The definition provided for understanding is as follows: the term "business process performance" specifically refers to operational efficiency of interand intra-organizational processes (Kim, Gimun, Bongski Shin, and Varun Grover (2010). Results from participant responses were such that higher scores for each item symbolized an increase in performance.

3.3.2 (Independent): Internal Controls (IC)

The internal controls construct items was adopted from aspects of the COSO (1992, 2013) framework based on the US government's legal requirements and viewpoints in Sarbanes Oxley Act and (Tetteh et al., 2022) research on performance. The law requires that the US business infrastructure have mechanisms and/or processes in place to support, monitor, measure and report out on the internal control elements of controlled environment, risk assessment, controlled activities, information and communication, and monitoring for regulatory and compliance using vetted and preestablished criteria for those elements. There are 17 items in total measuring the internal controls variable. To level the landscape, and to assist with increased understanding of the internal controls approach and requirements, definitions were provided prior to the items for the area of interest being referenced. The definition for aspects of internal controls are as follows:

- Control Environment as stated by COSO (1992) an operative "control environment" is an environment where qualified people understand their roles and obligations, limits to their authority and are knowledgeable, mindful, and committed to doing what is right and doing it the right way. They are committed to following an organization's policies and procedures and its ethical and behavioral standards (Agyapong, 2017). They further noted that control environment has an impact on the extent to which individuals recognize what they will be held answerable ((Agyapong, 2017); Whittington & Pany 2009).
- Risk Assessment as stated by COSO (1992) "risk assessment" is the identification and analysis of relevant risks to achievement of the objectives, forming a basis for determining how the risks should be managed. Mechanisms should be placed to identify and deal with risk since economic, industry, regulatory and operating conditions will continue to change (Agyapong, 2017). In other words, risk assessment is the process of identifying and analyzing risks to achieving a company's goals, analyzing events that may occur, considering the possibility of it happening and the impact on achieving its objectives, and deciding how to react to the risks (Agyapong, 2017); Office of Financial Management, 2015). Managers set goals and objectives at levels that align with the company's mission and vision. (Agyapong, 2017; Office of Financial Management, 2015).
- Control Activities "Control Activities" are policies and procedures established and executed to ensure that actions identified by management are necessary to mitigate risks (Agyapong, 2017). Control activities are the policies and procedures that help ensure that the management directives are carried properly and in a timely manner.

Necessary actions are taken to manage, reduce and to address risks towards the achievement of the entity's objectives (Agyapong, 2017); COSO, 1992). Additionally, control activities are performed at all levels of the entity, at various stages within business processes, and over the technology environment" (Romney & Steinbart, 2009).

- Information and Communication the "Information and Communication" area focuses on systems or processes that identify, capture, and exchange information in a form that enables people to carry out their responsibilities and roles (Agyapong, 2017). Information can be identified, captured, and exchanged within the company and with external parties. Information communicated should be timely, accurate and reliable (Agyapong, 2017); COSO, 1992).
- Monitoring as stated by COSO (1992) "monitoring" of controls is one of the areas of internal control that assess the quality of internal control performance over time. It is necessary to monitor internal control to know whether it is functioning as expected and whether changes are needed. Monitoring can be achieved by ongoing activities such as supervising regularly (Agyapong, 2017); Whittington & Pany, 2009).

Results from participant responses were such that higher scores for each item symbolized an increase in performance.

3.3.3 (Independent): Modularity (MOD)

The business process modularity items included measures with proven internal reliability that were overall derived from Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007). In addition, the measures of this construct are grounded in the modular

systems theory from previous supporting literature (Baldwin and Clark (1997), Malhotra et al. (2005), Sanchez and Mahoney (1996), Schilling (2000), Simon (1962) and the literatures on product/process life cycle and maturity (Anderson and Zeithaml, 1984; Benner, 2002; CMMI, 2002; Harter et al., 2000). There were 10 items measuring modularity. The thought given for the term 'modularity' in support of understanding for ease of operationalization was that "modularity" specifically refers to the practice of standardizing business sub-processes so that they can be re-sequenced easily or new modules can be added quickly in response to changing requirements (Thatte, 2013); Feitzinger and Lee, 1997). Results from participant responses were such that higher scores for each item symbolized an increase in performance.

<u>3.3.4 (Independents): Knowledge Absorptive Capacity (KAC), Organizational Agility</u> (OA), & Top Management Mindfulness (TMM)

The items for "knowledge absorptive capacity" (KAC) were drawn from the previous work by Bhatti et al., (2021), Flatten, Engelen, Zahra, and Brettel (2011), Xie et al. (2018), and Zahra and George (2002). The notion for the term "knowledge absorptive capacity" specifically refers to the ability of a firm to recognize the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply the knowledge for commercial ends (Redd, V., & Dyaram, L. 2014; Cohen and Levinthal, 1989). The 13 items for the construct were measured on the seven-point Likert scale mentioned above. Results from participant responses were such that higher scores for each item symbolized an increase in performance.

The items for "organizational agility" (OA) were adopted from Bhatti et al., (2021) and Cegarra-Navarro et al. (2016), which were adapted from Lu and

Ramamurthy's (2011) study. The idea provided for 'organizational agility was that the term "organizational agility" specifically refers to the capability of a business to develop and utilize its knowledge base to gain a competitive advantage in a complex and volatile digital market including flexibility, learning, and responding efficiently and quickly to changes in the environment (Van Oosterhout, Waarts, & Van Hillegersberg, 2006). Further, agile organizations must strive to create an equilibrium between the apparently conflicting processes of stability and flexibility to survive and grow in response to the technological changes and environmental uncertainty because flexibility without stability can result in chaos. The six items for the OA variable were assessed using the seven-point Likert scale. Results from participant responses were such that higher scores for each item symbolized an increase in performance.

"Top management mindfulness" (TMM) was measured towards transformation using a three-item construct. The term "top management mindfulness" specifically refers to a person who is open to innovation and vigilant but at the same time thoughtful and alert to his/her surroundings (Sternberg (2000). The six items for the variable were adopted from (Bhatti et al., 2021) and Li et al. (2019) and assessed using the seven-point Likert scale previously mentioned. Results from participant responses were such that higher scores for each item symbolized an increase in performance.

3.3.5 (Controls): BP life-cycle participation, Company location, Company age, Function/Department, Function/Department Tenure & Employee Level

To rule out major alternative explanations for our finding, we review the sourcing literature and control for factors that are shown to have bearings on the sourcing choice (Tanriverdi et al., 2007). Company location was based on the country where the company conducted business. This study required companies to be in the United States. Company age was measured by a minimum number of years (no less than 3) since the establishment of the firm. In fact, from day one, all US companies will execute or have common processes in place to conduct daily operations whether manual or automated. However, by year three, they will be minimally aware of how those processes are executed, stakeholders affected, why they were put in place, etc. Prior research found that company specificity of knowledge impacts sourcing choices. (Subramani and Venkatraman 2003). US companies with workers assigned to specific functions/departments (C-Suite or executive team, human resources, finance, information technology, procurement, sales & Marketing, or legal) will participate in the business process lifecycle by setting the goal, strategic planning, designing, configuration, testing, deployment, and management of processes (i.e., payroll administration, bookkeeping, process management, purchasing supplies, regulatory reporting, and many more processes). Workers assigned to the aforementioned functions/departments will find themselves held accountable for internal practices, policies, and procedures as well as external accountability to governing bodies for OSHA for safety, Sarbanes Oxley for financials, EEO for equal employment opportunity, etc. so at least one year minimum to know where the processes originated and how the function/department can meet the requirements.

<u>3.4 INFORMED PILOT: PHASE I</u>

Table 3 below shows the validation tests and phases conducted for this study.

| PHASE | NAME | Validation Tests Performed | Content Validity | Construct Validity | Reliability |
|-------|----------------|--|---------------------|-----------------------|-------------|
| I | Informed Pilot | Qualitative | X | X | X |
| II | Pilot | Cronbach's Alphas Factor Analysis Quantitative | Х | X | X |
| Ш | Main Survey | Cronbach's Alphas Factor Analysis Quantitative | X | X | Х |

Table 3: Validation & Reliability Phases

This study adopted a survey research design. The informed pilot that was conducted in August 2023 was designed to facilitate revision that would lead to a survey for field study (Straub, 1989). Four graduate level subjects who met the professional qualifications, research criteria (see Appendix C) and who are also familiar with academic research methods served as the pilot respondents for the initial draft version of the survey. The subjects were selected for their expertise, work experience, company location, and tenure in their roles. The informed pilot draft instrument was conducted via video conference prior to the quantitative field study pilot and main field study. An overview of the research was provided to the respondents, construct definitions, and instructions were to (1) identify any important but missing topics or issues related to the focus of the research study, (2) point out (or edit) the ambiguities in the wordings of the survey questions, and (3) suggest ways to contain the length of the survey (Gupta, 2009). An item-by-item review of the entire survey was under examination. The objective was to establish the content and construct validity and reliability of the measures used in this study, the procedure suggested by Straub (1989) and Hair, Money, Samouel, and Page (2007) was employed.

During the pilot, clarification of constructs and items were thoroughly reviewed in sequence to ensure that the instrument was addressing and measuring the variables in question appropriately (construct validity and reliability). In the informed pilot, the language of the instrument items was examined to see if the vernacular was fit for the audience's understanding (content validity and reliability). One of the purposes of this pre-test was for the subjects to verify understanding of proposed response options. The subjects made certain that only one idea was being reviewed by removing "and/or" in statements under assessment for clarity. Due to the lengthiness of the survey, two questions to check for attention were placed at certain points within the instrument. The attention check questions would serve as a tool to verify that respondents aren't just randomly selecting answers. While debriefing, subjects had the opportunity to identify problems even unfamiliar words. Subjects suggested that construct definitions or language for construct support be added ahead of the instrument items for leveling and to remove ambiguity. Misunderstandings of questions would contribute to measurement error in the instrument (Straub, 1989). For information systems and technical research, content validity and reliability are crucial. For reliability, each variable (independent and dependent) has three or more measures for assessment. All feedback given was considered and actioned based on the feedback from the initial survey. The initial draft instrument was revised for precision and uniformity and the final version of the survey was produced for the field study pilot.

<u>3.5 FIELD STUDY PILOT: PHASE II</u>

The field study pilot survey was administered online in October 2023 prior to the main field study with the intention of determining if measures across subjects are similar across the method used to measure the variables (construct validity). Qualtrics Core XM hosted the instrument. The survey was distributed online for data collection via Connect by Cloud Research (Connect). The survey was organized with qualifying questions at the top to identify recruits that met the criteria for participation in the field study pilot. To participate in this research, subjects must have been employed in a United States company that had been established for no less than three years. In addition, subjects must have worked in one of the targeted functions/departments (human resources, finance, C-Suite/executive team, information technology, procurement, sales & marketing, or legal) for a least one year to participate in the pilot. Eligibility for survey administration required subjects to have been a part of any of the business process lifecycle phases as seen below:

- Strategic planning (plan your process and strategies (human-, document, or integration-centric) needed to achieve goals; assign stakeholders; set actions).
- Defining goal / purpose of process / why created.
- Designing iteratively analyze and map your process; rules; policies; laws; governance; localizations; etc.
- Configuration iteratively analyze and map your process; rules; policies; laws; governance; localizations; etc.
- Testing iteratively test the process design and configuration proof of concept providing feedback until acceptable.

- Implementation/deployment process is made live for larger organization.
- Process management support, monitoring results, troubleshooting, and optimizing process.

This criterion was put in place to ensure that the level of skills, knowledge, and experience for the topic under review was met and to assure that the participants had fundamental knowledge. As a certified technology consultant with over 12 years of business process experience, these phases are typical to agile process identification, design and deployment. The demographic questions and items that separately measured independent and dependent variables followed the qualifying questions respectively.

The survey completion was allowed for one week for approximately an hour per participant. The items in the survey were not allowed to be skipped. However, survey completion from beginning to end could not be guaranteed. Therefore, any subjects who did not complete the instrument were removed. Other cases that were removed are 'failed attention check' questions and 'not consenting' to the consent form.

3.5.1 Pilot Demographics

Sixty-three respondents were randomly recruited and selected from the research recruiting source, Connect by Cloud Research (Connect). Connect is one of the top online, crowdsourcing research platforms in the industry and known to be affordable. The sample size was determined by the targeted population size of 75. With a confidence level of 95% and margin of error of 5%, my ideal sample population was 63 as determined by the Qualtrics XM sample size calculator. (see Table 4 below) This calculator is based on Cochran's formula ((Cochran, 1954) (Qualtrics. How to Determine Sample Size, n.d.). Samples larger than 30 ensures the researcher the benefits of central

limit theorem (Roscoe, 1975, p.163 or Abranovic, 1997, p. 307-308). A sample of 500 assures that sample error will not exceed 10% of standard deviation, about 98% of the time (Roscoe, 1975). Survey sample size has been debated in several research areas. According to Connelly (2008), extant literature suggests that a pilot study sample should be 10% of the sample projected for the larger parent study. Hertzog (2008) cautions that sample size is not a simple or straight forward issue to resolve because studies are influenced by many factors. Further, according to Roscoe (1975) and Weisberg & Bowen (1977), a formula for determining sample size can be derived provided the investigator is prepared to specify how much error is acceptable and how much confidence is required (Roscoe 1975, Alreck & Settle 1995, Alreck & Settle advised to see Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias 1995; Hill 1998). Per Hill (1998), a probability (or significance) level of 0.05 has been established as a generally acceptable level of confidence in most behavioral science. Therefore, we decided to base the sample sizing on Roscoe (1975), Weisberg & Bowen (1977), Alreck & Settle 1975, Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias 1995, and Hill (1998) which supports the Qualtrics XM sampling calculator.



Table 4: Sample Size Formula

The questions used to qualify participation in the online pilot were based on the subject's business process experience, function or department employed in, length of service within the function or department, company location, and company years of service. (NOTE: The pilot study's descriptive statistics are provided in *Table 5* below in the Pilot Results section.) The subjects had no personal contact with me, participated at their leisure, and responded on their own. The Male subjects dominated the majority of the sample population at 57.1% and females at 42.9% of the remaining population. The respondents participating had ages ranging from 18-59 years of age where the majority of the respondents were found in the 36-39 age range making up 29%, and 21% fell in 40-45; 17% fell in 30-35; 10% fell in both 46-49 and 50-55; 6% fell in 26-29; 3% fell in 22-25 and 56-59; and lastly 2% fell in 18-21 group. Individuals in their 30s made up almost half (46%) of the population followed by those in their 40s (30%) on average. Also, from the 63 respondents, there were 57.1% White, 12.7% Black, 11.1% Asian, 6.3% Latino, 6.3% Hispanic, 3.2% Prefer not to say, and 1.6% Arab and 1.6% Multi Race persons respectively. Additionally, their educational levels were doctoral 3.2%, masters 39.7%, bachelors 31.7%, associates 15.9%, Certificate 4.8%, and High School diploma 4.8%. Some of the sample population's working demographics and experience as well as US company structure where the employee type was 98.4% full time and 1.6% part time employees with the executive management level having the majority participants showing 38.1%, Sr. management 7.9%, middle management 17.5%, manager 22.2%, and individual contributors 14.3%. The departments or functions that employed respondents for at least one year were C-Suite executives at 28.6%, Finance 17.5%, HR 14.3%, IT 30.2%, Legal 0%, Purchasing 3.2%, Sales & Marketing 6.3%. Also, subjects that had

responsibility in one or more areas of the business process (BP) lifecycle was of interest and made up the following phases: defining 63%, strategizing 27%, design 55.6%, configuration 55.6%, testing 57.1%, implementation / deployment 61.9%, and management 30.2%. The pilot population represented different company types with the majority of respondents being employed at publicly traded institutions at 50.1%, nonpublic at 30.2%, government 7.9%, foreign private issuer3.2%, Not for Profit organizations at 3.2%, and Other 6.3%. Lastly, the participants' companies' employee count ranged from 'under 500' to 200 thousand (K)+ with the most employees falling in the 'under 500 and 2,501 – 5K at 22.2% individually, followed by '501 – 1K' and '1,001 – 2.5K' at 19% separately, '5,001 – 7.5K' (1.6%), '7,501 – 10K' (4.8%), '15,001 – 20K' (1.6%), '20,001 – 30K' (3.2%), '50.001 – 100K' (3.2%), '100,001 – 150K' (1.6%), and 200K and above at 1.6%.

3.5.2 Pilot Results

This study used a quantitative technique to analyze the data. Smart PLS-SEM was used to analyze the relationship between the effect of internal controls, top management mindfulness, organizational agility, modularity, and knowledge absorptive capacity and business process performance. For the field study pilot, construct validity was established for the business process performance (BPP), internal controls (IC), knowledge absorptive capacity (KAC), business process modularity (MOD) and organizational agility (OA) based on the correlations between indicators of the construct. Top management mindfulness (TMM) had a limited number of indicators, however, the strongest of the three indicators remained. The model's proposed internal consistency was based on the loadings, Cronbach's alpha, and composite reliability (rho c) scores shown below in

Table 5. Loadings above .708 are recommended, as they indicate that the construct explains more than 50 percent of the indicator's variance thus providing acceptable item reliability. (Hair et al., 2019) The average inter-item correlation for each construct shows that Knowledge Absorptive Capacity's items have the strongest relationship with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.849 and composite reliability (rho c) at 0.884. The coefficient alpha for the majority of item loadings on constructs had a Cronbach's and composite reliability above the .7 threshold as well as an average variance extracted (AVE) above .5. According to Hair (2019), the AVE (mean variance extracted) for the items loading on a construct is a summary indicator of convergence. Modularity had solid Cronbach's alpha and composite reliability scores, however, its AVE score was .451 which if rounded is not far off from .5 which is highly recommended. It's approximately .5 and the items could explain a little more error than variance in the construct. However, because of the strength of Cronbach's and composite reliability, the construct remained. Organizational agility presented a firm composite reliability score of .802 and AVE score of .577. Although the conservative Cronbach's alpha score fell short at .630, the liberal composite reliability score was at .802 and according to Hair et al. (2019), the true reliability score is somewhere in between. Thus, due to the strong composite reliability and AVE scores, the construct remained. All scores were in the same direction meaning the loadings of items has good correlation to the construct which Hair (2019) suggests that standardized indicator loadings should be at least .5 and ideally .7 or higher. There is convergent validity and reliability and dropping any items for improvement would be trivial, a .01 if that (Hair, Black et. al, 2019). The set of items for each construct seem to be accurately reflecting the constructs they were intended to measure.

The items in the Table 5 loading on the constructs are evidence of convergent validity based on one criterion, the size of factor loadings. The common point that they converge on is the construct that they are designed to measure. The AVE's robust scores are comfortably above .5 and indicates that the construct explains at least 50 percent of the variance of its items. The composite reliability values from the individually weighted construct indicators support the internal consistency reliability wherein higher values usually indicates higher levels of reliability. Reliability values between 0.60 and 0.70 are considered "acceptable in exploratory research," values between 0.70 and 0.90 range from "satisfactory to good." Values of 0.95 and higher are problematic, as they indicate that the items are redundant, thereby reducing construct validity (Diamantopoulos et al., 2012; Drolet and Morrison, 2001).

| Descriptive Statistics (n=63) | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------|---------------|-------|-----------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------------|---|--|--|
| Constructs | Item Codes | Mean | Standard deviation | Cronbach's alpha | Composite reliability (rho_c) | Average variance extracted (AVE) | | |
| | BPP1 | 1.778 | 0.916 | | | | | |
| Business | BPP4 | 1.984 | 0.882 | | | | | |
| Process | BPP5 | 2.175 | 1.016 | 0.818 | 0.873 | 0.579 | | |
| Performance | BPP6 | 2.254 | 1.069 | | | | | |
| | BPP7 | 2.206 | 1.157 | | | | | |
| | ICCA3 | 2.000 | 1.069 | | | | | |
| Internal | ICCE3 | 1.825 | 0.918 | | | | | |
| Controls | ICIC2 | 1.905 | 0.921 | 0.770 | 0.843 | 0.518 | | |
| Controls | ICM1 | 1.825 | 0.864 | | | | | |
| | ICRA2 | 1.984 | 0.787 | | | | | |
| Vacualadaa | KAC12 | 2.063 | 0.990 | | | | | |
| Knowledge | KAC13 | 2.063 | 1.052 | 0.840 | 0.884 | 0.523 | | |
| Canacity | KAC14 | 2.159 | 1.237 | 0.042 | 0.004 | 0.323 | | |
| Capacity | KAC3 | 2.095 | 1.035 | | | | | |

Table 5: Pilot Descriptive Statistics & Reliability

| | KAC4 | 2.302 | 1.018 | | | |
|----------------|------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| | KAC6 | 1.937 | 0.794 | | | |
| | KAC7 | 2.063 | 1.167 | | | |
| | MOD2 | 2.635 | 1.406 | | | |
| Modularity | MOD3 | 2.556 | 1.294 | | | |
| | MOD4 | 2.206 | 1.224 | 0.716 | 0.803 | 0.451 |
| | MOD6 | 2.222 | 1.046 | | | |
| | MOD7 | 2.127 | 0.787 | | | |
| Organizational | OA1 | 1.476 | 0.587 | | | |
| Agility | OA3 | 2.175 | 1.062 | 0.630 | 0.802 | 0.577 |
| Aginty | OA5 | 2.270 | 1.144 | | | |
| Тор | | | | | | |
| Management | TMM3 | 1.905 | 1.019 | | | |
| Mindfulness | | | | | | |

The purpose of this paper is to provide a comprehensive, yet concise, overview of the considerations and metrics required for partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM) analysis and result reporting. Preliminary considerations are summarized first, including reasons for choosing PLS-SEM, recommended sample size in selected contexts, distributional assumptions, use of secondary data, statistical power and the need for goodness-of-fit testing. Next, the metrics as well as the rules of thumb that should be applied to assess the PLS-SEM results are covered. Besides presenting established PLS-SEM evaluation criteria, the overview includes the following new guidelines: PLSpredict (i.e., a novel approach for assessing a model's out-of-sample prediction), metrics for model comparisons, and several complementary methods for checking the results' (Hair et al., 2019).

CHAPTER 4: MAIN STUDY ANALYSIS & RESULTS: PHASE III

This chapter will discuss the research participants, procedures to investigate the hypotheses outlined in the previous section and measurement tool. Further, a presentation

of the respondents, details for the sampling approach, and company demographic data to better understand the possible characteristics of the respondent pool. The procedures to collect data and operationalization of the constructs are given. Further, the design of the survey instrument that will collect data, along with scale development and a rationalization for performing the pilot study and how to conduct the survey are explained.

4.1 Demographics Overview

In the United States, according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics and Statistica.com there are approximately 132 million full-time employees (FTE) as of 2022. With a confidence level of 95% and a margin of error of 5% on the 132 million FTEs, the ideal sample size was 339 as derived using the Qualtrics sample calculator. However, we included part-time and contractors that has experience within the 339. A mix of FTEs e.g., US executives, senior managers, middle managers, front line managers, individual contributors/professional workers who have at least 1 year of employment at their level was recruited from the aforementioned sample size. We did not address workers who were not members of the previously mentioned levels because they would not have any idea about this topic. In addition, workers in various departments (human resources, finance, information technology, procurement, sales, and marketing, legal and C-suite) or functional areas and industries were chosen as a context in which to pilot and field test the proposed model prior to conducting the main study research.

| Main Study Demographic Characteristics (n=339) | | | | | | |
|--|-------------|------|-----------------------|--------------|----------------|--|
| Control / Demographics | Response(s) | Mean | Standard Deviation | Freq. (f) | % of Sample | |

Table 6: Main Study Demographics

| CO EST. | 3 YR | 1.00 | 0.00 | 339 | 100.00% |
|--------------------------------|--|------|------|--|---|
| CO LOCATION | United States of Americas | 1.00 | 0.00 | 339 | 100.00% |
| ORGANIZATION TENURE | 1 Year Function - Department | 1.00 | 0.00 | 339 | 100.00% |
| FUNCTIONAL ORGANIZATION | Function - Department C-Suite Human Resources Finance Information Technology Procurement Sales and Marketing Legal | 4.01 | 1.51 | 339 19 41 50 128 19 73 9 | 100.00% 5.60% 12.09% 14.75% 37.76% 5.60% 21.53% 2.65% |
| BUSINESS PROCESSES PHASE | Participation Strategy Defining Design Configuration Testing Implementation / Deployment Process Management | | | 339 175 116 122 117 126 172 210 | 100.00% 16.86% 11.18% 11.75% 11.27% 12.14% 16.57% 20.23% |
| AGE | Age Range 18 - 21 22 - 25 26 - 29 30 - 35 36 - 39 40 - 45 46 - 49 50 - 55 56 - 59 | 5.24 | 1.95 | 339 2 16 42 90 46 63 24 25 31 | 100.00% 0.59% 4.72% 12.39% 26.55% 13.57% 18.58% 7.08% 7.37% 9.14% |
| GENDER IDENTITY | Gender Male Female Other | 1.39 | 0.50 | 339 210 127 2 | 100.00% 61.95% 37.46% 0.59% |
| EDUCATION | Degree High School Diploma Associate Degree Specialty / Technical Certificate Bachelor Degree Doctoral Degree Master Degree | 3.82 | 1.44 | 339 36 32 18 <u>184</u> 10 59 | 100.00% 10.62% 9.44% 5.31% 54.28% 2.95% 17.40% |
| EMPLOYEE LEVEL | Management Level Executive Senior management Middle Manager | 3.93 | 1.21 | 339 24 19 59 | 100.00% 7.14% 5.65% 17.26% |

| | Manager | | | 93 | 27.38% |
|--------------|---|------|---------------|---------|---------|
| | Individual contributor | | | 144 | 42.56% |
| | | | | | |
| | Employee Type | 1.06 | 0.26 | 339 | 100.00% |
| | Full Time | | | 318 | 93.81% |
| EMPLOYEE | Part Time | | | 20 | 5 90% |
| ТҮРЕ | Contractor | | | 1 | 0.29% |
| | Contractor | | | 1 | 0.2970 |
| | Employee Count Range | 4.08 | 4.00 | 339 | 100.00% |
| | Under 500 (Small) | | | 117 | 34.51% |
| | 501-1.000 (Small) | | | 47 | 13.86% |
| | 1.001-2.500 (Medium) | | | 55 | 16.22% |
| | 2 501-5 000 (Medium) | | | 21 | 6 19% |
| | 5 001-7 500 (Medium) | | | 15 | 4 42% |
| | 7 501-10 000 (Large) | | | 17 | 5.01% |
| | 10.001-15.000 (Large) | | | 17 | 4 13% |
| COMPANY SIZE | 15,001-10,000 (Large) | | | 5 | 1 47% |
| COMPLET SIZE | 20,001-20,000 (Large) | | | 6 | 1.47% |
| | 20,001-30,000 (Large) | | | 3 | 0.880/2 |
| | 40,001-40,000 (Large) | | | 3 | 1 1 20/ |
| | 40,001-30,000 (Large) | | | 4 | 2 65% |
| | 100,001-100,000 (Large) | | | 9 | 2.03% |
| | 150,001,200,000 (Large) | | | 5 | 1.//70 |
| | 150,001-200,000 (Large) | | | 5 15 | 1.4/% |
| | More than 200,000 (Large) | | | 15 | 4.4270 |
| COMPANY | Company Type | 2.09 | 1 24 | 339 | 100.00% |
| STATUS | Publicly traded company | | 1,21 | 118 | 34 81% |
| 511105 | Non-publicly traded company | | | 163 | 48 08% |
| | Foreign Private Issuer | | | 105 | 1 18% |
| | Not for profit organization | | | | 6 78% |
| | Governmental organization | | | 25 | 7.67% |
| | Other | | | 5 | 1.47% |
| | Other | | | 5 | 1.4//0 |
| | Revenue | 5.05 | 3.30 | 339 | 100.00% |
| | Under \$500 000 | | | 34 | 10.03% |
| | \$500.000 - \$1 million | | | 24 | 7.08% |
| | More than \$1 million but less | | | 67 | 10 76% |
| | than \$10 million | | | 07 | 19.7070 |
| | More then \$10 million but loss | | | 56 | 16 520/ |
| | then \$100 million | | | 50 | 10.3270 |
| | | | | 21 | 0 1 40/ |
| ANNUAL | More than \$100 million but less | | | 31 | 9.14% |
| REVENUE | than \$500 million | | | | |
| | More than \$500 million but less | | | 16 | 4.72% |
| | than \$1 billion | | | | |
| | More than \$1 billion but less | | | 28 | 8.26% |
| | than \$5 billion | | | | |
| | More than \$5 billion but less | | | 10 | 2.95% |
| | than \$10 billion | | | | |
| | More than \$10 billion | | | 26 | 7.67% |
| | Not sure | | | 47 | 13.86% |
| | | | | • / | 12.00/0 |
| INTEDNAI | Fundamental Controls Overall | | Likert Result | | Agree |
| CONTROLS | Prior to Covid-19, our organization formally utilized a framework (provided | | <u> </u> | | |

| FUNDAMENTAL CONTROLS OVERALL | by government, professional services, Information Technology / Information Systems department, etc.) | | | | |
|------------------------------------|--|-------------------|-----------------|--------|---------|
| 0 VERTEE | To effectively manage enterprise risk and controls. | 3.24 | 2.11 | 126 | 37.17% |
| | To effectively manage business processes activities. | 2.99 | 2.03 | 148 | 43.66% |
| | To effectively manage Information and communication. | 3.12 | 2.17 | 127 | 37.46 % |
| | To effectively manage control environment. | 3.45 | 2.22 | 117 | 34.51% |
| | To effectively manage IT governance and general controls. | 3.00 | 2.03 | 130 | 38.35% |
| INDUSTRY | AGRICULTURE, FORESTRY | , AND FI | SHING | 0 | 0.00% |
| | - Agricultural Production Crops | | | 2 | 0.59% |
| | - Agricultural Services | | | 3 | 0.88% |
| | TOTAL | | | 6 | 1.77% |
| | MINING | | | 0 | 0.00% |
| | TOTAL | | | 0 | 0.00% |
| | CONSTRUCTION | 0 | 0.00% | | |
| | - Building Construction General Contra Builders | actors and O | perative | 8 | 2.36% |
| | - Construction Special Trade Contractors | | | | 1.47% |
| | TOTAL | 13 | 3.83% | | |
| | MANUFACTURING | 9 | 2.65% | | |
| | Apparel And Other Finished Products Made from Fabrics and Similar Materials | | | | 0.88% |
| | - Chemicals And Allied Products | 3 | 0.88% | | |
| | Electronic And Other Electrical Equip Except Computer Equipment Fabricated Metal Products, Except M | 11 | 3.24% | | |
| | Equipment | 3 | 0.88% | | |
| | - Food And Kindred Products | | | 6 | 1.77% |
| | - Furniture And Fixtures | | | 2 | 0.59% |
| | - Industrial And Commercial Machiner | y and Comp | uter Equipment | 5 | 1.47% |
| | - Lumber And Wood Products, Except | Furniture | | 1 | 0.29% |
| | - Miscellaneous Manufacturing Industr | ies | | 1 | 0.29% |
| | - Paper And Allied Products | | | 1 | 0.29% |
| | - Petroleum Refining and Related Indu | stries | | 1 | 0.29% |
| | - Printing, Publishing, And Allied Indu | stries | | 3 | 0.88% |
| | - Rubber And Miscellaneous Plastics P | roducts | | 1 | 0.29% |
| | - Transportation Equipment | | | 1 | 0.29% |
| | TOTAL | | | 51 | 15.04% |
| | IKANSPUKTATION, COMM ELECTRIC GAS AND SANIT | UNICAT TARV SF | IUNS, RVICES | 3 | 0.88% |
| S > | - Communications | INNI SE | ICTUES | 16 | 4.72% |
| | - Electric, Gas, And Sanitary Services | | | 2 | 0.59% |
| | Motor Freight Transportation and Wa Transportation Services | arehousing | | 1 | 0.29% |
| | - United States Postal Service | | | 2 1 | 0.29% |
| | ТОТАТ | | | 25 | 7.270/ |

| | WHOLESALE TRADE | 2 | 0.59% |
|--------------|---|-----|--------|
| | - Miscellaneous Retail | 7 | 2.06% |
| | - Wholesale Trade-durable Goods | 4 | 1.18% |
| | TOTAL | 14 | 4.13% |
| | RETAIL TRADE | 7 | 2.06% |
| | - Apparel And Accessory Stores | 5 | 1.47% |
| | - Automotive Dealers and Gasoline Service Stations | 2 | 0.59% |
| | - Building Materials, Hardware, Garden Supply, And Mobile Home Dealers | 0 | 0.00% |
| | - Eating And Drinking Places | 3 | 0.88% |
| | - Food Stores | 2 | 0.59% |
| | - General Merchandise Stores | 12 | 3.54% |
| | TOTAL | 31 | 9.14% |
| | FINANCE, INSURANCE, AND REAL ESTATE | 13 | 3.83% |
| | - Depository Institutions | 3 | 0.88% |
| | - Holding And Other Investment Offices | 2 | 0.59% |
| | - Insurance Agents, Brokers, And Service | 6 | 1.77% |
| | - Insurance Carriers | 2 | 0.59% |
| | - Non-depository Credit Institutions | 5 | 1.47% |
| | - Real Estate | 7 | 2.06% |
| | - Security And Commodity Brokers, Dealers, Exchanges, And | 1 | 0.29% |
| | Services | 1 | 0.2770 |
| | | 39 | 11.50% |
| | SERVICES | 1 | 0.29% |
| | - Amusement And Recreation Services | 4 | 1.18% |
| | - Educational Services | 22 | 6.49% |
| | - Engineering, Accounting, Research, Management, And Related Services | 29 | 8.55% |
| | - Health Services | 29 | 8.55% |
| | - Legal Services | 8 | 2.36% |
| * | - Miscellaneous Repair Services | 1 | 0.29% |
| ~ | - Miscellaneous Services | 7 | 2.06% |
| H | - Motion Pictures | 3 | 0.88% |
| \mathbf{v} | - Personal Services | 2 | 0.59% |
| D | - Private Households | 1 | 0.29% |
| Ω | - Social Services | 3 | 0.88% |
| Z | TOTAL | 146 | 43.07% |
| - | PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION | 0 | 0.00% |
| | - Non-classifiable Establishments | 2 | 0.59% |
| | - Administration Of Human Resource Programs | 5 | 1.47% |
| | - Executive, Legislative, And General Government, Except Finance | 2 | 0.59% |
| | - Justice, Public Order, And Safety | 3 | 0.88% |
| | - Public Finance, Taxation, And Monetary Policy | 2 | 0.59% |
| | TOTAL | 14 | 4.13% |
| | TOTAL INDUSTRY WORKERS | 339 | 100% |
4.1.1 Demographic Data Results

When calculating the demographic data points for employee level, individual contributors and managers had the greatest number of respondents. Out of 339 cases, 144 respondents were at the individual contributor employee level and 93 were at the manager level. A worker could only belong to one level at work. In total respondents assigned to the individual contributor and manager employee levels made up 69.94% where individual contributors were 42.56% and manager level workers was 27.38%, respectively.

When computing the demographic data points for functional departments, IT and Sales & Marketing had the greatest number of respondents. Out of 339 cases, 128 respondents worked in the IT department for at least one year and sales & marketing had 73 respondents who worked in the department for at least one year. This was a single select item where respondents were forced to only select one department to be a member. Experience in one of the pre-identified functional departments was acceptable. In total IT and Sales & Marketing respondents made up 59.29% of respondents where IT was 37.76% and Sales & Marketing was 21.53%, respectively.

When counting the demographic data points for phases of the business process life-cycle, process management and strategy had the greatest number of respondents. Out of 339 cases, 210 respondents had experience in process management and 175 respondents had experience in strategizing. This was a multi-select item where respondents could have experience in more than one phase of the business process lifecycle. However, experience in one of the phases was acceptable. In total process

management and strategy respondents made up 37.09% where process management was 20.23% and strategy was 16.86%, respectively.

When assessing the demographic data points for company type, non-publicly traded company and publicly traded businesses had the greatest number of respondents. Out of 339 cases, non-publicly traded companies had 163 respondents and publicly traded business had 118 respondents. Respondents could only select one of the preidentified company status options. In total non-publicly and publicly traded company respondents made up 82.89% where non-publicly was 48.08% and publicly traded businesses was 34.81%, respectively.

When valuing the demographic data points for a Company's size based on employee count, small and medium enterprises had the greatest number of respondents. Out of 339 cases, 164 respondents worked in a small company and 91 respondents worked for a medium sized company. This was a single-select item where respondents would report on one US based company of which they are an employee. In total small and medium company respondents made up 75.2% where small enterprises who had under 500 employees made up 34.51% and small companies who had from 501-1000 workers made up 13.86% totaling 48.37% of respondents and medium enterprises who had 1,001-2500, 2,501-5K, and 5,001-7.5K employees made up 16.22%, 6.19%, and 4.42% totaling 26.83% of respondents, respectively.

When researching the demographic data points for employee type, full time and part time workers had the greatest number of respondents. Out of 339 cases, 318 respondents worked on a full-time basis and 20 respondents were employed part time. This was a single-select item where respondents could belong to only one employment

status. Having one employment type is acceptable. In total full time and part time workers made up 99.71% where full time was 93.81% and part time was 5.9% respectively.

When reviewing the demographic data points for age range, respondents whose age range was 30-35 and 40-45 had the greatest number of respondents. Out of 339 cases, 90 respondents fell in the age range of 30-35 years old, and 63 respondents fell in the range of 40-45 years old. Respondents could only belong to one of the age range options. Respondents falling in the lower age range may not have as much experience as the middle to upper ranges only due to the fact that they are newer to the work environment and many may not have enough professional experience. Of course, there may be outliers. The age range intentionally begins at 18 years of age for inclusivity and the fact that they could have process experience. Even though 18-25 made up about 5%, they do have valid process experience. This shows that process experience is beginning at an age that may not be taken too seriously. Young adults are entering the technical world at much young ages. In total age ranges 30-35 and 40-45 respondents made up 45.13% where 30-35 was 26.55% and 40-45 was 18.58% respectively.

When reviewing the demographic data points for gender, male and female had the largest number of respondents. Out of 339 cases, 210 were male respondents and 127 were female. Respondents could only belong to one of the gender options. In total males and female respondents made up 99.41% where males were 61.95% and females was 37.46%, respectively.

When reviewing the demographic data points for education, respondents who attained a bachelor and master degree had the greatest number of respondents. Out of 339

cases, 184 respondents had a bachelorette degree and 59 had a master de This was a single select item where respondents were forced to only select their highest degree. Having one of the common, US pre-selected degrees was acceptable. In total bachelor and master respondents made up 71.68% of respondents where bachelor degree was 54.28% and master degree holders was 17.40%, respectively.

When reviewing the demographic data points for employee to lookback on fundamental controls prior to covid-19, IT governance and general controls and business process activities had the greatest number of respondents. Out of 339 cases for business process activities, 148 respondents agreed that prior to covid-19, their department utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage business process activities and 75 respondents strongly agreed on a 7-point

Likert scale. Out of 339 cases for IT governance and general controls, 130 respondents agreed that prior to covid-19, their department utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage IT governance and general controls on a 7-point Likert scale and 78 respondents strongly agreed. From the available options, only one scale item could be selected. In total business process activities and IT governance and general controls respondents who agreed made up and average of 41% workers who says their department utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) where business process activities was 43.7% and IT governance and general controls was 38.3%, respectively. In total business process activities and IT governance and general controls respondents who strongly agreed their department utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage business process activities and IT governance and general controls respondents who strongly agreed their department utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage business process activities and IT governance and general controls respondents who strongly agreed their department utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage business process activities and IT governance and general controls respondents who strongly agreed their department utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage business process activities and IT governance and general controls made up an average of 22.5% of workers where 22.1% was business process activities and 23% for IT governance and general controls, respectively.

4.2 Data Robustness

4.2.1 Construct Reliability

Construct reliability *(see Table 7)* was determined by assessing internal consistency and quality using Cronbach's alpha, composite reliability, and average-extracted variance (AVE) (Anderson & Gerbing, 1988). Higher values generally indicate higher levels of reliability. Reliability values between 0.60 and 0.70 are considered "acceptable in exploratory research," values between 0.70 and 0.90 range from "satisfactory to good." Values of 0.95 and higher are problematic, as they indicate that the items are redundant, thereby reducing construct validity (Diamantopoulos et al., 2012;

Drolet and Morrison, 2001). According to Hair et al (2019), loadings above .70 are recommended, as they indicate that the construct explains more than 50 percent of the indicator's variance thus providing acceptable item reliability. As shown in Table 7 below, item loadings are above .70 except for one item that loaded on KAC at .685 which is acceptable. The unweighted items of Cronbach's alpha were above .80 which is higher than the recommended .70. Under composite reliability the items are weighted based on the construct indicator's individual loadings and reliability was higher than suggested .70. In review, all latent structures represent acceptable composite reliability. The calculation for AVE was above the .50 mark indicating convergent validity. The items for each latent construct converged on the appropriate construct. Overall, construct reliability for this study was more than satisfactory with no results shown to be problematic or above .95.

| Descr | iptive Statistics (1 | n=339) | | | | | | |
|-------|----------------------|---------------|----------|-------|-----------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------------------|---|
| No. | Constructs | Item Codes | Loadings | Mean | Standard Deviation | Cronbach's alpha (α) | Composite Reliability (rho_c) | Average variance extracted (AVE) |
| 1 | | BPP1 | 0.826 | 2.720 | 1.346 | | | |
| 2 | Business | BPP3 | 0.852 | 2.280 | 1.220 | | | |
| 3 | Process | BPP4 | 0.873 | 2.740 | 1.312 | 0.888 | 0.918 | 0.691 |
| 4 | Performance | BPP5 | 0.835 | 2.667 | 1.271 | | | |
| 5 | | BPP9 | 0.766 | 2.283 | 1.333 | | | |
| 6 | | ICCA1 | 0.810 | 2.440 | 1.104 | | | |
| 7 | | ICCA2 | 0.711 | 2.457 | 1.137 | | | |
| 8 | | ICCA3 | 0.807 | 2.357 | 1.075 | | | |
| 9 | . | ICCE5 | 0.733 | 2.230 | 1.190 | | | |
| 10 | Internal | ICIC1 | 0.793 | 2.360 | 1.092 | 0.932 | 0.942 | 0.597 |
| 11 | Control | ICIC2 | 0.751 | 2.322 | 1.175 | | | |
| 12 | | ICM1 | 0.729 | 2.484 | 1.156 | | | |
| 13 | | ICM2 | 0.772 | 2.546 | 1.281 | | | |
| 14 | | ICRA1 | 0.833 | 2.513 | 1.071 | | | |

Table 7: Main Study Descriptive Statistics & Reliability

| 15 | | ICRA2 | 0.784 | 2.519 | 1.173 | | | |
|----|---------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| 16 | | ICRA4 | 0.766 | 2.469 | 1.173 | | | |
| 17 | | KAC12 | 0.792 | 2.873 | 1.405 | | | |
| 18 | Knowledge | KAC13 | 0.872 | 2.634 | 1.315 | | | |
| 19 | Absorptive | KAC14 | 0.848 | 2.540 | 1.292 | 0.863 | 0.902 | 0.649 |
| 20 | Capacity | KAC5 | 0.817 | 2.487 | 1.186 | | | |
| 21 | | KAC8 | 0.685 | 2.988 | 1.548 | | | |
| 22 | | MOD4 | 0.704 | 3.130 | 1.333 | | | |
| 23 | Modulovity | MOD6 | 0.823 | 2.885 | 1.213 | 0.907 | 0.972 | 0.622 |
| 24 | woullarity | MOD7 | 0.856 | 2.681 | 1.257 | 0.007 | 0.072 | 0.032 |
| 25 | | MOD9 | 0.789 | 3.516 | 1.533 | | | |
| 26 | | OA1 | 0.844 | 2.254 | 1.193 | | | |
| 27 | | OA2 | 0.882 | 2.434 | 1.247 | | | |
| 28 | Organizational Agility | OA3 | 0.798 | 2.699 | 1.403 | 0.884 | 0.915 | 0.684 |
| 29 | righty | OA4 | 0.853 | 2.628 | 1.323 | | | |
| 30 | | OA56 | 0.753 | 2.714 | 1.300 | | | |
| 31 | Тор | TMM1 | 0.918 | 2.678 | 1.346 | | | |
| 32 | Management | TMM2 | 0.906 | 2.608 | 1.342 | 0.905 | 0.940 | 0.840 |
| 33 | Mindfulness | TMM3 | 0.926 | 2.590 | 1.306 | | | |

4.2.2 Discriminant Validity

Based on the results in **Table 8**, discriminant validity is present and has also been established and our instrument is measuring what it was designed to measure. The constructs are empirically distinct from other constructs in the structural model. The heterotrait-monotrait (HTMT) ratio of the correlations were not high according to Henseler et al. (2015). The HTMT is defined as the mean value of the item correlations across constructs relative to the (geometric) mean of the average correlations for the items measuring the same construct (Voorhees et al., 2016). The values in the table are all below.90 (Henseler et al. (2015) which offers that the constructs proposed are conceptually not similar. When the HTMT results are around the .85 threshold which is more conservative, there is conceptual distinction. The discriminant validity results are significantly different from 1.00 (Henseler et al., 2015). Under question but included in the assessment of discriminant validity, is Fornell Larker. According to Fornell and Larcker (1981), the shared variance for all model constructs should not be larger than their AVEs. The use of Fornell and Larcker is to examine the extent to which a construct is empirically distinct from other constructs in the structural model (Hair et al., 2019). Evidence in favor of "discriminant validity" occurs if the correlation is higher than other values in the same row or column. The correlations were significant at the level and was greater than other entries in its rows and columns. The shared variance for all model constructs should not be larger than their AVEs (Hair et al., 2019). This assessment is not used as much today for determining validity. Fornell Larcker, according to Henseler et al. (2015) is not used due to the fact that it shows that the criterion does not perform well, particularly when the indicator loadings on a construct differ only slightly (e.g. all the indicator loadings are between 0.65 and 0.85). However, as another tool for assessing discriminant validity, under Fornell Larker, the model would be stable or acceptable.

| I | Heterotrait-monotrait ratio (HTMT) n=339 | | | | | | | | | |
|-----|--|---------|----------|---------|-------|-----|--|--|--|--|
| | BPP | IC | KAC | MOD | OA | TMM | | | | |
| BPP | | | | | | | | | | |
| IC | 0.611 | | | | | | | | | |
| KAC | 0.519 | 0.802 | | | | | | | | |
| MOD | 0.666 | 0.721 | 0.662 | | | | | | | |
| OA | 0.612 | 0.628 | 0.725 | 0.719 | | | | | | |
| TMM | 0.685 | 0.606 | 0.670 | 0.676 | 0.622 | | | | | |
| | Fornell- | Larcker | criterio | n n=339 | | | | | | |
| | BPP | IC | KAC | MOD | OA | TMM | | | | |
| BPP | 0.831 | | | | | | | | | |
| IC | 0.572 | 0.773 | | | | | | | | |
| KAC | 0.460 | 0.720 | 0.805 | | | | | | | |

| Table 8: Main | Study | [•] Discrimin | ant Validity |
|---------------|-------|------------------------|--------------|
| | | | |

| MOD | 0.584 | 0.643 | 0.560 | 0.795 | | |
|-----|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| OA | 0.548 | 0.571 | 0.626 | 0.612 | 0.827 | |
| TMM | 0.620 | 0.558 | 0.595 | 0.586 | 0.553 | 0.917 |

4.2.3 Collinearity - Variance Inflation Factor

At this point of analysis, the measurement model is above satisfactory. For evaluating the results of the structural model, we looked at the path coefficients' statistical significance and relevance. Additionally, a review of regression equations took place to determine the relationships between the constructs of the structural model coefficients. Prior to assessing the relationships amongst constructs, an examination of collinearity was conducted via PLS-SEM's variance inflation factor (VIF) results. To have a clear view of the construct relationships, a determination of whether there is correlation between independent variables (IVs) and that the predictor variables do not express a linear relationship in the regression model. If the IVs are correlated, they cannot predict the value of the dependent variable independently in the model. The aim here is to understand how much the variance of a coefficient is inflated and if there is multicollinearity between the predictor variables in the analysis. If the VIF results are shown to have multicollinearity, the model is adversely affected. VIF values above 5 are indicative of probable collinearity issues among the predictor constructs, but collinearity problems can also occur at lower VIF values of 3-5 (Mason and Perreault, 1991; Becker et al., 2015). Ideally, the VIF values should be close to 3 and lower. The results in Table 9 show all construct values less than 3 so there are no problems of collinearity and the IVs can predict the dependent variable. If collinearity is a problem, a frequently used option is to create higher-order models that can be supported by theory (Hair et al.,

2017a). Table 9 shows the results of VIF and there will be no bias when examining the structural model.

Table 9: Main Study Collinearity

| VIF Colline | arity (n | = 339) | | | | | | | | |
|-------------|----------|--------|-------|-------|------|-------|------|-------|------|-------|
| BPP1 2.000 | | | | | | | | | | |
| BPP3 2.623 | | | | | | | | | | |
| BPP4 2.896 | | | | | | | | | | |
| BPP5 2.539 | | | | | | | | | | |
| BPP9 2.023 | | | 1 | | | | | | | |
| | ICCA1 | 2.817 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICCA2 | 1.881 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICCA3 | 2.732 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICCE5 | 1.822 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICIC1 | 2.678 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICIC2 | 2.341 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICM1 | 2.274 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICM2 | 2.470 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICRA1 | 2.788 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICRA2 | 2.446 | | | | | | | | |
| | ICRA4 | 2.303 | | | 1 | | | | | |
| | | | KAC12 | 2.049 | | | | | | |
| | | | KAC13 | 2.970 | | | | | | |
| | | | KAC14 | 2.485 | | | | | | |
| | | | KAC5 | 1.900 | | | | | | |
| | | | KAC8 | 1.432 | | | 1 | | | |
| | | | | | MOD4 | 1.459 | | | | |
| | | | | | MOD6 | 1.796 | | | | |
| | | | | | MOD7 | 1.854 | | | | |
| | | | | | MOD9 | 1.582 | | | 1 | |
| | | | | | | | OA1 | 2.422 | | |
| | | | | | | | OA_2 | 2.823 | | |
| | | | | | | | OA_3 | 1.963 | | |
| | | | | | | | OA_4 | 2.429 | | |
| | | | | | | | OA_6 | 1.706 | | |
| | | | | | | | | | TMM1 | 2.881 |
| | | | | | | | | | TMM2 | 2.760 |
| | | | | | | | | | TMM3 | 3.193 |





4.3 Hypothesis Testing

4.3.1 Total Effects - Confidence Interval, STDEV, T values, p values

SmartPLS-SEM's Bootstrapping algorithm was operationalized to test the hypotheses implied in this research. Bootstrapping is a nonparametric procedure that allows testing the statistical significance of various PLS-SEM results such as path coefficients, Cronbach's alpha, HTMT, and R² values (Efron and Tibshirani, 1986; Davison and Hinkley, 1997; Hair et.al (2022). In our study we used the settings of 5,000 subsamples drawn from the original data set, a confidence interval method for percentile bootstrap method, two-tailed tests, a .05 significance level with a fixed seed random number generator and results that includes all available bootstrapping: path coefficients,

indirect effects, total effects, outer loadings, and outer weights, AVE, Cronbach's alpha, HTMT, model fit, and R². In review of the results, we focused on the total effects between the exogenous variables and the business process performance endogenous variable. The structural equation model results from the bootstrapping is in Table 10 below.

| Relationships | β Original sample (O) | Standard deviation (STDEV) | T statistics (O/STDEV) | P values | |
|------------------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------|-----|
| Internal Controls -> Business | | | | | |
| Process Performance | 0.266 | 0.068 | 3.933 | 0.000 | *** |
| Top Management Mindfulness -> | | | | | |
| Business Process Performance | 0.361 | 0.110 | 3.267 | 0.001 | ** |
| Organizational Agility -> Business | | | | | |
| Process Performance | 0.192 | 0.067 | 2.888 | 0.004 | ** |
| Modularity -> Business Process | | | | | |
| Performance | 0.176 | 0.064 | 2.731 | 0.006 | * |
| Knowledge Absorptive Capacity - | | | | | |
| > Business Process Performance | -0.165 | 0.069 | 2.390 | 0.017 | * |

Table 10: Main Study Total Effects

*** = P<.0001; ** = P<.001; * P<.05

Upon reviewing the results from the bootstrap calculation, we find evidence of significant relationships between 'internal controls' and business process performance where 't' is equal to 3.933, p<.0001. Secondly, we found significant relationships between 'knowledge absorptive capacity' and business process performance where 't' is equal to 2.390, p<.05. In addition, we found significant relationships between 'modularity' and business process performance where 't' is equal to 2.731, p<.01. Further, we found significant relationships between organizational agility and business process performance where 't' is equal to 2.888, p<.01. Lastly, we found significant relationships between 'top management mindfulness' and business process performance

where 't' is equal to 3.267, p<.01 and equal to .001. The dependent variable increased when the independent variables increased one standard deviation and other independent variables were held constant. This held true for all exogenous variables (IC, TMM, OA, and MOD) relationships with the dependent variable, business process performance (BPP) except for knowledge absorptive capacity (KAC). Based on the KAC->BPP sample, the direct path is negative but has a significant meaningful affect that indicates the inverse of what was hypothesized. This signifies an insignificant or a false positive, weak relationship between KAC and BPP. Based on the size of the estimated path coefficients, business process performance and top management mindfulness (TMM) at .361 has the strongest relationship followed by internal controls (IC) at .266, organizational agility (OA) at .192, and modularity (MOD) at .176. These results show support for the hypotheses (H1), (H2), (H3), and (H4). However, (H5) is unsupported due to the negative path. I can conclude that there is a statistically significant probability that the relationship between the exogenous and endogenous variables exists and are not due to chance. I accept the research hypothesis and reject the null hypothesis for (H1), (H2), (H3), and (H4). For (H5), I accept the null hypothesis. A summary of hypotheses results is presented in Table 11.

| NO. | HYPOTHESIS | RESULTS | SIGNIFICANCE |
|-----|---|-----------|--------------|
| H1 | The relationship between Internal | Supported | 0.000 |
| | Controls and business process | | |
| | performance would become stronger when | | |
| | internal controls increase. | | |
| H2 | The relationship between top management | Supported | 0.001 |
| | mindfulness and business process | | |
| | performance such that top management | | |

Table 11: Main Study Summary of Hypotheses Testing

| | mindfulness increases, the relationship would become stronger. | | |
|----|--|-------------|-------|
| H3 | The relationship between organizational agility and business process performance would become stronger when organization agility is higher. | Supported | 0.004 |
| H4 | The relationship between business process modularity and business process performance would become stronger when business process modularity is higher. | Supported | 0.006 |
| H5 | The relationship between knowledge absorptive capacity and business process performance such that knowledge absorptive capacity increases, the relationship would become stronger. | Unsupported | 0.017 |

4.4 Main Study Explanatory Power & Effect Size

4.4.1 R², f², & Path Coefficients

As evident from the model, collinearity was not an issue for the model. We turn our attention to the R² value of the dependent variable, business process performance. When assessing the R² for the endogenous variable we were determining the variance explained in the business process performance construct. This was the model's explanatory power (Shmueli and Koppius, 2011). Henseler et al., (2009) and Hair et al., (2011) provided a rule of thumb for the explanatory power that says, R² ranges from 0 to 1, with higher values indicating a greater explanatory power. Furthermore, R² of .75 is substantial, .50 is considered moderate, and .25 is weak explanatory power. The main study's R² value was .508 which meant that the variance in the endogenous construct had moderate explanatory power wherein 50.8% of the variation in the dependent variable Business Process Performance is explained by the variation in the independent variables of the model. (see **Table 12**) The Adjusted R² (correction of R²) for the number of independent variables, still shows 50% predicting power. The business process performance construct had an average in-sample explanatory power.

Working in tandem with R^2 we assessed how removing specific independent variables affected our dependent variables' R² value by examining the f² effect size. The f^2 is similar to keeping a sharp eye on the path coefficient as variables are added and removed. More specifically the results for f^2 provided insight into the level of relevance the predictor variable have in explaining the dependent variable in the structural model. If you were to look at the path coefficients and compare it to the f^2 , they are similar and often the same in rank order. They were not shown to be different, so the use of f^2 to explain the presence of mediation as advised by (Nitzl et al., 2016) was not needed. As a rule of thumb, values higher than 0.02, 0.15, and 0.35 depict small, medium, and large f^2 effect sizes (Cohen, 1988). 'Top Management Mindfulness' had average relevance in explaining business process performance over the other exogenous constructs. In addition to its relevance in explaining the dependent variable, 'internal controls, organizational agility, modularity, and knowledge absorptive capacity' also had relevance at reduced power. Overall, the in-sample explanatory power of the endogenous variable had a small to medium chance of not easily being varied by additional observations. Removing a component from the structural model has a moderate chance of not changing our theories coherence. From our hypotheses testing, our hypothesis has average strength.

| R-square (R ²) | | |
|------------------------------------|----------|----------|
| | | R-square |
| | R-square | adjusted |
| BPP | 0.508 | 0.500 |
| f-square (f ²) | | |

Table 12: Main Study R² and f² results

| | f-square |
|---|----------|
| Internal Controls -> BPP | 0.057 |
| Knowledge Absorptive Capacity -> BPP | 0.022 |
| Modularity -> BPP | 0.029 |
| Organizational Agility -> BPP | 0.037 |
| Top Management Mindfulness -> BPP | 0.141 |

4.5 Main Study Predictive Power

4.5.1 Q², RMSE, & MAE

Reviewing the predictive power or accuracy for the path model, the calculation of Q^2 was executed according to Geisser, (1974) and Stone, (1977). Smart PLS software was used to carry out the blindfolding technique where single points in the data matrix were removed and represented with the mean and resulting in estimates of the model parameters. This metric was used by Rigdon, (2014b) and Sarstedt et al., (2014). Q² combines aspects of in-sample explanatory power and out-of-sample prediction (Shmueli et. al., 2016; Sarstedt et al., 2017a). The indicator items data for the dependent variable had medium to large predictive accuracy. The overall Q² value was .473 which indicated high predictive accuracy of the reflexive structural model for the business process performance construct. (see Table 13) According to Hair et. al., (2019), as a rule of thumb, Q² values higher than 0, 0.25, and 0.50 depict small, medium, and large predictive relevance of the PLS-path model.

An out-of-sample cross-validation assessment of predictive power for our PLS path model involved analysis/training samples also known as holdout samples using PLSpredict k-fold. We employed a set of procedures (Shmueli, 2016) to gain an out-ofsample prediction that served to estimate the model. Estimating the model entailed a review on analysis/training samples and assessing its predictive performance on data other than the analysis sample. Our k-fold cross-validation split the full dataset into 10 subgroups (a number of subgroups (k)) (recommended by Shmueli et. al., 2019) or data sets into 10 equally sized subgroups or subsets of data (subgroups of the total sample (fold) after which PLS predicted each fold (hold-out sample) with the remaining subgroups or sets of data (k -1) that in combination also became the training sample. The study's data set was 339 cases split into 10 equal subsets of 33.9. When executed, the PLSpredict algorithm predicted 10 times each fold with the remaining nine subsets (k -1).

For our model's predictive power, we drew on several prediction statistics that quantified the amount of prediction error. The PLS path had a mean absolute value (MAE) of .490 which measured the average magnitude of the errors in a set of predictions without considering their direction (over or under). (See Table 13) This is the average absolute difference between the predictions and the actual observations with each difference having equal weight (Hair et. al, 2019). The root mean square error (RMSE) is defined as the square root of the average of the squared differences between the predictions and the actual observations (Hair et. al., 2019). Our RMSE value is at .733. Large errors are not desirable for this business research study. We compared the RMSE (or MAE) values with the naïve linear model benchmark. A regression was run for the dependent variable indicators on the indicators for the independent variables in the PLS path model (Danks and Ray, 2018). Based on the guidelines by Shmueli et. al., (2019), the findings for business process performance model has high predictive power because none of the indicators in the PLS-SEM analysis have RMSE (or MAE) values higher than the naïve linear model (LM) benchmark when compared. Additionally, when reviewing the cross-validated predictive power for our PLS model we determined that our model

has strong predictive power and validity. This was based on the comparison of the average loss difference in the PLS path model to both the naïve indicator average and linear model prediction benchmarks.

| PLSpredict LV summary PLSpredict MV summ | | | | edict MV summa | ry | | |
|---|------------------------|-----------|----------------|----------------|--------------|-------|-------|
| | | | | PLS- | | | |
| | | | Q ² | SEM_ | PLS-SEM | LM | LM |
| | Q ² predict | | predict | RMSI | e mae | RMSE | MAE |
| Business | 0.473 | BPP | 1 0.433 | 1.017 | 0.750 | 1.031 | 0.758 |
| Process | RMSE | BPP | 3 0.289 | 1.031 | 0.724 | 1.079 | 0.751 |
| Periormance | 0.733 | BPP | 4 0.374 | 1.041 | 0.785 | 1.116 | 0.830 |
| | MAE | BPP | 5 0.295 | 1.070 | 0.796 | 1.096 | 0.819 |
| | 0.490 | BPP | 9 0.211 | 1.188 | 0.853 | 1.204 | 0.853 |
| CVPAT LV | summary | | | | | | |
| | | | Indicator | | | | |
| PLS-SEN | A vs. Indicator | | Average (IA) | | t value | p val | ue |
| Ave | rage (IA) | | loss | | | | |
| Business Pro | cess Perform | ance | -1.69 | 2 | 6.071 | 0.00 | 0 |
| PLS-SEM vs. Linear model | | Linear Mo | del | t value | m m m | | |
| | (LM) | | (LM) Loss | 5 | t value | p vai | ue |
| Business Pro | cess Perform | ance | -1.22 | 5 | 2.328 | 0.02 | 0 |

Table 13: Main Study Predictive Power

Overall, the study's measurement model metrics are satisfactory and will have strong predictive power. The assessment of the structural model shows that the independent variable (predictor constructs) in the path model did not have high collinearity and created no problems in interpreting the results of PLS-SEM. Lastly, the structural model results were evaluated based primarily on the extent to which the exogenous constructs or independent variables would predict the endogenous construct(s) or dependent variable(s). The assessment of the prediction was based on:

- The coefficient of determination R² The main study's R² value was .508 which meant that the variance in the endogenous construct had moderate explanatory power and the business process performance construct had average in-sample explanatory power.
- The effect size f², overall, had shown that the in-sample explanatory power of the endogenous variable had an average chance of not easily being varied by additional observations.
- Cross-validated redundancy Q² where the indicator items data for the dependent variable had medium to high predictive accuracy.
- The sizes and significance of the path coefficients relationships with the endogenous construct and the p-value for the hypotheses.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION, IMPLICATIONS, & CONCLUSION

5.1 Profile and Characteristics of Respondents

Three hundred and thirty-nine valid responses from workers where the majority were employed in non-publicly traded (48.08%) and publicly traded (34.81%) US companies were used in the analysis. Publicly traded companies are required to adhere to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002's Section 404 which means they would be familiar with processes that support internal controls framework. Although not generally bound, many non-publicly traded companies adhere to SOX due to the positive results on the organization's financial performance. This could also be due to the fact that non-publicly traded companies may be preparing to go public as well. An abundance of the respondents approximately 43.07% worked in the services industry for enterprises whose annual revenue was over \$1 million (19.76%) and up to \$100 million (16.52%), respectively.

Of those 339 respondents, 318 (93.81%) of them were full time which indicates that most of the participants worked for either a small (48.37%) or medium (26.83%) enterprise as determined by employee headcount. According to the SBA (2023), there are 33,185,550 small businesses in the US. Small businesses employ about 61.7 million Americans, totaling 46.4% of the private sector employees (SBA.GOV, 2023). Over half of the respondents were male (61.95% and held bachelor degrees (54.28%). Most of the participants were members of the individual contributor (42.56%) and manager (27.38%) employee levels who made up more than half of the respondents. These workers had at least 1 year of work experience related to business processes in departments such as IT, human resources, sales & marketing, legal, procurement, legal, finance, or the C-suite executive team wherein the majority were employed in IT and Sales & Marketing. This representation aligns with the 'process management' phase having the largest percentage (20.23%) for business process life cycle participation because lower-level employees in companies are supporting the process after implementation. When coupled with the 'deployment' phase (16.57%) whose tasks are mostly completed by individual contributors and managers, business process knowledge in total is a strong at 36.80%. This was a positive showing of business process knowledge. With an average of 11.50% each defining, designing, configuration, and testing phases were almost equivalent in knowledge of processes. Due to worker's participation within transactions and the process lifecycle, identifying and understanding what constitutes a process for establishing better process performance criterion for stability during normal operations or

disruption was made easier. Leader participation (executives 7.14% and senior management 5.65%) was close to the representative percentage of leaders in most US companies and there showing in this study was solid headcount that aligned with the business process lifecycle responses where 'strategy' experience (16.86%) was present which is important to business process performance stability. Realistically senior leaders are a small percentage of most company populations. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2024), in 2023, management population was 29.75% and C-Suite executives made up 8.51% and general operations managers were 6.50% of this population (Employed Persons by Detail, 2024). Being that IT (37.76%) and Sales & Marketing (21.53%) had the most respondents, these are more than likely the departments or functional areas where individual contributors like specialists, analysts, generalists, partners, administrators, engineers, developers, architects, consultants, etc. and managers and senior managers made up 59.29% of respondents respectively were a part. Over half of the respondents fell in the 30 - 45 (58.70%) age range wherein 30-35 (26.55%) was the majority age range for participants. Overall, the business process performance impact was measured by workers with appropriate knowledge of business process strategy, identification (defining), design, configuration, testing, implementation/deployment and management.

5.2 Discussion

This study's purpose was to establish the relationship of internal controls (IC), top management mindfulness (TMM), organizational agility (OA), modularity (MOD) and knowledge absorptive capacity (KAC) respectively on BPP empirically through a quantitative methodology and explore its impact on business process performance. We aimed to explain business process performance flux, interruption, or stalling and the inability of human resources to execute and manage processes through investigating specific factors and their impact on process performance. Our ambition was to answer the research question concerning the factors that affect business process performance for US enterprises during disruption. Additionally, the goal was to address the hypotheses posed that the relationship between internal controls (H1), top management mindfulness (H2), organizational agility (H3), modularity (H4), knowledge absorptive capacity (H5) and business process performance would become stronger when internal controls, top management mindfulness, organizational agility, modularity, and knowledge absorptive capacity increased. As presented in the results section, the main findings of the structural model mostly supported the conceptual model proposed. The statistical outcome for this research supports hypothesis H1 – H4 for the aforementioned factors proposed and how they positively and significantly affect business process performance. Surprisingly, H5 was unsupported.

Internal controls (H1) as a whole had the second strongest relationship with business process performance and there was good support across the elements of control activities, control environment, risk assessment, information & communication, and monitoring as measured by COSO's criterion. Utilizing an internal control framework designed to look at efficiency and effectiveness as proven by this study can definitely assess other performance types outside of financials. Based on the results, participants agreed on 11 out of the 17 items that measured internal controls with a path ending to performance resulting in a significant relationship. There was majority support for control activities, information & communications, risk assessment and monitoring. Control

environment items had support for influencing BP performance as it relates to 'commitment to integrity and ethical values' and results suggests that most of its items had shown collinearity with the 'top management mindfulness' construct.

Internal Controls is complex and contributes to business management, COSO internal controls framework, and process optimization theories because it ensures consistency, checks and balances, streamlines processes and reduces errors. Integrated Internal control systems benefits every US industry and company and increases their process performance and competitive advantage through its risk management activities. Process stability and resilience rests on the identification and mitigation of risks. From the study results, an increase in IC assures an organizations ability to adapt its processes to internal and external likelihoods which increases process performance. IC supports the resource-based view and posits that internal human resources and their capabilities are critical for checks and balances for regulatory reporting such as SOX. IC ensures roles and responsibilities are clearly defined and independent in business processes that concern financials but also holds in this research for process performance. Tangible and intangible resources are critical for process performance as well as competitive advantage.

Based on COSO (2013) framework, it could be inferred from the results that US businesses that integrate internal controls will increase their process performance when control environment, control activities, information and communication, risk assessment, and Monitoring is built within their infrastructure. Having a controlled Environment enforces integrity and ethical values which is an indication of a good environment (COSO, (2013); PwC (2019). 38.35% of respondents indicated that an environment that

demonstrated a commitment to integrity and ethical values will have a significant influence on business process performance. 41.49 % of respondents agreed that control activities have a strong impact on process performance. The data indicates that process control activities put in place by management ensures that authentic and reliable process information are carried out through workflows built on policies that establish what is expected and procedures that put policies in action. Additionally, control activities are established for the selection and development of general process activities to support the achievement of objectives. According to COSO (2013), selecting and developing controls activities to integrate contributes to the mitigation of risks for the achievement of performance objectives at acceptable levels. Also, the data suggests that information and communication elevate process performance. 39.52% of respondents agree that organizations should only use relevant, qualified information when obtained or generated to support internal process controls. Additionally, organizations should internally communicate information including objectives, stakeholder responsibilities for process controls to support functioning which is crucial for performance. The data identifies risk assessment as important to process performance. 39.72% of participants agree that organizations need to establish ways to identify risks for the achievement of objectives across the entity and ways to assess risks as a basis for determining how to manage risk or changes that could significantly impact controls, process performance and company resilience. Furthermore, US organizations with good internal controls specifies performance objectives with clarity to be able to identify and assess risks relating to those objectives. Lastly, the data shows a positive influence of monitoring on business process performance. 35.10% of respondents agree that monitoring by performing ongoing and/or separate evaluations to ascertain whether controls are functioning are signs of good internal controls. Organizations who evaluate and communicate deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible for taking corrective action, including senior management and the Board of Directors as appropriate have an effective and efficient internal control system in place. This demonstrates that there is clear separation of roles, process security measures, and corrective actions established to address performance weaknesses of business processes in the participating US companies.

The effectiveness of IC ensures there is transparency and accountability in the company and that managers act in their owner's best interests. IC help organizations achieve strategic alignment and improve overall performance. With IC in place, business process performance increases because IC ensures BP alignment with the strategic goals of the company. IC improves information quality and aids mindful leaders in timely and informed decision-making. IC is all about information accuracy and reliability which in turn supports management's mindful decision-making. The role of IC emphasizes its ability to continuously monitor and communicate whether process performance controls are present and successfully functioning and when ceased, it evaluates and communicates deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible for taking corrective action. Ongoing process improvement is facilitated by IC's monitoring and feedback. According to PwC (2019) and COSO (2013), internal controls play a critical role in supporting continuous improvement initiatives.

Previous research (Tetteh, et al. (2022) supports this study's findings as a whole overall and expanded on the individual components' significance of the relationship between performance and internal controls with control activities, control environment,

and information and communication showing significance. This result supports the fact that internal controls, the inner functions, and workings of all companies which are based on policies and procedures set in place by governmental bodies and/or company leadership has to be well understood, built in the organization's infrastructure, and operating effectively. There is high reliability that this factor is excellent for increasing business process performance.

Results from this study indicate that 34.61% of respondents believe that business process performance is significantly dependent on the mindfulness of top management (H2). The data infers that executives who mindfully make sure the organization's strategic plan identifies value from transformations will significantly impact process performance. Additionally, data suggests that mindful leaders who inform their management teams about the value of technology options before any strategic transformation change decision is made and/or who accurately anticipate transformations that are relevant to the organization, will have a positive impact on process performance. Mindfulness promotes a favorable environment to innovations and continuous improvement for business process performance, process engineering or reengineering, etc. Chesbrough (2003) and Demming, (1986) discusses and advances the importance of fostering an innovative mindset and having cognitive openness and resilience. Mindfulness enhances organizational absorptive capacity and learning capabilities by improving individuals' ability to learn from and adapt to new information. It heightens the ability of an organization to recognize the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply the knowledge for commercial ends Cohen and Levinthal (1989).

Argyris and Schon (1978) argue that organizational learning is critical for adapting to change.

According to previous research on mindfulness and resource-based theory, internal resources can be a competitive advantage for organizations fostering mindfulness if they are valuable, rare, inimitable, and non-substitutable (Barney, 1991). From the results of this study, mindful leaders can be viewed as valuable, rare, inimitable, and nonsubstitutable (VRIN) resources that enhances individual and organizational capabilities, who contributes to improved business process performance. Again, it can be inferred that mindful leaders and their considerations and involvement with business process strategies will have a positive effect on business process performance. Mindfulness reduces stress and burnout, leading to more effective and efficient business processes (Brown & Ryan, 2003; Hulsheger et al., 2013). Mindfulness as an element of IC's control environment for effectiveness and efficiency makes mindful executives paramount for combatting process performance disruption. Top management mindfulness leads us to understand that leaders being thoughtful and open to innovation but at the same time vigilant and alert to his/her surroundings as important to maintaining increased process performance for business continuity. Mindfulness practices enhance individual cognitive and emotional resources, leading to better process performance (Barney, 1991). There is high reliability that this factor is exceptional for increasing business process performance.

Another elevated relationship with business process performance is that of organizational agility. Results from this study indicate that 34.69% of respondents agree that business process performance is significantly reliant on organizational agility (H3). It can be assumed that companies with high organizational agility who capitalize on the

scalability and skillsets of their workforce will increase business process performance and possibly gain or maintain competitive advantage. Barney (1991) emphasizes the importance of firm-specific resources and capabilities in achieving competitive advantage. Agility as a resource enhances the effectiveness of business processes by enabling swift adaptation and reconfiguration (Barney, 1991). According to respondents, businesses that have the ability to respond rapidly to customers' needs, adapt production/services provisions rapidly to demand fluctuation, or cope rapidly to suppliers have organizational agility. Organizational agility, as a dynamic capability, allows firms to adapt their business processes quickly to changes in the environment (Teece et al., 1997; Eisenhardt & Martin, 2000). Further, the data shows that organizations who rapidly implement decisions to face market changes and those who see market changes as an opportunity for rapid capitalization possess agility. Teece, Pisano, and Shuen (1997) argue that dynamic capabilities are essential for achieving and sustaining competitive advantage in rapidly changing markets. Other researchers have also proposed that organizational agility affects organizational performance where agility should be included in operations and projects (Turi et al., 2023) and organizational agility as an antecedent for performance (Al-Qarelleh & Atan, (2021). According to Turi et al. (2023) and the findings of this study's results, agility should be adopted as a norm and a philosophy in organizations to boost performance and productivity. There is high reliability that organizational agility is superb for increasing business process performance.

Based on the research results, 33.26% of participants somewhat agree that there is a positive relationship between modularity and process performance. An increase in

process modularity or design increases business process performance (H4). Modular designs reduce complexity in business processes because it separates them into manageable process flows which increases performance. According to respondents, they somewhat agree their organization can easily assess the performance of a business process independently of the performance of their other processes. They are near certain that their business processes have very well-defined interfaces with their other processes. The data from respondents show employees somewhat agree that there is no ambiguity in executing a business process. Lastly, respondents sort of agree that their organizations technologies, rules, and procedures of a business process are stable. Although not a firm 'agree', survey participants show some confidence in their organizations process modularity which the data show translates into positive impact on process performance.

Previous researchers have also proposed that modular design in processes improves process performance (Dumas et al. 2008; Tu et al.,2004). Process modularity increases performance when processes are loosely coupled or can be independent of other processes if necessary in normal or turbulent times. Process modularity strengthens performance if processes can be separated, but, easily reconfigured into new processes, which contributes to business process performance withstanding disruption. Studies highlight how modularity simplifies complex processes, making them more manageable and improving overall performance (Simon, 1962; Baldwin & Clark, 2000). Modularization makes troubleshooting, process management, and process optimization easier because it removes complexity and lack of complexity is crucial for effective operations. Studies indicate that modular processes enhance organizational agility and flexibility, allowing firms to respond rapidly to market changes and technological

advancements (Sanchez & Mahoney, 1996; Eisenhardt & Martin, 2000). Additionally, research shows that modularity helps organizations to use their resources more efficiently and effectively for sustained competitive advantage (Barney, 1991; Grant, 1996). There is high reliability that business process modularity is excellent for increasing business process performance.

The significant relationship between knowledge absorptive capacity and business process performance (H5) is notable from the results. 33.39% of respondents agree that organizations with employees who can link existing knowledge with new insights and who have employees who relate information beyond their organization's industry will positively impact process performance. Also, the data reflects organizations who support the development of prototypes, and/or who regularly adapts technologies in accordance with new knowledge or has the ability to work more effectively by adopting new technologies will heighten process performance.

Absorptive capacity enhances the firm's ability to utilize its knowledge resources effectively, leading to improved business process performance (Barney, 1991; Grant, 1996; Kogut & Zander, 1992; Zahra & George, 2002). High absorptive capacity suggests improvement of business processes and overall performance because KAC facilitates the acquisition, assimilation, transformation, and exploitation of knowledge of processes. Thus it was surprising that the findings did not confirm that knowledge assimilation and application increase process performance. Because according to Shahzad et. al (2020) and Tseng (2014), knowledge management and knowledge acquisition is a pivotal tool for employees to collaborate and ensure consistent improvement in all departments of the

organization to enhance performance. Based on study results, knowledge absorptive capacity is has a negative effect on business process performance.

5.3 Implications

5.3.1 Theoretical

Our study presents an empirical model that consists of the factors leading to higher business process performance. This study encourages scholars to specifically focus on internal controls, top management mindfulness, organizational agility, and modularity as a foundational element to business process performance. The findings that modularity increases process performance aligns with the resource-based view (RBV) and the internal controls framework. Understanding the impact of modularization on performance offers scholars an additional factor to consider when establishing process performance criterion. Modularity in business processes lines up with the resource-based view of the organization and, emphasizes that internal resources and capabilities are critical for achieving competitive advantage. By modularizing processes, organizations can better leverage their unique resources and capabilities to enhance performance. Barney's (1991) research shows that modularity aids organizations with utilizing their resources more efficiently and effectively which contributes to sustained competitive advantage.

The results from this study contributes to research on alternative performance indicators (i.e. internal controls, top management mindfulness, organizational agility, and business process modularity) and their operationalization with respect to evaluating the organization's work routines and extends the current understanding of those alternative factors and their effect on process performance which provides valuable insights for academia (Van Looy & Shafagatova, 2016). Such a view has been largely lacking. Business process management theory promotes accountability and transparency within processes to ensure that roles and responsibilities are clear and actions are traceable. Moreover, scholars can use internal controls as an empirical tool to examine an organization's work routines on performance because IC establishes clear accountability through documentation and reporting mechanisms. BPM's transparency helps in tracking process performance and ensures that individuals are responsible for their actions, reinforcing internal controls framework and business process management's principles of clear governance and accountability.

This research extends the existing knowledge of organizational performance based primarily on financial performance by examining and evaluating a conceptual framework that incorporates internal control elements to assess business process performance. Internal controls align well with the principles of Business Continuity (BC), which focuses on ensuring that an organization can continue to operate during and after a disruption. A core aspect of Business Continuity ensures that business processes are reliable and can continue during disruptions. Internal control systems enhance the reliability of processes by establishing consistent procedures and controls that ensure processes are performed correctly. This reliability ensures that critical operations can continue smoothly even during disruptions, supporting BC's goal of maintaining process continuity. Business functions to ensure operational continuity. Internal control systems provide a framework for identifying and managing risks through continuous monitoring and control activities. This proactive approach to risk management aligns with business continuity principles by helping to prevent disruptions and ensuring that potential issues are addressed before they impact operations.

We further extend the existing knowledge and literature by examining and evaluating the relationship of mindfulness on performance. The findings from this study provide support to literature, highlighting the cognitive abilities of leaders (mindfulness) being key factors for leaders to create an appropriate climate for business process transformation and business process performance criteria development. By promoting selfawareness and personal responsibility, mindfulness helps individuals take greater ownership of their roles and tasks within processes. This aligns with BPO's principle of clear accountability, ensuring that processes are managed effectively. The principle emphasizes clear ownership and accountability for processes to ensure responsibility for process performance. While this underlying logic is suggested in the literature on mindfulness and process performance, more insights are needed. Regardless of the recent attention from researchers, the links between mindfulness and performance have scarcely been studied (King & Haar, 2017).

The findings from this study provide support to literature, accenting the role of organizational agility and its impact on business process performance. Agility enables organizations to quickly adapt their end-to-end processes in response to changing customer needs and market conditions. This ability to rapidly adjust and optimize processes ensures that the organizations continue to deliver high value to customers, supporting the core objective of business process orientation (BPO). The business process orientation principle emphasizes managing business processes from end to end, ensuring that all activities contribute to delivering value to the customer. Process-orientation is a

matter of mastering a whole range of techniques and principles in order to improve business processes and organizational performance (Willaert et al., 2007). This theory's principles require processes to be flexible and adaptable to accommodate changes and uncertainties in the business environment and requires focus on managing and improving processes to enhance overall performance. Organizational agility directly supports this principle by enabling processes to be quickly reconfigured or scaled to meet new demands or challenges. The organizational flexibility supports internal control framework ensuring that the organization can maintain efficient and effective operations despite changing conditions.

By understanding the aforementioned theoretical implications, researchers can better appreciate the critical role of internal controls, top management mindfulness, organizational agility, and business process modularity in enhancing business process performance and overall organizational effectiveness. Leveraging the internal controls framework can guide the development of more effective control systems and support continuous improvement efforts. This study's results and insights can initiate dialogue for the development of strategies to cultivate mindfulness within the workforce enhancing communication and collaboration between management and workers for improved performance and competitiveness. These theoretical inferences can guide the development of strategies to cultivate organizational agility allowing academics to leverage organizational agility for improvement of business process performance and competitiveness. Internal controls strengthen an organizations ability to utilize knowledge effectively which can lead to improved process performance. The results assert that resources at all times need to be on value recognition alert for new information and laws

that could upend processes. Additionally, organizations can use business process orientation and management theoretical perspectives to guide the development of modular process strategies and support efforts to optimize organizational design and resource utilization.

5.3.2 Practical

The practical value of this research lays in its relevance for organizations wanting to determine factors affecting their organizational process performance. Our findings provide empirical insights into the initial development steps toward increased and stable business process performance. From a managerial perspective, the findings are significant as organizations need to focus on the constructs affecting process performance and the organization's strategy, approach, resources, and activities that will bring the necessary change needed for their business processes to achieve better business process performance. We provided an in-depth characterization of internal controls and key elements used to ultimately improve process performance. We provided insight into process modularization, organizational agility, and mindfulness and its impact on process performance.

Findings suggest that by incorporating internal controls organizations can have increased financial and process performance. Research has shown a direct correlation between strong internal controls and improved financial performance metrics (PwC, 2019). The significance of the relationship between IC and business process performance, (*when IC is integrated*) can affect how businesses design their business processes, implement processes, manage their processes, and establish and analyze process performance metrics. IC empowers employees by providing guidelines and expectations leading productivity. Additionally, when IC provides a clear framework for roles and responsibilities, employee engagement is enhanced. With an IC system (ICS), businesses will be able to streamline their operation by reducing inefficiencies, preventing errors, and ensuring consistency improving its operational competence. This study empirically examined the COSO framework for internal controls and concluded that IC should be linked to the overall effectiveness and efficiency of process performance in corporations. A strong ICS reduces the risk of legal penalties and reputational damage when businesses meet compliance with relevant laws, regulations, and industry standards. Research has shown that IC leads to improved operational efficiency & effectiveness and reduced operational costs (COSO, 2013; PwC, 2019). Companies can properly align their processes using internal controls mechanisms via Sarbanes Oxley criteria. As supported in previous research, compliance with regulatory requirements is significantly enhanced by effective internal controls.

Study results indicate that top management's mindfulness and its relationship with business process performance can have an impact on organizational management and employee behavior. Mindfulness increases cognitive functions like clarity of thought and it regulates emotions. This aspect of mindfulness leads to better decision-making which in turn results in effectiveness and efficient business processes and establishment of performance indicators. Studies by Dane and Brummel (2014) and Reb, Narayanan, and Chaturvedi (2014) indicate that mindfulness improves decision-making by reducing cognitive biases and enhancing attention to detail. Previous research by Hulsheger et al. (2013) and Reb et al. (2014) indicate that mindfulness improves interpersonal
relationships and teamwork, contributing to smoother and more efficient business processes.

Practical implications of a significant relationship between organizational agility and business process performance impacts market responsiveness, employee productivity, operational efficiency, and business process orientation and management. Organizational agility allows businesses to respond to customer demands and market dynamics. Organizational agility improves the organization's ability to eliminate unnecessary steps and adjust processes and strategies in real-time which increases business process performance. Organizational agility supports a work environment that promotes mastery and purpose and this elevates employee engagement and productivity contributing positively to business processes and performance overall. Studies by McKinsey and other sources indicate that agile transformations lead to significant improvements in employee engagement and productivity, which directly impact business process efficiency (McKinsey, 2021; Van Looy and Shafagatova (2016); Turi et al. (2023)). Previous studies confirm that agile organizations are more innovative, which directly contributes to better business process performance (Shahul Hameed et al., 2022; Turi et al., 2023). Organizational agility has been proven to positively influence business process performance.

This study and earlier research show that you can increase business process performance by modularizing business processes. Through modularizing or isolating different components, businesses can improve their resource allocation. Modularity ensures that resources are used efficiently and effectively enhancing overall business process performance. Studies show that modularity supports better resource utilization

and process optimization, leading to improved business performance (Baldwin & Clark, 2000; Ulrich, 1995). Modularity allows organizations to adapt to internal and external changes by modifying, replacing, or integrating modules without disrupting an entire process. Prior research indicates that modular processes enhance organizational flexibility and adaptability, allowing firms to respond rapidly to market changes and technological advancements (Sanchez & Mahoney, 1996; Eisenhardt & Martin, 2000). A significant function of modularity is easily scaling processes up and down. The scalability allows organizations to adjust their operations for growth, market fluctuations, to meet changing environmental needs or demands. Modularity makes the workforce, processes, and resource allocation more efficient and effective increasing business process performance. Modularity is essential for effective business process management as well as process performance efficiency.

By understanding the above-mentioned practical implications, organizations can leverage internal controls to enhance business process performance, leading to more efficient, compliant, and resilient operations. Organizations can implement mindfulness training and practices to enhance business process performance, leading to improved decision-making, focus, adaptability, employee well-being, collaboration, and innovation. These practical inferences can allow managers to consider and leverage organizational agility for improvement of business process performance, leading to more responsive, efficient, innovative, and resilient operations. Lastly, organizations can leverage business process modularity to enhance performance, flexibility, and innovation while managing

risks and optimizing resource allocation leading to better business process performance and overall organizational success.

5.4 Limitations & Future Considerations

Our study has several limitations that provide opportunities for further research. This study is limited to the extent that only US businesses participated because of the US SOX laws. Just as non-publicly traded companies uphold SOX and are not required, an understanding of businesses who may operate in other countries but subscribe to SOX 404 is unexplored. Further, when conducting a technical study of this importance, possibly selecting one or two targeted small or medium enterprises in a specific industry for an initial longitudinal approach would suffice for a deeper dive via industry. We encourage scholars to examine our findings in other contexts and to extend or modify them as appropriate. Additionally, the study could have been stronger if there was time allowed to repetitiously conduct informed pilots and subsequent drafts of the survey instrument items with time to uncover and determine the best indicators for constructs. I believe there are many more constructs to be added to the list of factors that impact process performance like environmental uncertainty, regulatory agencies, and many others.

Future research could focus on the individual dimensions of internal controls on business process performance with a mediating role of environmental uncertainty. Future studies could consider isolating cross-functional or matrixed working relationships to see a different perspective on process performance. Technically, workers can work for more than one company where they may achieve process experience from a different department from the other job which could in turn offer more perspective. Lastly,

consider a mixed research study to conduct interviews on performance and based on the results of the longitudinal study, conduct a quantitative study.

Although research shows that firms with higher absorptive capacity are better at integrating new knowledge into decision-making processes, leading to better strategic outcomes (Volberda, Foss, & Lyles, 2010; Cohen & Levinthal, 1990), (H5) was unsupported. Additionally, while studies indicate that absorptive capacity significantly boosts innovation by enabling organizations to incorporate external knowledge and ideas into their processes (Zahra & George, 2002; Lane, Koka, & Pathak, 2006), KAC had the opposite effect on process performance. Even though research suggests that absorptive capacity leads to more efficient use of resources by integrating external knowledge into internal processes (Lichtenthaler, 2009; Van den Bosch, Volberda, & de Boer, 1999), there was no support for (H5). Lastly, though studies demonstrate that absorptive capacity improves cross-functional collaboration, essential for effective business process management (Jansen, Van Den Bosch, & Volberda, 2005; Zahra & George, 2002), (H5) was unsupported. Unexpectedly from this study, KAC showed unsupported which was astonishing. However, if executed separately from the other independent variable results are significant with a strong path. KAC should definitely be explored when assessing the strength of business process performance. We suggest additional research for future studies.

5.5 Conclusion

This study investigated how business process performance was affected by internal controls, organizational agility, business process modularity, top management mindfulness, and knowledge absorptive capacity constructs respectively. The data found that the previously mentioned factors had a significant, positive effect on process performance, except for knowledge absorptive capacity. The data suggested that hypothesis H1 -H4 were supported and confirmed the positive and significant relationship of the exogenous variables (IC, TMM, OA, and MOD) on business process performance. Based on the results from this research, when evaluating business process performance efficiency and effectiveness and its importance for continuous operations, four additional factors have been identified for an increase of performance. This study contributes and discloses an internal controls framework that can be used to initiate internal conversations between leaders and amongst departments and teams about the innerworkings of their functional areas, roles and responsibilities for process support, and important factors that may need to be addressed to maintain or increase business process performance. In order to determine business process performance, organizations need to identify those processes through functional discussions or working sessions before the next crisis. Additionally, the finding suggests usage of an internal controls framework to understand organizational processes based on procedures, policies, laws etc. for strategic process improvement initiatives. This study contributed four additional factors that increased business process performance. This research adds to extant literature focused on process performance and the additional factors that influence process performance.

The prerequisite to establishing performance measures is the discovering, defining, and documenting of processes. Only then, performance requirements on business processes can be specified by means of Process Performance Indicators (PPIs) with target values that must be reached in a certain period (Del-Rio-Ortega et al., (2010); (Tinnila, M. (1995). An important aspect in the business process management is the

lifecycle that includes the evaluation of business processes performance, since it helps organizations to define and measure progress towards their goals (Del-Rio-Ortega et al., 2010). After all critical processes have been identified and defined, ultimately, a process portfolio, for example, can consist of different delivery processes applied in the organization.

REFERENCES

2023 AlixPartners Disruption Index: Growth Leaders. (n.d.). Retrieved July 11, 2023, from https://disruption.alixpartners.com/

A

- Abiodun, E. A. (2020). *Internal control procedures and firm's performance*. International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research, 9(2), 6407-6415.
- Abranovic, W. A. (1997). *Statistical thinking and data analysis methods for managers*. Addison-Wesley Longman Publishing Co., Inc..
- Agyapong, K. E. (2017). Internal control activities as a tool for financial management in the public sector: A case study of Ghana post company limited. https://core.ac.uk/download/189486138.pdf
- Al-Matari, E. M., Al-Swidi, A. K., & Faudziah, H. B. F. (2014). The effect on the relationship between board of directors characteristics on firm performance in Oman: Empirical Study. Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research, 21(3), 556-574.
- Al-Qaralleh & R. E., Atan, T. (2021). Impact of knowledge-based HRM, business analytics and agility on innovative performance: Linear and FsQCA findings from the hotel industry. Kybernetes, Vol. 51 No. 1, 2022 pp. 423-441. Emerald Publishing Limited 0368-492X. DOI 10.1108/K-10-2020-0684
- Alegre, J., and Sard, M. (2015). *When demand drops and prices rise: Tourist packages in the Balearic Islands during the economic crisis.* Tourism Management 46, 375-385.

- Alfaadhel et al., 2023) Alfaadhel, A., Almomani, I., & Ahmed, M. (2023). *Risk-based cybersecurity compliance assessment system (RC2AS)*. Advances in Cybersecurity: Challenges and Solutions. Appl. Sci. 2023, 13(10), 6145. https://doi.org/10.3390/app13106145
- Alfadhel, A. M. A., Bin, M. S., & Kassim, D. A. B. A. (2024). Internal Decision Factors, Strategic decision effectiveness and resistance to change in KSA universities.
 International Journal of Academic Research in Business And Social Sciences, Vol 14, Issue 4, (2024) E-ISSN: 2222-6990. DOI:10.6007/IJARBSS/v14-i4/21142
- Alreck, P. L., & Settle, R. B. (1995). *The survey research handbook: Guidelines and strategies for conducting a survey*. McGraw-Hill / Irwin Professional Pub., c1995, 2nd ed, ISBN 0256103216 and 0786303581. https://lccn.loc.gov/94007619
- Altizer, C. (2017). *Mindfulness: performance, wellness or fad?*. Emerald Publishing Limited, VOL. 16 NO. 1 2017, pp. 24-31. ISSN 1475-4398. DOI 10.1108/SHR-10-2016-0093
- Anderson, C. R., & Zeithaml C. P. (1984). *Stage of the product life cycle, business strategy, and business performance*. Acad. Management J. 27(1) 5–24.
- Argyris, C., & Schon, D. A. (1978). Organizational learning: A theory of action perspective. Addison-Wesley.

Aydiner, A. S., Tatoglu, E., Bayraktar, E., and Zaim, S. (2019). Information system capabilities and firm performance: Opening the black box through decision-making performance and business-process performance. International Journal of Information Management, 47, 168–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.12.015

- Babakus, E., & Mangold, W. G. (1992). An empirical assessment of the SERVQUAL scale. Journal of Business Research, Volume 24, Issue 3, 1992, Pages 253-268, ISSN 0148-2963, https://doi.org/10.1016/0148-2963(92)90022-4.
- Baldwin, C., & Clark, K. (1997). Managing in an age of modularity. Harvard Business Review, 75(5): 84-93.
- Baldwin, C. Y., & Clark, K. B. (2000). *Design rules: The power of modularity*. Cambridge MA: MIT Press.
- Baldwin, C. Y., & Clark, K. B. (2006). Where do transactions come from? A network design perspective on the theory of the firm. Harvard NOM Working Paper 06-12. http://ssrn.com/abstract=901790.
- Baldwin, C. Y., & Clark, K. B. (2006). Architectural innovation and dynamic competition: The smaller "footprint" strategy. Harvard Business School, Boston, MA.
- Barney, J., 1991. Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. Journal of Management, 99-120, 17:1. DOI 10.1177/014920639101700108. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/014920639101700108
- Barney, J. B., & Wright, P. M. (1998). On becoming a strategic partner: The role of human resources in gaining competitive advantage. Human Resource
 Management: Published in Cooperation with the School of Business
 Administration, The University of Michigan and in alliance with the Society of Human Resources Management, 37(1), 31-46.

- Barney, J., Wright, M., & Ketchen, D. J. (2001). The resource-based view of the firm: Ten years after 1991. Journal of Management, 27(6), 625-641. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920630102700601
- Bayraktar, E., Demirbag, M., Koh, S. L., Tatoglu, E., & Zaim, H. (2009). A causal analysis of the impact of information systems and supply chain management practices on operational performance: Evidence from manufacturing SMEs in Turkey. International Journal of Production Economics, 122(1), 133-149.
- BCI Good Practice Guidelines 2013, quoted in Mid Sussex District Council, Business Continuity Policy Statement, published April 2018, accessed 19 February 2021. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mid_Sussex_District_Council; https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/business-licensing/business-continuity/
- Becker, J. M., Ringle, C. M., Sarstedt, M., & Völckner, F. (2015). *How collinearity affects mixture regression results*. Marketing letters, 26, 643-659.
- Benner, M. J. 2002. *Process management and technological innovation: A longitudinal study of the photography and paint industries.* Admin. Sci. Quart. 47(4) 676–706.
- Bernhard, Peter, Zoltan, & Maria-Luise (2006)
- Bernhard, Peter, Zoltan, & Maria-Luise (2006)
- Bhatti, S. H., Vorobyev, D., Zakariya, R., & Christofi, M. (2020). Social capital, knowledge sharing, work meaningfulness and creativity: Evidence from the Pakistani pharmaceutical industry. JIC, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print). https://doi.org/10.1108/JIC-02-2020-0065.
- Bhatti, S. H., Zakariya, R., Vrontis, D., Santoro, G., & Christofi, M. (2020). *High*performance work systems, innovation, and knowledge sharing: An empirical

analysis in the context of project-based organizations. ER, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print). https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-10-2019-0403.

- Bhatti, S.H., Santoro, G., Khan, J., & Rizzato, F. (2021). *Antecedents and consequences* of business model innovation in the IT industry. J. Bus. Res. 2021, 123, 389–400.
- Bode, Christoph, et al. (2011). Understanding responses to supply chain disruptions: insights from information processing and resource dependence perspectives. The Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 54, No. 4, 2011, pp. 833–56. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23045114. Accessed 17 Apr. 2022.
- Boritz, J. E., Hayes, L., & Lim, J. H. (2013). A content analysis of auditors' reports on IT internal control weaknesses: The comparative advantages of an automated approach to control weakness identification. International Journal of Accounting Information Systems, 14(2), 138-163.
- Boudreau and Ramstad (2002, 2003)
- Boudreau, J. W. (2003). Sustainability and the talentship paradigm: Strategic human resource management beyond the bottom line.
- Boudreau, J. W. (2003). Strategic Knowledge Measurement and Management. II In SE Jackson, M Hitt, and AS DeNisi (eds.), Managing Knowledge for Sustained Competitive Advantage. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass/Pfeiffer, pp. 360-396.

Boudreau, J.W. & De Cieri, H. (2003). *Global human resource metrics*. In J.E.Edwards, J.C. Scott, and N.S Raju (eds.) The Human Resources ProgramEvaluation Handbook. Sage Publications.

- Boudreau, J.W., Dunford, B. B., & Ramstad, P. M. (2001). *The human capital impact on ebusiness: The case of encyclopedia Britannica*. In N. Pal & J.M. Ray (Eds.)
 Pushing the Digital Frontier, Chapter 10, pp. 192-221. New York: Amacom.
- Boudreau, J.W., Hopp, W., McClain, J.O., & Thomas, L.J. (2002). On the interface between operations and human resources management. Manufacturing and Service Operations Management.
- Boudreau, J. W., Ramstad, P. M., & Dowling, P. J. (2003). Global talentship: Toward a decision science connecting talent to global strategic success. In Advances in global leadership (Vol. 3, pp. 63-99). Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- Boudreau, J.W. & Ramstad, P.M. (2003a). Strategic HRM measurement in the 21st century: From justifying HR to strategic talent leadership. In HRM in the 21st Century, Marshall Goldsmith, Robert P. Gandossy & Marc S. Efron (eds.), 79-90. New York: John Wiley
- Boudreau, J.W. & Ramstad, P.M. (2003b). Strategic I/O psychology and the role of utility analysis models. In W. Borman, D. Ilgen, and R. Klimoski (eds.).
 Handbook of Psychology, (Vol. 12, "Industrial and Organizational Psychology", Chapter 9, 193-221). New York: Wiley.
- Bouwman, H., Nikou, S., & de Reuver, M. (2019). Digitalization, business models, and SMEs: How do business model innovation practices improve performance of digitalizing SMEs? Telecommunication Policy, 43(9), 101828. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2019.101828.

- Braz, R.G.F., Scavarda, L.F., Martins, R.A. (2011), *Reviewing and improving* performance measurement systems: An action research. The International Journal of Production Economics, 133, 751-760.
- Vom Brocke, J., & Mendling, J. (2016). Business process management cases–learning from real-world experience. BPTrends Column, Class Notes, 1-10.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 84(4), 822-848.
- Bruwer, J. P., Coetzee, P., & Meiring, J. (2018). Can internal control activities and managerial conduct influence business sustainability? A South African SMME perspective. Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development, 25(5), 710– 729. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-11-2016-0188
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2024). *Current Population Survey Labor Force Statistics Employed Persons by Detailed occupation, sex, race, and Hispanic or Latino ethnicity*. Date accessed: 05-19-2024. (https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat11.htm)
- Burke, J. A., Polimeni, R. S., & Basile, A. (2020). *Mandatory examinations or audits of quality control assurance systems*. The CPA Journal, 90(3), 42–47.
- Business Continuity Management Institute http://www.bcm-institute.org/ and https://www.bcmpedia.org/wiki/Disruption
- Business Functional Processes Lean Six Sigma Green Belt—OpenCampus. (2023, February 28). GreyCampus. https://www.greycampus.com/opencampus/lean-sixsigma-green-belt/business-functional-processes/

Business process. (2023). In Wikipedia.

https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Business_process&oldid=1157997368

Butler, B., Gray, P. H., (2006). Reliability, Mindfulness, and Information Systems. MIS Quarterly 30 (2):211-224. DOI: 10.2307/25148728

C

Camison, C. & Fores, B. (2010). Knowledge absorptive capacity: New insights for its conceptualization and measurement. Journal of Business Research, Volume 63, Issue 7, 2010, Pages 707-715, ISSN 0148-2963, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2009.04.022.

(https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0148296309001477)

- Campagnolo, D., & Camuffo, A. (2010). The concept of Modularity in Management
 Studies: A Literature Review. International Journal of Management Reviews.
 VOL. 12, No. 3, pp.259-283
- Campanelli, A. S., & Parreiras, F. S. (2015). *Agile methods tailoring A systematic literature review*. Journal of Systems and Software, 110, 85-100.
- Cegarra-Navarro, J.-G., Soto-Acosta, P., & Wensley, A. K. P. (2016). Structured knowledge processes and firm performance: The role of organizational agility.
 Journal of Business Research, 69(5), 1544-1549.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2023). *Covid Data Tracker*. https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#datatracker-home
- Cerullo, V., Cerullo, M. J. (2004). *Business continuity planning: A comprehensive approach*. Information Systems Management. Volume 21, Pages 70 78

- Chan, F.T., & Qi, H.J. (2003). Feasibility of performance measurement system for supply chain: A process-based approach and measures. Integrated Manufacturing Systems, 14, 179-190.
- Charoensukmongkol, P. (2019). Contributions of mindfulness to improvisational behavior and consequences on business performance and stress of entrepreneurs during economic downturn. Organization Management Journal, Vol. 16 No. 4, pp. 209-219, DOI: 10.1080/15416518.2019.1661820.
- Chesbrough, H. W. (2003). *Open innovation: The new imperative for creating and profiting from technology*. Harvard Business School Press.
- Chesbrough, H., Rosenbloom, R. (2002). *The role of the business model in capturing value from innovation: Evidence from Xerox corporation's technology spin-off companies.* For. Ind., 11 (2002), pp. 529-555.
- Christofi, M., Vrontis, D., Thrassou, A., & Shams, S. M. R. (2019). Triggering technological innovation through cross-border mergers and acquisitions: A micro-foundational perspective. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 146, 148-166.
- Cronbach, L.J., & Gleser, G. (1965). *Psychological tests and personnel decisions*. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press.
- Chung, H. K., Chong, Lee H., & Jung, H. K. (1997). Korean Management: Global Strategy and Cultar Transformation. New York: de Gruyter.
- CMMI (2002). *Capability maturity model integration version 1.1*. Carnegie Mellon Software Institute, Pittsburgh, PA.

- Cochran, W. G. (1954). Some methods for strengthening the common x2 tests. Biometrics 10, 417-451.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. (2nd Ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Cohen, W. M., & Levinthal, D. A. (1989). Innovation and learning: The two faces of R&D. The Economical Journal. VOL. 99. ISS 397. Pg. 569-596. SN 0013-0133. https://doi.org/10.2307/2233763
- Cohen, W. M., & Levinthal, D. A. (1990). Absorptive capacity: A new perspective on learning and innovation. Administrative Science Quarterly, 35(1), 128-152. https://doi.org/10.2307 /2393553.
- Collins, C. J., and Ken G. Smith (2006). *Knowledge exchange and combination: The role* of human resource practices in the performance of high-technology firms.
 Academy of Management Journal, 49, 544-560.
- Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) (1992). Internal control-integrated framework, VOL. 2. New York, NY.
- Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). (1994), Internal control-integrated framework. Two-Volume edition, 4-50.
- Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) (2013). Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. U.S.: Internal Control - integrated framework.
- Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) (2014). Improving organizational performance and governance: How the COSO frameworks can help. Jersey City.

Connelly, L. M. (2008). Pilot studies. Medsurg nursing, 17(6), 411.

Cox III, E. P. (1980). *The optimal number of response alternatives for a scale: A review.* Journal of marketing research, 17(4), 407-422.

D

- Daft, R. 1983. Organization theory and design. New York: West.
- Daft, R. L. and A. Y. Lewin (1993). Where are the theories of the "new" organizational forms? An editorial essay. Organization Science, 4 (4), pp. ivi.
- Dane, E., & Brummel, B. J. (2014). *Examining workplace mindfulness and its relations to job performance and turnover intention*. Human Relations, 67(1), 105-128.
- Danks, N. P., & Ray, S. (2018). Predictions from partial least squares models. In
 Applying partial least squares in tourism and hospitality research (pp. 35-52).
 Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Davenport, T.H., (1993). Process innovation Reengineering work through information technology. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, MA, 1993.
- Davenport, T.H. and Short, J.E. (1990). The new industrial engineering: Information technology and business process redesign. Sloan Management Review, Vol. 31
 No. 4, Summer 1990, pp. 11-27.
- Davison, A. C., & Hinkley, D. V. (1997). Bootstrap methods and their application (No. 1). Cambridge university press.
- Del-Rio-Ortega, A., Resinas, M., & Ruiz-Cortes, A. (2010). *Defining process performance indicators: An ontological approach*. In R. Meersman, T. Dillon, & P. Herrero (Eds.), On the Move to Meaningful Internet Systems: OTM 2010 (pp. 555–572). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-16934-2_41

Deloitte Insights, (2023). Enhancing internal controls to improve risk management. Deloitte Development. chromeextension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www2.deloitte.com/conten t/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/us_Enterprise_Risk_Management_Series_Article2_ WhiteBackground FINAL.pdf

Deming, W. E. (1986). Out of the crisis. MIT Press.

Devlin, S. J., Dong, H. K., & Brown, M. (1993). *Selecting a scale for measuring quality*. Marketing research, 5(3).

Diamantopoulos, A., Sarstedt, M., Fuchs, C., Wilczynski, P., & Kaiser, S. (2012). Guidelines for choosing between multi-item and single-item scales for construct measurement: A predictive validity perspective. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 40, 434-449.

- Dillman, D. A. (2007). *Mail and internet surveys: The tailored design method*. John Wiley Sons Inc.
- Disruption—BCMpedia. A Wiki Glossary for Business Continuity Management (BCM) and Disaster Recovery (DR). (n.d.). Retrieved July 3, 2023, from https://www.bcmpedia.org/wiki/Disruption
- Dowdell, T. D., Klamm, B. K., & Andersen, M. L. (2020). *Internal controls and financial statement analysis*. Journal of Theoretical Accounting Research, 15(2), 34–57.
- Drolet, A. L., & Morrison, D. G. (2001). *Do we really need multiple-item measures in service research?*. Journal of service research, 3(3), 196-204.
- Dumas, M., La Rosa, M., Mendling, J., & Reijers, H. A. (2013). Fundamentals of business process management. Springer. Berlin

- Dumas, M. R. and M. -C. Shan (Eds.). *BPM 2008*, LNCS 5240, pp. 20–35, 2008. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2008
- Dyer J. (1998). Interorganizational learning, barriers to intra-firm knowledge transfers, and competitive advantage. Wharton School working paper. University of Pennsylvania.
- Dyer, L. & Ericksen, J. (2005). In pursuit of marketplace agility: Applying precepts of self-organizing systems to optimize human resource scalability. Human Resource Management, 44: 183-188.

E

- Efron, B., & Tibshirani, R. (1986). Bootstrap methods for standard errors, confidence intervals, and other measures of statistical accuracy. Statistical science, 54-75.
- Eisenhardt, K. M., & Martin, J. A. (2000). *Dynamic capabilities: What are they?* Strategic Management Journal, 21(10-11), 1105-1121.
- Eko, S., & Hariyanto, E. (2011). Relationship between internal control, internal audit, and organization commitment with good governance: Indonesian case.
 Managerial Auditing Journal, 32(5), 6–13.
- Elbashir, M. Z., Collier, P. A., & Davern, M. J. (2008). Measuring the effects of business intelligence systems: The relationship between business process and organizational performance. International Journal of Accounting Information Systems, 9(3), 135–153.
- Eniola, O. J., & Akinselure, O.P. (2016). Effect of internal control on financial performance of firms in Nigeria: A study of selected manufacturing firms. Journal of Business and Management, 18(10), 80-85.

- Eniola A.A., & Entebang H. (2015). Government Policy and Performance of Small and Medium Business Management. International Journal Academy Resources, Business Social Sciences 5(2), 237-248.
- Enis, P., & Geisser, S. (1974). *Optimal predictive linear discriminants*. The Annals of Statistics, 403-410.
- Etengu, R. O., & Amony, M. (2016). Internal control system and financial performance in non-governmental organizations in Uganda: A case study of international union for conservation of nature. International Journal of Contemporary Applied Sciences, 3(2), 1308-1365.

F

- Feitzinger, E., & Lee, H. L. (1997). Mass customization at Hewlett Packard: the power of postponement. Harvard Business Review, 75(1), 116-122.
- Feng, M., Li, C., & McVay, S. (2009). Internal control and management guidance. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 48(2–3), 190–209. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2009.09.004
- Ferraris, A., Santoro, G., & Bresciani, S. (2017). Open innovation in multinational companies' subsidiaries: The role of internal and external knowledge. European Journal of International Management, 11(4), 452–468.
- Ferraris, A., Santoro, G., Bresciani, S., & Carayannis, E. G. (2018). HR practices for explorative and exploitative alliances in smart cities: Evidences from smart city managers' perspective. Management Decision, 56(6), 1183-1197.

Fink, Arlene (2003). The Survey Handbook. London: Sage Publications, 2003, pp. 10-11.

- Fiol, C. M., & O'Connor, E. J. (2003). Waking up! Mindfulness in the face of bandwagons. Academy of Management Review, 28(1), 54-70.
- Flatten, T. C., Engelen, A., Zahra, S. A., & Brettel, M. (2011). A measure of absorptive capacity: Scale development and validation. European Management Journal, 29(2), 98–116.
- Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. Journal of Marketing Research, 18(1), 39–50. doi:10.1177/002224378101800104
- Fletcher, G. and Griffiths, M. (2020). *Digital transformation during a lockdown*.
 International Journal of Information Management 55(5):102185. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102185
- Foster, S. P., & Dye, K. (2005). *Building continuity into strategy*. Journal of corporate real estate, 7(2), 105-119.
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C. & Nachmias, D. (1996). Research Methods in the Social Sciences. Fifth Edition. London: Arnold.
- Frazer, L. (2020). Does internal control improve the attestation function and by extension assurance services? A practical approach. Journal of Accounting and Finance, 20(1), 28–38.

G

 Gabryelczyk, Renata (2020). Has COVID-19 Accelerated Digital Transformation? Initial Lessons Learned for Public Administrations, Information Systems Management, 37:4, 303-309, DOI: 10.1080/10580530.2020.1820633

- Gamage, C. T., Lock, K. V., & Fernando, A. (2014). A proposed research framework: *Effectiveness of internal control system in state commercial banks in Sri Lanka*. International Journal of Scientific Research and Innovative Technology, 1(5), 25– 44.
- Gartner IT Glossary (2019). Business process management. Retrieved from http://www.gartner.com/it-glossary/business-process-management-bpm
- Gartner, C. (2013). *Enhancing readiness for change by enhancing mindfulness*. Journal of Change Management, 13(1), 52–68. doi:10.1080/14697017.2013.768433
- Gimun, K., Shin, B., and Grover, V. (2010). Investigating Two Contradictory Views of Formative Measurement in Information Systems Research. MIS Quarterly, 34, 345-365
- Goldman, S.L., Nagel, R.N., & Preiss, K. (1995). Agile competitors and virtual organizations, strategies for enriching the customer. Von Nostrand Reinhold. New York, NY.
- Government Sector. Resilience Guard GmbH, n.d.). Business continuity for government. Resilience Guard. Accessed 04/04/2024.

https://www.resilienceguard.ch/sectors/government-sector/

Grant, R. M. (1996). Toward a knowledge-based theory of the firm. Strategic Management Journal, Winter Special Issue 17: 109–122.

Grant Thornton. (2021). How internal controls can add business value. https://www.grantthornton.com/insights/articles/advisory/2021/how-internalcontrols-can-add-business-value

- Grigori, D., Casati, F., Castellanos, M., Dayal, U., Sayal, M., Shan, M. (2004). Business process intelligence, computers in industry. Volume 53, Issue 3, 2004, Pages 321-343, ISSN 0166-3615, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2003.10.007.
 (https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166361503001994)
- Grover, V., Jeong, S. R., and Kettinger, W. J. (1995). *The Implementation of Business Process Reengineering*. Journal of management Information Systems, 12, 109-144.
- Gualandris, J., & Kalchschmidt, M. (2013). Product and process modularity: Improving flexibility and reducing supplier failure risk. International Journal of Production Research, 51(19), 5757-5770.
- Gupta, P. P. (2009). COSO 1992 control framework and management reporting on internal control: Survey and analysis of implementation practices (June 10, 2009). Published as a Research Monograph by the Institute of Management Accountants in U.S.A., Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1417604

H

- Hagel, J., J. & Brown, S. (2005). The Only Sustainable Edge: Why Business Strategy Depends on Productive Friction and Dynamic Specialization. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, MA.
- Hair, J. F. J., Anderson, R. E., Tatham, R. L., & Black, W. C. (1998). *Multivariate data analysis with readings*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Hair, J. F., Money, A., Samouel, P., & Page, M. (2007). *Research methods for business*.West Sussex, England: John Wiley and Sons.

- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis (7th ed.)*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2011). PLS-SEM: Indeed a silver bullet. Journal of Marketing theory and Practice, 19(2), 139-152.
- Hair, J. F., Matthews, L. M., Matthews, R. L., & Sarstedt, M. (2017). *PLS-SEM or CB-SEM: updated guidelines on which method to use.* International Journal of Multivariate Data Analysis, 1(2), 107–123. doi:10.1504/IJMDA.2017.087624
- Hair, J. (2019). When to use and how to report the results of PLS-SEM. European Business Review. Vol. 31 No. 1, pp. 2-24.
- Hair, J. F., Risher, J. J., Sarstedt, M., & Ringle, C. M. (2019). When to use and how to report the results of PLS-SEM. European business review, 31(1), 2-24.
- Hair, J., & Alamer, A. (2022). Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) in second language and education research: Guidelines using an applied example. Research Methods in Applied Linguistics, 1(3), 100027.
- Hair, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2022). *A primer on partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM)*. (3rd ed.).Sage
- Hammer, M. (1996). Beyond Reengineering: How the Process-Centered Organization is Changing Our Lives. Harper Business, New York
- Hammer, M., & Champy, J. (2009). Reengineering the corporation: Manifesto for business revolution. A. Zondervan.
- Harmon, P. (2003). Business process change: A manager's guide to improving, redesigning and automating processes. Morgan Kaufmann. San Francisco

- Harmon, P. (2004). Evaluating an organization's business process maturity. Business Process Trends. March 2004, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 1-11. (online available on: http://www.caciasl.com/pdf/BPtrendLevelEval1to5.pdf)
- Harmon, P. (2007). Business Process Change: A Guide for Business Managers and BPM and Six Sigma Professionals. 2nd ed., Morgan Kaufmann Publishers, Burlington, MA.

Hammer, M. (2007). The process audit. Harvard Business Review, 4:111-123

- Harter, D. E., Krishnan, M. S., Slaughter, S. A. (2000). *Effects of process maturity on quality, cycle time, and effort in software product development*. Management Sci. 46(4) 451–466.
- Hartmann, H., Guthohrlein, E. W., Siebert, M., Luehr, S., and Soding, J. (2012). P valuebased regulatory motif discovery using positional weight matrices. Genome Res 23(1):181-94.
- Hausberg, J. P., Hulsdau, M., Moysidou, K., & Teuteberg, F. (2018). *Employees'* Adoption of Workplace Innovations (March 17, 2018). In: Eibl, M. & Gaedke, M. (Hrsg.), Informatik 2017. Gesellschaft fur Informatik, Bonn. (S. 1399-1411), Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3142843
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis. NY: The Guilford Press.
- Henseler, J., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2015). A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. J. of the Acad. Mark. Sci., 43(1), 115–135.

- Hertati, L., Safkaur, O., & Simanjuntak, M.A. (2020). How to align management commitments to the successful implementation of management accounting information systems in manager decision making. IJTC Ilomata International Journal of Tax and Accounting, 1(2), 89-102.
- Hertzog, M. A. (2008). *Considerations in determining sample size for pilot studies*. Research in nursing & health, 31(2), 180-191.
- Hill, R. (1998). What sample size is "enough" in internet survey research. Interpersonal Computing and Technology: An electronic journal for the 21st century, 6(3-4), 1-12.
- Hinkin, T. R. (1998). A brief tutorial on the development of measures for use in survey questionnaires. Organizational Research Methods, 1(1), 104–121.
- Hoek, R. I. V., & Weken, H. A. (1998). The impact of modular production on the dynamics of supply chains. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 9(2), 35-50.
- Huizing, A., Esther K., and Bouman, W. (1997). Balance in business reengineering: An empirical study of fit and performance. Journal of management Information Systems, 14, 93-118.
- Hulsheger, U. R., Alberts, H. J. E. M., Feinholdt, A., & Lang, J. W. B. (2013). Benefits of mindfulness at work: The role of mindfulness in emotion regulation, emotional exhaustion, and job satisfaction. Journal of Applied Psychology, 98(2), 310-325.

- IBM Global Business Services. 2006. Expanding the innovation horizon: The global CEO study 2006. www-07.ibm.com/sg/pdf/global_ceo_study.pdf Accessed January 2020.
- Ibrahim, S., Diibuzie, G., and Abubakari, M. (2017). The impact of internal control systems on financial performance: The case of health institutions in upper west region of Ghana. International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences. Vol. 7, No. 4 ISSN: 2222-6990. DOI: 10.6007/IJARBSS/v7i4/2840
- Ignatius J., Yeap Ai Leen, J., Ramayah, T., Kah Hin, C., & Jantan, M. (2012). The impact of technological learning on NPD outcomes: The moderating effect of project complexity. Technovation. Volume 32, Issues 7–8, 2012, Pages 452-463. ISSN 0166-4972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2012.03.003.
- Ismail, S. (2009). The sustainable competitive advantage: Elements of business strategy for surviving in the franchising industry. https://core.ac.uk/download/78277342.pdf

J

- Jansen, J., Van Den Bosch, F., & Volberda, H.W. (2005). Managing potential and realized absorptive capacity: How do organizational antecedents matter?. The Academy of Management Journal. 48. 10.5465/AMJ.2005.19573106.
- Javadian, V. (2020). A new theorization of internal integration (ii): The interplay between a process approach and product architecture. https://core.ac.uk/download/425500494.pdf

Johansson, H.J., McHugh, P., Pendlebury, A.J. and Wheeler W.A. III (1993). *Business process reengineering – Breakpoint strategies for market dominance*. Wiley, Chichester, 1993.

<u>K</u>

- Kaplan, R., & Norton, D. (1992). The balance scorecard: Measures that drives performance. Harvard Business Review, 70, 71-79.
- Kaplan, R.S. and Norton, D.P. (1993). Putting the balanced scorecard to work. Harvard Business Review, September-October, pp. 134-47.
- Kaplan, R.S. and Norton, D.P. (1996a). Using the balanced scorecard as a strategic management system. Harvard Business Review, Vol. 74 No. 1, pp. 75-85.
- Kaplan, R., & Norton, D. P. (1996b). The balance scorecard. translating strategy into action. Boston: Harvard Business, school press.
- Kaplan, S. E. (2008). The influence of auditor experience on the persuasiveness of information provided by management. Auditing: A journal of practice & theory, 27(1), 67–83.
- Kato, M., Charoenrat, T. (2018). Business continuity management of small and medium sized enterprises: Evidence from Thailand. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 27, 577-587.
- Kim, G., Shin, B., & Grover, V. (2010). Research note: Investigating two contradictory views of formative measurement in information systems research. MIS Quarterly, 345–365.

- King, E., & Haar, J. M. (2017). *Mindfulness and job performance: A study of Australian leaders*. Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources, 55(3), 298–319. https://doi.org/10.1111/1744-7941.12143
- Kogut, B., & Zander, U. (1992). *Knowledge of the firm, combinative capabilities, and the replication of technology*. Organization Science, 3(3), 383-397.
- Kotey, R., & Ashelby. (2002). *Management training and small firm performance: Why is the link so weak?*. International Small Business Journal, 14(4), 13–24.
- Koutoupis, A. G. & Pappa, E. (2018). Corporate governance and internal controls: A case study from Greece. Journal of Governance and Regulation, Volume 7, Issue 2, PP. 91-99. https://doi.org/10.22495/jgr_v7_i2_p8

Kurniawati, (2011). Internal Control Systems in Small and Medium Companies. Bina Nusantara University.

L

- Lakis, V., & Giriunas, L. (2012). *The concept of internal control system: Theoretical aspect*. Ekonomika, 91(2), 142–152. https://doi.org/10.15388/Ekon.2012.0.890
- Lane, P. J., Koka, B. R., & Pathak, S. (2006). The reification of absorptive capacity: A critical review and rejuvenation of the construct. Academy of management review, 31(4), 833-863.
- Langer, E. J. (1989). *Minding matters: The consequences of mindlessness mindfulness*.
 In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), Advances in experimental social psychology (pp. 137-173). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Langer, E. J., & Moldoveanu, M. (2000). *The construct of mindfulness*. Journal of Social Issues, 56(1), 1–9. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00148

- Langer, E. (2005). On becoming an artist: Reinventing yourself through mindful creativity. New York, NY: Ballantine.
- Langlois, R. N. (2002). *Modularity in technology and organization*. J. Econom. Behav. Organ. 49(1) 19–37.
- Langlois, R. N. (2006). *The secret life of mundane transaction costs*. Organ. Stud. 27(9) 1389–1410.
- Learned, E. P., Christensen, C. R., Andrews, K. R., & Guth, W. D. (1969). *Business policy: Text and cases*. Richard D. Irwin. Inc. Homewood, Illinois.
- Li, H., Wu, Y., Cao, D., & Wang, Y. (2019). Organizational mindfulness towards digital transformation as a prerequisite of information processing capability to achieve market agility. Journal of Business Research. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.10.036.
- Li-Yun, S., Samuel A., and Law, K. S. (2007). *High-performance human resource* practices, citizenship behavior, and organizational performance: A relational perspective. Academy of Management Journal, 50, 558-577.
- Liang, H., Saraf, N., Hu, Q., & Xue, Y. (2007). Assimilation of enterprise systems: The effect of institutional pressures and the mediating role of top management. MIS Quarterly, 31(1), 59–87. https://doi.org/10.2307/25148781
- Lichtenthaler, U. and Lichtenthaler, E. (2009). A capability-based framework for open innovation: Complementing absorptive capacity. Journal of Management Studies, 46: 1315-1338. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2009.00854.x
- Lin, C., Wu, Y-J., Chang, C., Wang, W., Lee, C-Y. (2012). *The alliance innovation performance of R&D alliances—the absorptive capacity perspective.*

Technovation. Volume 32, Issue 5, 2012, Pages 282-292. ISSN 0166-4972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2012.01.004.

- Lin, F.R., Yang, M.C. and Pai, Y.H. (2002). *A generic structure for business process modeling*. Business Process Management Journal, Vol. 8 No. 1, pp. 19-41.
- Lin, Y.F., Y.C. Liao and K.C. Chang, (2011). Firm performance, corporate governance and executive compensation in high-tech businesses. Total Quality Management and Business Excellence, 22(2): 159-172. doi:10.1080/14783363.2010.530786.
- Lu, Y., & Ramamurthy, K. (2011). Understanding the link between information technology capability and organizational agility: An empirical examination.
 Management Information Systems Quarterly, 35(4), 931-954.
- Luo, J., Fan, M., & Zhang, H. (2012). Information technology and organizational capabilities: A longitudinal study of the apparel industry. Decision Support Systems, 53(1), 186–194.

M

- Mahmood, M. A., & Soon, S. K. (1991). A comprehensive model for measuring the potential impact of information technology on organizational strategic variables.
 Decision Sciences, 22(4), 869–897.
- Mahmud, A., Ding, D., Hasan, M. M. (2021). Corporate social responsibility: Business responses to coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. SAGE Open 2021, 11, 1–17.
- Malhotra, A., Gosain, S., & El Sawy, O. A. (2005). Absorptive capacity configurations in supply chains: Gearing for partner-enabled market knowledge creation. MIS Quart. 29(1) 145–187.

- Marcolin, B.I., Compeau, D.R., Munro, M.C., and Huff, S.L., (2000). Assessing user competence: Conceptualization and measurement. Information Systems Research, 11, 1 (March 2000), 37–60
- Marr, B., Schiuma, G. (2003). Business performance measurement Past, present, and *future*. Management Decision, 2003, Vol. 41 Issue 8, p680-687
- Mason, C. H., & Perreault Jr, W. D. (1991). Collinearity, power, and interpretation of multiple regression analysis. Journal of marketing research, 28(3), 268-280.
- Mason, K. & Oshri, I. (2008). *Knowledge processes in globally distributed contexts*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- McCarthy, I., Collard, M., Johnson, M. (2017). Adaptive organizational resilience: an evolutionary perspective. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability.
 Volume 28: Pages 33-40. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2017.07.005.
- McKinsey & Company, Aghina, W., Handscomb, C., Salo, O., and Thanker, S. (2021). *The impact of agility: How to shape your organization to compete*. McKinsey & Company. https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/people-and-organizationalperformance/our-insights/the-impact-of-agility-how-to-shape-your-organizationto-compete#/
- McKinsey Digital, Dhasarathy, A., Gill, I., Khan, N., Sekar, S. and Van Kuiken, S., (2020). How to become 'tech forward': A technology-transformation approach that works. McKinsey Digital. https://www.mckinsey.com/businessfunctions/mckinsey-digital/our-insights/how-to-become-tech-forward-atechnology-transformation-approach-that-works#

- Mclaren, T. S., Head, M. M., Yufe, Y., & Chan, Y. E. (2011). A multilevel model for measuring fit between a firm's competitive strategies and information system capabilities. MIS Quarterly, 35(4), 909–929.
- McNulty, T., Ferlie, E. (2004). Process transformation: Limitations to radical organizational change within public service organizations. SAGE Publications (London, Thousand Oaks, CA & New Delhi), Organization Studies 25(8): 1389–1412 ISSN 0170–8406
- Melao, N. and Pidd, M. (2000). TI: A conceptual framework for understanding business processes and business process modeling. Information Systems Journal, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 105-29.
- Mid Sussex District Council (2019). Business Continuity Policy Statement. Retrieved from https://www.midsussex.gov.uk
- Mithas, S., Ramasubbu, N., & Sambamurthy, V. (2011). *How information management capability influences firm performance*. MIS Quarterly, 35(1), 237–256.
- Muduli, A. (2013). *Workforce agility: A review of literature*. Journal of Management and Research. https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1P3-3066983571/workforce-agility-a-review-of-literature
- Muraleetharan, P. (2010). Internal control and its impact on financial performance of organization. University of Jaffnan.
- Muraleetharan, P. (2013). Control activities and performance of organisations.
 International Journal of Marketing, Financial Services and Management Research, 2(4), 10-16.

Mwindi, D. (2005). Auditing focus, Kenya. Nairobi publishers Limited.

Mwindi, D. (2008). Auditing. Nairobi, Kenya. Focus Publishers.

Mawanda, S. P. (2008). Effects of internal control system on financial performance in Uganda's institution of higher learning. Dissertation for award of MBA in Uganda Martyrs University.

N

- Namiri, K. (2008). *Model-driven management of internal controls for business process compliance* (Doctoral dissertation, Karlsruhe, Univ., Diss., 2008).
- Neely, A. (2005). The evolution of performance measurement research: Developments in the last decade and a research agenda for the next. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, Vol. 25 No. 12, 2005. pp. 1264-1277 DOI 10.1108/01443570510633648
- Neely, A.D. and Lewis, M.A. (2005). What has 25 years of P/OM research taught us about productivity. Proceedings of the 12th European Operations Management Association Conference, Budapest.
- Neely, A.D., Gregory, M. & Platts, K. (1995). Performance measurement system design: A literature review and research agenda. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, Vol. 15 No. 4, pp. 80-116.
- Neely, A.D., Mills, J.F., Gregory, M.J., Richards, A.H., Platts, K.W. & Bourne, M.C.S. (1996). *Getting the Measure of your Business*. Findlay Publications, Horton Kirby.
- Neely, A., Mills, J., Platts, K., Richards, H., Gregory, M., Bourne, M., & Kennerley, M. (2000). *Performance measurement system design: Developing and testing a*

process-based approach. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 20(10):1119–1145

Neely, A.D., Kennerley, M. & Martinez, V. (2004). Does the balanced scorecard work: An empirical investigation. Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Performance Measurement, Edinburgh.

Newey, L. R., & Zahra, S. A. (2015). Absorptive capacity: The concept and its usefulness. Wiley Encyclopedia of Management. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118785317.weom120181

Nguyen, D. K., Broekhuizen, T., Dong, J. Q., & Verhoef, P. C. (2020). *When it takes three to tango in the digital transformation age: Synergies between digital orientation, change commitment and organizational agility.* Association for Information Systems, ICIS 2020 Proceedings. 3.

https://aisel.aisnet.org/icis2020/digital_innovation/digital_innovation/3

- Nilles, J. M. (1998). *Managing telework: Strategies for managing the virtual workforce*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Nilniyom, P., & Chanthinok, K. (2011). Accounting system innovation and stakeholder acceptance of Thai listed firms: Mediating internal control effectiveness. Review of Business Research, 11(4), 26-37.
- Nitzl, C., Roldan, J. L., & Cepeda, G. (2016). Mediation analysis in partial least squares path modeling: Helping researchers discuss more sophisticated models. Industrial management & data systems, 116(9), 1849-1864.
- Nonaka, I. (1994). *A dynamic theory of organizational knowledge creation*. Organization science, 5(1), 14-37.

Office of Financial Management (2015). *Internal controls*. Retrived from online on March 3, 2017 at www.ofm.wa.gov/policy/20.15.

0

- Oppenheim, A. N. (1992). *Questionnaire design, interviewing and attitude measurement*. London: Pinter Publishers, 1992, p. 47.
- Ostroff, F. (1999). The horizontal organization: What the organization of the future looks like and how it delivers value to customers. Oxford University Press, New York. ISBN: 0-19-512138-4

<u>P</u>

- Pall, G.A. (1987). *Quality process management*. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1987.
- Porter, M. E. (1980). Competitive strategy. New York: Free Press.
- Porter, M. E. (1981). *The contributions of industrial organizations to strategic management*. Academy of Management Review, 6: 609-620
- Porter, M. E. (1985). Competitive advantage: Creating and sustaining superior performance. New York: FreePress, 43, 214.
- Porter, M. E. (1990). *Why are firms successful*. Paper presented at the Fundamental issues in Strategy Conference, Napa, CA.
- Porter, M. E. (1996). *What is strategy?*. Harvard Business Review; Nov-Dec 74, (6) 61-77.
- Porter, M. E. & Heppelmann, J. E. (2014). *How smart, connected products are transforming competition*. Harvard business review, 92(11), 64-88.
- Powell, A., Piccoli, G., & Ives, B. (2004). Virtual teams: a review of current literature and directions for future research. Data Base for Advances in Information Systems, 35, 1 (Winter 2004), 6–36.
- Price, J.M., & Sun, W. (2017). Doing good and doing bad: The impact of corporate social responsibility and irresponsibility on firm performance. Journal of Business Research, 80, 82-97.
- PwC. (2019). Fine tuning your internal controls with COSO. PricewaterHouse Coopers LLC. chrome-

extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.pwc.com/ph/en/asset s/documents/2019/Fine%20tuning%20your%20internal%20controls%20with%20 COSO.pdf

Q

- Qi, L. 1988. Odd submodular functions, Dilworth functions and discrete convex functions. Mathematics of Operations Research. 13: 435-447.
- Quinn, J. B. (1999). Strategic outsourcing: Leveraging knowledge capabilities. Sloan Management Rev. 40(4) 9–22.
- Quinn, J. B. (2005). *The intelligent enterprise a new paradigm*. Acad. Management Executive 19(4) 109–121.

<u>R</u>

Reb, J., Narayanan, J., & Chaturvedi, S. (2014). Leading mindfully: Two studies on the influence of supervisor trait mindfulness on employee well-being and performance. Mindfulness, 5(1), 36-45.

- Reddy, V., & Dyaram, L. (2014). Dimensions of absorptive capacity across multiple generations in organizational context. International Conference on Management, Leadership & Governance, (), 379-387.
- Rialti, R., Zollo, L., Ferraris, A., & Alon, I. (2019). *Big data analytics capabilities and performance: Evidence from a moderated multi-mediation model*. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 149, 119781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2019.119781.

Rigdon, E. E. (2014). *Rethinking partial least squares path modeling: Breaking chains and forging ahead.* Long range planning, 47(3), 161-167.

- Romney, M. B., & Steinbart, P. J. (2009). Accounting Information Systems 13th. Pears on Education.
- Roscoe, J.T. (1975). *Fundamental Research Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences*. 2nd edition. New York: Holt Rinehart & Winston.
- Rosemann, M., de Bruin, T., Power B. (2006). "BPM Maturity", Jeston, J. and Nelis, J., business process management: Practical guidelines for successful Implementations. Elsevier, Oxford UK.
- Ross, J. W., Weill, P., & Robertson, D. (2006). Enterprise architecture as strategy: Creating a foundation for business execution. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, MA.

<u>S</u>

Sahabi, I., Diibuzie, G., & Abubakari, M. (2017). The impact of internal control systems on financial performance: The case of health institutions in Upper West Region of *Ghana.* International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 7(4), 684–696.

- Sanchez, R. and Mahoney, J. T. (1996). Modularity, flexibility, and knowledge management in product and organization design. Strategic Management Journal, 17(S2), 63-76.
- Santoro, G., Quaglia, R., Pellicelli, A. C., & De Bernardi, P. (2020). *The interplay* among entrepreneurs, employees, and firm level factors in explaining SMEs openness: A qualitative micro-foundational approach. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 151, 119820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2019.119820.
- Santoro, G., Vrontis, D., and Pastore, A. (2017). External knowledge sourcing and new product development: Evidence from the Italian food and beverage industry.
 British Food Journal, 119(11), 2373-2387.
- Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX, 2002). Control Activities of policies, procedures, and systems relating to the reliability of financial reporting. Section 404.
- Sarstedt, M., Ringle, C. M., Henseler, J., & Hair, J. F. (2014). On the emancipation of PLS-SEM: A commentary on Rigdon (2012). Long range planning, 47(3), 154-160.
- Sarstedt, M., Ringle, C. M., & Hair, J. F. (2017). Treating unobserved heterogeneity in PLS-SEM: A multi-method approach. Partial least squares path modeling: Basic concepts, methodological issues and applications, 197-217.
- Sawyer, L. B., Dittenhofer, M. A., & Scheiner, J. H. (2003). *Sawyer's internal auditing* (5th ed.). USA: The Institute of Internal Auditors.

SBA.GOV (2023). Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy. Frequently Asked Questions about Small Business 2023. March 2023. Pg 1.

https://advocacy.sba.gov/2023/03/07/frequently-asked-questions-about-smallbusiness-

2023/#:~:text=Small%20businesses%20employ%2061.7%20million,percent%20o f%20private%20sector%20payroll.

- SBA.GOV (2023). Small Business Administration. Frequently Asked Questions about Small Business 2023. March 2023. Pg 1-7. chromeextension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://advocacy.sba.gov/wpcontent/uploads/2023/03/Frequently-Asked-Questions-About-Small-Business-March-2023-508c.pdf
- Scherr, A.L. (1993). A new approach to business processes. IBM Systems Journal, Vol. 32 No. 1, 1993, pp. 80-98.
- Schilling, M., (2000). Towards a general modular systems theory and its application to inter-firm product modularity. Academy of Management Review. VOL. 25, No. 2, pp.312-334
- Schneier, C. E., Shaw, D. G., & Beatty, R. W. (1991). Performance measurement and management: A tool for strategy execution. Human Resource Management. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.3930300302

Scuotto, V., Del Giudice, M., Bresciani, S., & Meissner, D. (2017). Knowledge-driven preferences in informal inbound open innovation modes. An explorative view on small to medium enterprises. Journal of Knowledge Management, 21(3), 640– 655. Shahul Hameed, N. S., Salamzadeh, Y., Abdul Rahim, N. F., & Salamzadeh, A. (2022). *The impact of business process reengineering on organizational performance during the coronavirus pandemic: Moderating role of strategic thinking*.
Foresight, 24(5), 637-655.

Shahzad, M., Qu, Y., Zafar, A. U., Rehman, S. U., & Islam, T. (2020). Exploring the influence of knowledge management process on corporate sustainable performance through green innovation. Journal of Knowledge Management.
VOL. 24 NO. 9 2020, pp. 2079-2106, Emerald Publishing Limited, ISSN 1367-3270. DOI 10.1108/JKM-11-2019-0624

Shams, R., Vrontis, D., Belyaeva, Z., Ferraris, A., & Czinkota, M. R. (2020). Strategic agility in international business: A conceptual framework for "agile" multinational. Journal of International Management. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2020.100737.

- Shmueli, G. and Koppius, O. (2011). *Predictive analytics in information systems research*. MIS Quarterly, 35(3), 553-572.
- Shmueli, G., Ray, S., Estrada, J. M. V., & Chatla, S. B. (2016). The elephant in the room: Predictive performance of PLS models. Journal of Business Research, 69(10), 4552-4564.
- Shmueli, G., Sarstedt, M., Hair, J. F., Cheah, J. H., Ting, H., Vaithilingam, S., & Ringle,
 C. M. (2019). *Predictive model assessment in PLS-SEM: Guidelines for using PLSpredict*. European journal of marketing, 53(11), 2322-2347.
- Simon, H. A. (1962). The architecture of complexity. Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society, VOL. 106(6): 467-482.

- Sisson, P., & Ryan, J. (2016). An integrated organizational learning models perspective: Eight ways to learn. European Conference on Knowledge Management, (), 1143-1148.
- Slater, S. F., & Narver, J. C. (1995). Market orientation. Journal of Marketing, 59, 63-74.
- Smith, M., Sherwood, J. (1995). *Business Continuity Planning*. Computers & Security, 14, 14-23
- Sok, P., O'Cass, A., & Sok, K. M. (2013). Achieving superior SME performance: Overarching role of marketing, innovation, and learning capabilities.
 Australasian Marketing Journal (AMJ), 21(3), 161-167.
- Spanyi, A. (2008). *BPM Governance*. Available at BPM Institute: https://www. bpminstitute.org/articles/article/article/bpm-governance. html.
- Stalk, G., Evans, P. and Shulman, L.E. (1992). Competing on capabilities: The new rules of corporate strategy. Harvard Business Review, Vol. 70, March-April 1992, pp. 57-69. https://hbr.org/1992/03/competing-on-capabilities-the-new-rules-ofcorporate-strategy
- Starr, M. K. (1965). Modular production anew concept. Harvard Business Review, Vol. No. 6, pp. 131.

Sternberg, R. J. (2000). Images of Mindfulness. Journal of Social Issues, 56(1), 11-26.

- Stone M. (1977). An asymptotic equivalence of choice of model by cross-validation and Akaike's criterion. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B, 39(1), 44-47.
- Strategic Perspective to Business Process Redesign (2023). Emerald Insight. (n.d.). Retrieved July 10, 2023, from

https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/14637159510798202/full/h tml

Straub, D. W. (1989). Validating instruments in MIS research. MIS quarterly, 147-169.

Subramani, M. R., & Venkatraman, N. (2003). Safeguarding investments in asymmetric interorganizational relationships: Theory and evidence. Acad. Management J. 46(1) 46–62.

Sullivan, T. (2001). Scorecards ease businesses' balance act. Infoworld, 8 Jan., p. 32

- Sumukadas, N., Sawhney, R. (2004). *Workforce agility through employee involvement*. IIE Transactions, 36:10, 1011-1021, DOI: 10.1080/07408170490500997
- Swanson, E. B., & Ramiller, N. C. (2004). Innovating Mindfully with Information Technology. MIS Quarterly, 28(4), 553–583. https://doi.org/10.2307/25148655
- Szelągowski, M., Berniak-Woźny, J. (2019). The knowledge and process continuum. Knowledge and Process Management. 26(4), 308-320.

T

- Talbot-Zorn, E.F. (2016). *Mindfulness can improve strategy*. Available at: https://hbr.org/2016/05/mindfulness-can-improve-strategy-too
- Tallon, P.P. & Pinsonneault, A. (2011). Competing perspectives on the link between strategic information technology alignment and organizational agility: Insights from a mediation model. Mis Quarterly, Vol. 35, No. 2, pp. 463-486.
- Tanriverdi, H., Prabhudev K., and Ling G. (2007). *The choice of sourcing mechanisms for business processes*. Information Systems Research, 18, 280-299.
- Teece, D. J., Pisano, G., & Shuen, A. (1997). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. Strategic Management Journal, VOL. 18, No. (7), pp.509-533.

- Tetteh, L. A., Kwarteng, A., Aveh F. K., Dadzie, S. A., & Asante-Darko, D. (2022). The impact of internal control systems on corporate performance among listed firms in Ghana: The moderating role of information technology. Journal of African Business, 23:1, 104-125, DOI: 10.1080/15228916.2020.1826851
- Thatte, A. A. (2013). Supply chain responsiveness through modularity based manufacturing practices: An exploratory study. https://doi.org/10.19030/jabr.v29i3.7778
- Tinnilä, M. (1995). Strategic perspective to business process redesign. Business Process Re-engineering & Management Journal, 1(1), 44-59.

Tipalti. (2021). Enhancing accountability and transparency through internal controls.

- Townsend, A.M., DeMarie, S.M., and Hendrickson, A.R. (1998). Virtual teams: technology and the workplace of the future. Academy of Management Executive, 12, 3 (August 1998), 17–29.
- Tu, Q., Vonderembse, M.A., Ragu-Nathan, T.S., Ragu-Nathan, B., (2004). Measuring modularity-based manufacturing practices and their impact on mass customization capability: A customer-driven perspective. Decision Science, 35 (2), 147–168.
- Turi, J. A., Khwaja, M. G., Tariq, F., Hameed, A., (2023). *The role of big data analytics and organizational agility in improving organizational performance of business processing organizations*. Business Process Management Journal Vol. 29 No. 7, 2023, pp. 2081-2106. Emerald Publishing Limited, 1463-7154. DOI 10.1108/BPMJ-01-2023-0058

- Tseng, S. M. (2014). The impact of knowledge management capabilities and supplier relationship management on corporate performance. International Journal of Production Economics, 154, 39-47.
- Tseng, C. Y., Chang Pai, D., & Hung, C. H. (2011). Knowledge absorptive capacity and innovation performance in KIBS. Journal of Knowledge Management 15(6), 971-983.

U

- Ulrich, K. (1995). *The role of product architecture in the manufacturing firm*. Research Policy, **24**(3), 419-440.
- Ulrich, D. (2016). 6 things aspiring leaders must do to be mindful of themselves. Available at: www.linkedin.com/pulse/6-things-aspiring-leaders-must-domindful-themselves-dave-ulrich?trk=profpost (accessed 2 October 2016).
- United Nations E-Government Survey 2020. Digital Government in the Decade of
 Action for Sustainable Development (With addendum on COVID-19 Response).
 360 ISBN: 9789210051453 DOI: https://doi.org/10.18356/8bdf045f-en

U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat03.htm

V

- Van de Ven, A. H. (1993). Managing the process of organizational innovation. In G. P.
 Huber, & W. H. Glick (Eds.), Organizational change and redesign (pp. 269-294).
 New York: Oxford University Press.
- Van den Bosch, F., Volberda, H., & de Boer, M. (1999). Coevolution of firm absorptive capacity and knowledge environment: Organizational forms and combinative capabilities. Organization Science, VOL. 10, No. 5, pp.551-568

- Van der Aalst, W. M. P., ter Hofstede, A. H. M., & Weske, M. (2003). Business process management: A survey. Proceedings of International Conference on Business Process Management. Lecture Notes in Computer Sciences, Vol. 2678, Springer, Berlin, pp. 1-12.
- Van Looy, A. and Shafagatova, A. (2016). Business process performance measurement: A structured literature review of indicators, measures, and metrics. SpringerPlus 5(1), 1797: 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-3498-1. DOI: 10.1186/s40064-016-3498-1
- Van Oosterhout, M., Waarts, E., & Van Hillegersberg, J. (2006). Change factors requiring agility and implications for IT. European Journal of Information Systems, 15(2), 132-145.
- Vanderfeesten, I., Reijers, H. A., Mendling, J., Van der Aalst, W. M. P. & Cardoso, J. (2006). On a quest for good process models: The cross-connectivity metric.
 Proceedings of International Conference on Cooperative Information Systems (CoopIS). Lecture Notes in Computer Sciences, Vol. 4275, Springer, Berlin, pp. 183-200.
- Vanderfeesten, I., Reijers, H.A., & Van Der Aalst, W.M.P. (2008). Product-based workflow support: A recommendation service for dynamic workflow execution.
 Technical Report BPM-08-03, BPMcenter.org (2008)
- Vasovic, B., Vasovic, D., & Janackovic, G. (2022). Application Of Process Approach in the Field of Business Continuity Management. The 8th Conference with International Participation Knowledge Management and Informatics, Kopaonik, 10-12 January 2022

Volberda, H. W. (1996). *Toward the flexible form: How to remain vital in hypercompetitive environments*. Organization Science, 7(4), 359-374.

- Vom Brocke, J. (2010). *Handbook on business process management 2*. M. Rosemann (Ed.). Berlin: Springer.
- Vom Brocke, J., Sonnenberg, C., & Simons, A. (2009). Value-oriented information systems design: The concept of potentials modeling and its application to serviceoriented architectures. Business & Information Systems Engineering, 1, 223-233.
- Voorhees, C. M., Brady, M. K., Calantone, R., & Ramirez, E. (2016). *Discriminant validity testing in marketing: An analysis, causes for concern, and proposed remedies.* Journal of the academy of marketing science, 44, 119-134.

W

- Walsh, J., Seward, J. (1990). On the efficiency of internal and external corporate control mechanism. In: Academy of Management Review, Jahrgang 15. S. 421–458.
- Wamukota, M., Musiega, M., & Alala, B. (2022). *Effect of internal accounting monitoring and control activities on financial performance of saccos in Kenya*.
 European Journal of Economic and Financial Research.
 6.10.46827/ejefr.v6i4.1361. https://doi.org/10.46827/ejefr.v6i4.1361
- Wang, Z., Chen, L., Zhao, X., & Zhou, W. (2014). Modularity in building mass customization capability: The mediating effects of customization knowledge utilization and business process improvement. Technovation. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2014.09.002

- Wieder, B., Booth, P., Matolcsy, Z. P., & Ossimitz, M. L. (2006). The impact of ERP systems on firm and business process performance. Journal of Enterprise Information Management, 19(1), 13-29.
- Weisberg, H.F. & Bowen, B.D. (1977). An Introduction to Survey Research and Data Analysis. San Francisco : W. H. Freeman.
- Whittington, O. R., & Pany, K. (2001). *Principles of auditing and other assurance services*. Irwin New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Whittington, O. R., & Pany, K. (2009). Principles of Auditing and Other Assurance Services. Mcgraw-Hill, 17th Ed. ISBN: 978-0-07-337965-4.
- Widarti, Desfitrina, Zulfadhli (2020). Business process life cycle affects company financial performance: micro, small, and medium business enterprises during the Covid-19 period. International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues, 2020, 10(5), 211-219. ISSN: 2146-4138
- Willaert P., Willems J., Deschoolmeester D., & Viaene S. (2006). Process Performance Measurement: Identifying KPI's that link process performance to company strategy. Paper presented at the International Resources Management Association (IRMA) Conference 2006 held in Washington D.C., May 21-24
- Willaert, P., Bergh, J., Willems, J., & Deschoolmeester, D. (2007). The process-oriented organization: A holistic view developing a framework for business process orientation maturity. 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-75183-0_1
- Wright, P., McMahan, G. C., & McWilliams, A. (1994). *Human resources and sustained competitive advantage: A resource-based perspective*. Article in The International

Journal of Human Resource Management, May 1994. DOI:

10.1080/0958519940000020

- Wright, P., McMahan, G., & McWilliams, A. (1994). *Human resources as a source of sustained competitive advantage*. International Journal of Human Resource Management, 5, 299–324.
- Wright, R. W. (1994). The effects of tacitness and tangibility on the diffusion of knowledge-based resources. Academy of Management Best Papers Proceedings, pp. 52-56.

<u>X</u>

Xie, X., Zou, H., & Qi, G. (2018). Knowledge absorptive capacity and innovation performance in high-tech companies: A multi-mediating analysis. Journal of Business Research, 88, 289–297.

Y

Z

- Zahra, S. A., & George, G. (2002). *Absorptive capacity: A review, reconceptualization, and extension.* Academy of Management Review, 27(2), 185-203.
- Wang, Z., Chen, L., Zhao, X., & Zhou, W. (2014). Modularity in building mass customization capability: The mediating effects of customization knowledge utilization and business process improvement. Technovation, 34(11), 678-687.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: Construct Dictionary

CONSTRUCTS

REFERENCES

| Business Process Modularity (MOD) - the extent to which the production process is separated into standardized modules that can be easily re-sequenced into new processes that fulfill the requirements of producing new product features (Feitzinger and Lee, 1997). | (Feitzinger and Lee, 1997) |
|--|--|
| Business Process Performance (BPP) - Operational efficiency of inter- and intra- organizational processes which can measure the financial and non-financial flexibility, reliability, responsiveness and costs/assets of organizational and operational capabilities Kim, Gimun, Bongski Shin, and Varun Grover (2010); (Bernhard, Peter, Zoltan, & Maria-Luise (2006). | Kim, Gimun, Bongski Shin, and Varun Grover (2010); (Bernhard, Peter, Zoltan, & Maria-Luise (2006) |
| Knowledge Absorptive Capacity (KAC) - the ability of a firm to recognize the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply the knowledge for commercial ends Cohen and Levinthal (1989). | Cohen and Levinthal (1989) |
| Organizational Agility (OA) - An agile competitive environment is where the capability of a business to develop and utilize its knowledge base to gain a competitive advantage in a complex and volatile digital market according to Van Oosterhout et. al., 2006, which includes flexibility, learning, and responding efficiently and quickly to changes in the environment (Campanelli & Parreiras, 2015) wherein the people skills, knowledge and experience are the main differentiators between the companies (Goldman et. al., 1995). | Van Oosterhout, Waarts, & Van Hillegersberg, 2006); (Campanelli & Parreiras, 2015); (Goldman et al.,1995) |
| The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO 1992) Internal | <i>The Committee of Sponsoring</i> <i>Organizations of the Treadway</i> <i>Commission (COSO 1992 & 2013)</i> |

| Control (IC) – internal controls is a process, effected by an entity's board of directors, management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the following three categories: Effectiveness and efficiency of operations; Reliability of financial reporting; and Compliance with applicable laws and regulations. | |
|--|---------------------------------|
| Top Management Mindfulness (TMM) – According to Sternberg (2000), leadership being open to innovation and vigilant but at the same time thoughtful and alert to his/her surroundings and evaluating all the factors of how they will maintain business continuity (Langer (1989). | Sternberg (2000); Langer (1989) |

APPENDIX B: Survey Instrument

Qualifying Questions

1 Do you presently work in any of the following functional areas or departments?

- C-Suite
- Human Resources
- o Finance
- Information Technology
- o Procurement
- o Sales and Marketing
- o Legal
- None of these

2 Have you worked in that function or department for 1 year?

- o Yes
- o No

3 Select the business process phases for which you are a part?

- □ Define (goal / purpose of process / why created)
- □ Strategize (plan your process and strategies (human-, document, or integrationcentric) needed to achieve goals; assign stakeholders; set actions)
- Design (iteratively analyze and map your process; rules; policies; laws; governance; localizations; etc.)
- □ Configuration (iteratively model or build a proof of concept/prototype of process workflows and activities with stakeholders assigned in the process)
- □ Testing (iteratively test the process design and configuration proof of concept providing feedback until acceptable)
- □ Implementation/deployment (process is made live for larger organization)
- Process Management (support, monitoring results, troubleshooting, and optimizing process)
- \Box None of the phases

4 Is your company in one of the US 50 states?

- o Yes
- o No

5 Has your company been in existence for three years?

- o Yes
- o No

Demographics

Demographic Questions

Demo1 - Which employee level below is closest to your existing organizational role?

- Executive (C-level roles, president, and executive vice president)
- Senior management (Senior vice president and vice president)
- Middle Manager (Associate vice president, senior director and director)
- Manager (Senior manager and manager)
- Individual contributor (Specialist, analyst, generalist, partner, administrator, engineer, developer, architect, consultant, etc.)
- None of the above

Demo2 - Write your Job Title below. (i.e. HR Director, IT Manager, Chief Legal Officer, Purchasing clerk, Consultant, HRIS specialist, etc.)

Demo3 - What is your age group?

- o 18 21
- o 22 25
- o 26 29
- o 30 35
- o 36 39
- o 40 45
- o 46 49
- o 50 55
- o 56 59
- o 60 or Above

Demo4 - Gender Identity

- o Male
- o Female
- o Other

Demo5 - What is the highest degree you have completed?

- High School Diploma
- o Specialty / Technical Certificate
- Associate Degree
- Bachelor Degree

- Masters Degree
- Doctoral Degree

Demo6 - Employee Type

- o Full Time
- o Part Time
- o Contractor

Demo7 - Select the number of employees at your company

- o Under 500 (Small)
- o 501-1,000 (Small)
- o 1,001-2,500 (Medium)
- 2,501-5,000 (Medium)
- o 5,001-7,500 (Medium)
- 7,501-10,000 (Large)
- o 10,001-15,000 (Large)
- o 15,001-20,000 (Large)
- o 20,001–30,000 (Large)
- o 30,001-40,000 (Large)
- o 40,001-50,000 (Large)
- o 50,001–100,000 (Large)
- o 100,001-150,000 (Large)
- o 150,001-200,000 (Large)
- More than 200,000 (Large)

Demo8 - What is the current status of your company?

- Publicly traded company
- Non-publicly traded company
- Foreign Private Issuer
- Not-for-profit organization
- Governmental organization
- o Other

Demo9 - What industry classification does your company belong? Select Industry

| AGRICULTURE, | Petroleum Refining and Related | Security And |
|-------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------|
| FORESTRY, AND | Industries ~ | Commodity Brokers, |
| FISHING | Primary Metal Industries ~ | Dealers, Exchanges, |
| Agricultural Production | Printing, Publishing, And Allied | And Services ~ |
| Crops ~ | Industries ~ | SERVICES |
| | | |

Agriculture Production Livestock and Animal Specialties ~ Agricultural Services ~ Forestry ~ Fishing, Hunting, And Trapping ~ MINING Metal Mining ~ Coal Mining ~ Oil And Gas Extraction ~ Mining And Quarrying of Nonmetallic Minerals, Except Fuels ~ CONSTRUCTION **Building Construction** General Contractors and Operative Builders ~ Heavy Construction Other Than Building Construction Contractors ~ **Construction Special Trade** Contractors ~ MANUFACTURING Apparel And Other Finished Products Made from Fabrics and Similar Materials ~ Chemicals And Allied Products ~ Electronic And Other Electrical Equipment and Components, Except **Computer Equipment** Fabricated Metal Products, Except Machinery and Transportation Equipment ~ Food And Kindred Products Furniture And Fixtures ~ Industrial And Commercial Machinery and Computer Equipment ~ Leather And Leather Products Lumber And Wood Products, Except Furniture ~ Measuring, Analyzing, And Controlling Instruments; Photographic, Medical and

Rubber And Miscellaneous Plastics Products ~ Stone, Clay, Glass, And Concrete Products ~ Textile Mill Products ~ Tobacco Products ~ Transportation Equipment ~ TRANSPORTATION, COMMUNICATIONS, ELECTRIC, GAS, AND SANITARY SERVICES Communications ~ Electric, Gas, And Sanitary Services ~ Local And Suburban Transit and Interurban Highway Passenger Transportation ~ Motor Freight Transportation and Warehousing ~ Pipelines, Except Natural Gas ~ Railroad Transportation ~ Transportation Services ~ United States Postal Service ~ Water Transportation ~ WHOLESALE TRADE Miscellaneous Retail ~ Wholesale Trade-durable Goods Wholesale Trade-non-durable Goods ~ **RETAIL TRADE** Apparel And Accessory Stores ~ Automotive Dealers and Gasoline Service Stations ~ Building Materials, Hardware, Garden Supply, And Mobile Home Dealers ~ Eating And Drinking Places ~ Food Stores ~ General Merchandise Stores ~ Home Furniture, Furnishings, And Equipment Stores ~

Amusement And Recreation Services ~ Automotive Repair, Services, And Parking ~ Business Services ~ Educational Services ~ Engineering, Accounting, Research, Management, And Related Services ~ Health Services ~ Hotels, Rooming Houses, Camps, And Other Lodging Places ~ Legal Services ~ Membership Organizations ~ Miscellaneous Repair Services ~ Miscellaneous Services

Motion Pictures ~ Museums, Art Galleries, And Botanical and Zoological Gardens ~ Personal Services ~ Private Households ~ Social Services ~ PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION Non-classifiable Establishments ~

Establishments ~ Administration Of Economic Programs ~ Administration Of Environmental Quality and Housing Programs

Administration Of Human Resource Programs ~ Executive, Legislative, And General Government, Except Finance ~ Justice, Public Order, And Safety ~ National Security and International Affairs

Finance, Insurance, And Real

Holding And Other Investment

Insurance Agents, Brokers, And

Depository Institutions ~

Estate

Offices ~

Service ~

| Optical Goods; Watches and | Insurance Carriers ~ |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------|
| Clocks ~ | Non-depository Credit |
| Miscellaneous Manufacturing | Institutions ~ |
| Industries ~ | Real Estate ~ |
| Paper And Allied Products ~ | |

Public Finance, Taxation, And Monetary Policy

Demo10 - What is the annual revenue of your company for the most recent fiscal year-

end?

- Under \$500,000
- \$500,000 \$1 million
- More than \$1 million but less than \$10 million
- More than \$10 million but less than \$100 million
- \circ More than \$100 million but less than \$500 million
- More than \$500 million but less than \$1 billion
- More than \$1 billion but less than \$5 billion
- More than \$5 billion but less than \$10 billion
- More than \$10 billion
- o Not sure

Demo11 - Demographic: Fundamental (ICFC)

LIKERT SCALE: Strongly Agree / Agree / Somewhat Agree / Neither Agree nor Disagree / Somewhat Disagree / Disagree / Strongly Disagree

For this section, look back over each of the internal control categories.

| (Parveen P. Gupta, LLB, PH.D., 2009) | <i>Internal Controls:</i> <i>Five Components</i> | ICFC1 | Prior to covid, our department formally utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage enterprise risk and controls |
|--|---|-------|--|
| (Parveen P. Gupta, LLB, PH.D., 2009) | <i>Internal Controls:</i> <i>Five Components</i> | ICFC2 | Prior to covid, our department formally utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage business processes activities |
| (Parveen P. Gupta, LLB, PH.D., 2009) | <i>Internal Controls:</i> <i>Five Components</i> | ICFC3 | Prior to covid, our department formally utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage Information and communication |

CONSTRUCT ABREV. ITEMS

| (Parveen P. Gupta, LLB, PH.D., 2009) | <i>Internal Controls:</i> <i>Five Components</i> | ICFC4 | Prior to covid, our department formally utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage control environment |
|--|---|-------|---|
| (Parveen P. Gupta, LLB, PH.D., 2009) | <i>Internal Controls:</i> <i>Five Components</i> | ICFC5 | Prior to covid, our department formally utilized a framework (provided by government, professional services, IT/IS, etc.) to effectively manage IT governance and general controls |

Instrument Items

Likert scale: Strongly Agree / Strongly Disagree

- Strongly Agree
- Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Business Process Performance

For this section the term "**business process performance**" specifically refers to operational efficiency of inter- and intraorganizational processes.

| | CONSTRUCT | ABREV. | ITEMS |
|------------------------|---------------------------------|--------|--|
| (Aydiner et al., 2019) | Business Process Performance | BPER2 | Our products and/or services are differentiated from those of our competitors. |
| (Aydiner et al., 2019) | Business Process Performance | BPER3 | Our customers' requests have been adequately responded. |
| (Aydiner et al., 2019) | Business Process Performance | BPER5 | <i>The percentage of utilization of tools and equipment has been improved.</i> |
| (Aydiner et al., 2019) | Business Process Performance | BPER6 | Market trends have been identified more quickly. |
| (Aydiner et al., 2019) | Business Process Performance | BPER9 | Our company establishes close relationships with the customers. |

| (Aydiner et al., 2019) | Business Process Performance | BPER10 | Our company maintains close relationships with the suppliers. |
|--|---------------------------------|--------|---|
| Mahmood and Soon (1991); Elbashir et al. (2008), Bayraktar et al. (2009), Mclaren et al. (2011), Mithas et al. (2011), Luo et al. (2012); (Aydiner et al., 2019) | Business Process Performance | BPER1 | Our meetings and discussions have been held efficiently and effectively. |
| | Business Process Performance | BPER4 | The productivity of labor has been improved. |
| | Business Process Performance | BPER7 | Our firm is successful in gaining economies of scale. |
| | Business Process Performance | BPER8 | Our company has rapid and effective internal and external coordination for its regional, national, and global activities. |

Business Process Modularity

For this section the term "**modularity**" specifically refers to the practice of standardizing business sub-processes so that they can be re-sequenced easily or new modules can be added quickly in response to changing requirements.

| | CONSTRUCT | ABREV. | ITEMS |
|---|------------|--------|---|
| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD1 | Changing this business process does not affect our other processes. |
| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD2 | It is very easy to detach this business process from our other processes. |
| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD3 | It is very easy to combine or recombine this business process with other processes. |

| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD4 | We can easily assess the performance of this business process independent of the performance of our other processes. |
|---|------------|-------|--|
| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD5 | A business process has very well-defined interfaces with our other processes. |
| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD6 | <i>The technologies, rules, and procedures of this business process are stable.</i> |
| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD7 | There are many exceptions regarding the rules and procedures of this business process. |
| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD8 | <i>Employees find no ambiguity in executing this business process.</i> |
| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD9 | There is seldom any change to this business process. |
| Tanriverdi, Huseyin, Prabhudev Konana, and Ling Ge (2007) | Modularity | MOD10 | Our managers are frequently involved in resolving process-related issues. |

Knowledge Absorptive Capacity

For this section the term **"knowledge absorptive capacity**" specifically refers to the ability of a firm to recognize the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply it to commercial ends.

| | CONSTRUCT | ABREV. | ITEMS |
|--|----------------------------------|--------|--|
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC1 | The search for relevant information occurs daily in my company. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC2 | There is a quick information flow in my company. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC3 | New ideas and concepts are created via cross- departmental communication in my company. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC4 | The employees of my company have the ability to structure and use collected knowledge. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC5 | The employees of my company can link existing knowledge with new insights. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC6 | The employees of my company are able to transform new knowledge into productivity |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC7 | My company motivates the employees to use information sources within my industry. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC8 | My company expects employees to be related to information beyond my industry. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC9 | My company emphasizes cross-departmental support to solve problems. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC10 | My company exchanges ideas through periodic meetings. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC11 | My company supports the development of prototypes. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC12 | My company regularly adapts technologies in accordance with new knowledge. |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Knowledge Absorptive Capacity | KAC13 | My company has the ability to work more effectively by adopting new technologies. |

Organizational Agility

For this section the term "**organizational agility**" (OA) specifically refers to the capability of a business to develop and utilize its knowledge base to gain a competitive advantage in a complex and volatile digital market including flexibility, learning, and responding efficiently and quickly to changes in the environment.

Agile organizations must strive to create an equilibrium between the apparently conflicting processes of stability and flexibility to survive and grow in response to the technological changes and environmental uncertainty because flexibility without stability can result in chaos.

| | CONSTRUCT | ABREV. | ITEMS |
|--|---------------------------|--------|--|
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Bizzato at al. 2020) | Organizational | OA1 | We have the ability to respond rapidly to customers' needs |
| (Rhatti Santoro Khan and | Aguity Organizational | | We have the ability to adapt our production/service provision |
| Rizzato et al., 2020) | Agility | OA2 | rapidly to demand fluctuations |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and | Organizational | OA3 | We have the ability to cope rapidly with problems from suppliers |
| Rizzato et al., 2020) | Agility | _ | |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and | Organizational | OA4 | We rapidly implement decisions to face market changes |
| Rizzato et al., 2020) | Agility | 0111 | We ruptury imprement decisions to face market enanges |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and | Organizational | OA5 | We continuously search for forms to reinvent or redesign our |
| Rizzato et al., 2020) | Agility | 0110 | organization |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Organizational Agility | 0A6 | We see market changes as opportunities for rapid capitalization |

Top Management Mindfulness

For this section the term "**top management mindfulness**" specifically refers to a person who is open to innovation and vigilant but at the same time thoughtful and alert to his/her surroundings.

| | CONSTRUCT | ABREV. | ITEMS |
|--|-------------------------------|--------|--|
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and | Top Management | TMM1 | Top management accurately anticipates digital |
| Rizzato et al., 2020) | Mindfulness | | transformation that is relevant to our organization |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Top Management Mindfulness | TMM2 | Top management informs our organization's management team about the value of different digital technology options before any strategic digital transformation change decision is made |
| (Bhatti, Santoro, Khan, and Rizzato et al., 2020) | Top Management Mindfulness | ТММЗ | Top management makes sure that the firm's strategic plan identifies value from digital transformation |

Internal Controls

Control Environment (ICCE)

For this section, as stated by COSO (1992) an operative "control environment" is an environment where qualified people understand their roles and obligations, limits to their authority and are knowledgeable, mindful, and committed to doing what is right and doing it the right way. They are committed to following an organization's policies and procedures and its ethical and behavioral standards. They further noted that control environment has an impact on the extent to which individuals recognize what they will be held answerable (Whittington & Pany 2009).

| | CONSTRUCT | ABREV. | ITEMS |
|------------------------|---------------------|--------|---|
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, | Internal Controls: | ICCEP1 | The Board of Directors demonstrates independence from |
| Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Control Environment | | management and exercises oversight of the development |
| | Perceptions | | and performance of internal control. |

| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Control Environment Perceptions | ICCEP2 | Management establishes, with board oversight, structures, reporting lines, and appropriate authorities and responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives |
|--|--|--------|--|
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, | Internal Controls: | ICCEP3 | The separation of duties and responsibilities of workers is |
| Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Control Environment Perceptions | | clear. |
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Control Environment Perceptions | ICCEP4 | A job description at all levels has been done. |
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Control Environment Perceptions | ICCEP5 | <i>The organization demonstrates a commitment to integrity and ethical values.</i> |

Risk Assessment (ICRA)

For this section, as stated by COSO (1992) "risk assessment" is the identification and analysis of relevant risks to achievement of the objectives, forming a basis for determining how the risks should be managed. Mechanisms should be placed to identify and deal with risk since economic, industry, regulatory and operating conditions will continue to change. In other words, risk assessment is the process of identifying and analyzing risks to achieving a company's goals, analyzing events that may occur, considering the possibility of it happening and the impact on achieving its objectives, and deciding how to react to the risks (Office of Financial Management, 2015). Managers set goals and objectives at levels that align with the company's mission and vision. (Office of Financial Management, 2015).

| | CONSTRUCT | ABREV. | ITEMS |
|------------------------|--------------------|--------|--|
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, | Internal Controls: | ICRA1 | The organization specifies objectives with sufficient |
| Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Risk Assessment | | clarity to enable the identification and assessment of risks |
| | | | relating to objectives. |

| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Risk Assessment | ICRA2 | The organization identifies risks to the achievement of its objectives across the entity and analyzes risks as a basis for determining how the risks should be managed. |
|--|---------------------------------------|-------|---|
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Risk Assessment | ICRA3 | The organization considers the potential for fraud in assessing risks to the achievement of objectives. |
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Risk Assessment | ICRA4 | The organization identifies and assesses changes that could significantly impact the system of internal control. |

Control Activities (ICCA)

For this section, "Control Activities" are policies and procedures established and executed to ensure that actions identified by management are necessary to mitigate risks. Control activities are the policies and procedures that help ensure that the management directives are carried properly and in a timely manner. Necessary actions are taken to manage, reduce and to address risks towards the achievement of the entity's objectives (COSO, 1992). Additionally, control activities are performed at all levels of the entity, at various stages within business processes, and over the technology environment" (Romney & Steinbart, 2009).

| | CONSTRUCT | | 11 EWIG |
|------------------------|--------------------|-------|---|
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, | Internal Controls: | ICCA1 | The organization selects and develops control activities |
| Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Control Activities | | that contribute to the mitigation of risks to the |
| | | | achievement of objectives to acceptable levels. |
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, | Internal Controls: | ICCA2 | The organization selects and develops general activities |
| Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Control Activities | | over technology to support the achievement of objectives. |
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, | Internal Controls: | ICCA3 | The organization develops control activities through |
| Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Control Activities | | policies that establish what is expected and procedures |
| | | | that put policies in action. |

CONSTRUCT ABREV. ITEMS

Information and Communication (ICIC)

For this section, the "Information and Communication" component are systems or processes that identify, capture, and exchange information in a form that enables people to carry out their responsibilities and roles. Information can be identified, captured, and exchanged within the company and with external parties. Information communicated should be timely, accurate and reliable (COSO, 1992).

| | CONSTRUCT | ABREV. | ITEMS |
|--|---|--------|--|
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Information and Communication | ICIC1 | The organization obtains or generates and uses relevant, qualified information to support the functioning of internal control. |
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | <i>Internal Controls:</i> <i>Information and</i> <i>Communication</i> | ICIC2 | The organization internally communicates information, including objectives and responsibilities for internal control, necessary to support the functioning of internal control. |
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Information and Communication | ICIC3 | The organization communicates with external parties regarding matters affecting the functioning of internal control. |

Monitoring (ICM)

For this section, as stated by COSO (1992) "monitoring" of controls is one of the components of internal control that assess the quality of internal control performance over time. It is necessary to monitor internal control to know whether it is functioning as expected and whether changes are needed. Monitoring can be achieved by ongoing activities such as supervising regularly (Whittington & Pany, 2009).

CONSTRUCT ABREV. ITEMS

| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Monitoring | ICM1 | The organization selects, develops, and performs ongoing and/or separate evaluations to ascertain whether the components of internal control are present and functioning. |
|--|----------------------------------|------|--|
| (Andreas G. Koutoupis, Evangelia Pappa, 2018) | Internal Controls: Monitoring | ICM2 | The organization evaluates and communicates internal control deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible for taking corrective action, including senior management and the Board of Directors, as appropriate. |

VITA

HOPE EUGINIA GREENE

Charleston, South Carolina

| 2001-2005 | Human Resource Manager/Treasurer Miami-Dade County Public Schools Miami, Florida |
|--------------|--|
| 2005-2011 | Human Resource Manager Broward County Public Schools Fort Lauderdale, Florida |
| 2007-2010 | B.Sc. Education Florida International University Miami, Florida |
| 2010-2011 | M.S. Human Resource Management Florida International University Miami, Florida |
| 2013-2016 | Advisory Senior Consultant PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisory Services LLP Miami, Florida |
| 2016-2017 | Senior Engineer Deloitte Consulting Orlando, Florida |
| 2016-Present | Owner & HR Technology Consultant Blak Infiniti Group LLC Davie, Florida |
| 2020-2021 | HRIS Manager Marriott Vacations Worldwide Orlando, Florida |
| 2021-2023 | HR Technology Practice Director Oxford Global Resources Boston, Massachusetts |
| 2023-Present | HR Technology Leader Western Union HQ Denver, Colorado |

2020-2024

D.B.A. Business Administration Florida International University Miami, Florida